# SUPPORTED HETEROGENEOUS CATALYSTS IN SYNTHETIC AND MECHANISTIC STUDIES OF CERTAIN HETEROCYCLIC REACTIONS

by

# SURYA NARAYANA MADDILA



Submitted in fulfillment of the academic requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Department of Chemistry, School of Chemistry & Physics College of Agriculture, Engineering and Science University of KwaZulu-Natal Durban

# April 2017

As the candidate's supervisor, I have approved this thesis for submission

Supervisor: Prof. S.B.Jonnalagadda Signed\_\_\_\_\_ Date:\_\_\_\_\_

Co-Supervisor: Prof. Werner van Zyl Signed\_\_\_\_\_ Date:\_\_\_\_\_

# ABSTRACT

Heterogeneous mixed metal oxides as catalysts have received greater attention in many valued organic transformations. Such systems were successfully employed for the improvement of heterocyclic synthetic procedures and to design the green chemistry protocols. Heterogeneous catalytic processes based on metal oxide catalysts are simpler, highly efficient and eco-friendly with greater selectivity. Heterogeneous catalysts possess a number of good characteristics, such as thermal stability, shape selectivity, acidic or basic nature, non-toxic crystalline solid. In addition, easy handling and reusability of materials facilitate the introduction of such systems in the organic conversions.

The synthesis of heterocyclic products through multicomponent reactions (MCRs) has gained significance the past decade. MCR is a viable synthetic methodology and relies on a process, where many bonds are formed and broken in a single one-pot reaction. MCRs are eloquent and eco-compatible and considered as a key aspects of green chemistry. Hence, considering current legislations and industry needs, heterogeneous catalysis is an ideal option for one-pot multicomponent synthetic reactions. Heterocyclic systems are ubiquitous in nature and form an integral part of the chemical research. It has the propensity for applications in the design of physiological and pharmacologically active substrates. The study of heterocyclic chemistry is a large field of research within the organic chemistry, due to their proven significance in biological, pharmaceutical, biochemical and material science. Many natural antibiotics, nucleic acids, dyes, pesticides, pigments, vitamins, plastics, etc. have heterocyclic rings in their structures.

New materials using different metals and oxide supports were developed to be used as recyclable heterogensous catalysts. The scope of the new materials as catalysts was investigated to design multicomponent synthetic protocols for organic systemes, based on green principles. New protocols using the mixed oxide catalysts were explored to synthesise novel heterocyclic moieties and reaction conditions were optimised. The details of the catalysts developed and series of heterocyclic compounds synthesized are as described below:

- 1. An efficient and facile green method for synthesis of 3-methyl-4-(phenyl) methyleneisoxazole-5(4H)-one (**4a-m**) *via* room temperature reaction of hydroxylamine, ethylacetoacetate and substituted aromatic aldehydes is designed, using Ag/SiO<sub>2</sub> as catalyst with water as solvent.
- 2. A simple and an efficient method has been established for the one-pot multicomponent synthesis of pyrano[2,3-*d*]-pyrimidine derivatives from the condensation of dimethylbarbituric acid, aromatic aldehyde and malononitrile in the presence of  $Mn/ZrO_2$  heterogeneous catalyst with ethanol/water mixture as solvent with short reaction time (1 h).
- 3. An efficient green protocol for the synthesis of the 2-amino-3-cyano-4H-pyran derivatives employing a multicomponent one-pot condensation reaction of 5,5-dimethylcyclohexane-1,3-dione, aromatic aldehyde and malononitrile was designed using a Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> heterogeneous catalyst in the of the eco-compatible solvent (ethanol).
- 4. An efficient, green and facile protocol for synthesis of pyranopyrazole derivatives through the reaction of aromatic aldehydes, malononitrile, hydrazine hydrate and ethyl acetoacetate is developed using Ru loaded hydroxyapatite (Ru-CaHAp) as catalyst.
- 5. An efficient, atom-economical, four-component one-pot reaction method was developed for pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylates using dimethylacetylenedicarboxylate, hydrazine hydrate, malononitrile and aromatic aldehydes, using a RuCaHAp catalyst.
- 6. The ceria doped zirconia (CeO<sub>2</sub>/ZrO<sub>2</sub>) catalysed synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]-pyrazoles via the four-component reaction of malononitrile, hydrazine hydrate, ethyl acetoacetate and substituted aldehydes is described.

While all the synthesized catalysts were fully characterized by PXRD, TEM, SEM and BET surface area analysis, the chemical structures of the synthesized organic compounds were identified and confirmed by <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>15</sup>N NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR, FT-IR and HR-MS spectral data. The significant advantages offered by the newly developed methods are ecofriendly simple procedures, mild conditions, short reaction times, recyclable catalyst and good to excellent yields of products.

# **DECLARATION 1 - PLAGIARISM**

### I, Surya N Maddila, declare that

- 1. The research reported in this thesis, except where otherwise indicated is my original research.
- 2. This thesis has not been submitted for any degree or examination at any other university.
- 3. This thesis does not contain other persons' data, pictures, graphs or other information, unless specifically acknowledged as being sourced from other persons.
- 4. This thesis does not contain other persons' writing, unless specifically acknowledged as being sourced from other researchers. Where other written sources have been quoted, then:
  - a. Their words have been re-written, but the general information attributed to them has been referenced
  - b. Where their exact words have been used, then their writing has been placed in italics and inside quotation marks, and referenced.
- 5. This thesis does not contain text, graphics or tables copied and pasted from the Internet, unless specifically acknowledged, and the source being detailed in the thesis and in the References sections.

Signed:

# **DECLARATION 2 - PUBLICATIONS**

DETAILS OF CONTRIBUTION TO PUBLICATIONS that form part and/or include research presented in this thesis (include publications, submitted, *in press* and published and give details of the contributions of each author to the experimental work and writing of each publication)

<u>Surya Narayana Maddila</u>, Suresh Maddila, Werner E. van Zyl and Sreekantha B. Jonnalagadda. "Mn doped ZrO<sub>2</sub> as a green, efficient and reusable heterogeneous catalyst for the multicomponent synthesis of pyrano[2,3-d]-pyrimidine derivatives." RSC Advances. 5 (2015) 37360-37366.

**My contribution:** I synthesized and characterized all the derivatives under the supervision of Prof. Jonnalagadda (Supervisor), Prof. Werner E. van Zyl (Co-supervisor) and Dr. S. Maddila (Postdoctoral fellow working under Prof. Jonnalagadda) and drafted the article. I was first-author, while Prof. Jonnalagadda was corresponding author.

Surya Narayana Maddila, Suresh Maddila, Werner E. van Zyl and Sreekantha B. Jonnalagadda. "Swift and green protocol for one-pot synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylates with RuCaHAp as catalyst". Current Organic Chemistry. 20(20) (2016), 2125-2133.

**My contribution:** I synthesized and characterized all the derivatives under the supervision of Prof. Jonnalagadda (Supervisor), Prof. Werner E. van Zyl (Co-supervisor) and Dr. S. Maddila (Postdoctoral fellow working under Prof. Jonnalagadda) and drafted the article. I was first-author, while Prof. Jonnalagadda was corresponding author.

Surya Narayana Maddila, Suresh Maddila, Werner E. van Zyl and Sreekantha B. Jonnalagadda.

"One-pot synthesis of pyranopyrazoles using Ru-hydroxyapatite as reusable catalyst- a green approach". Current Organic Synthesis. 13(6) (2016) 893-900.

**My contribution:** I synthesized and characterized all the derivatives under the supervision of Prof. Jonnalagadda (Supervisor), Prof. Werner E. van Zyl (Co-supervisor) and Dr. S. Maddila (Postdoctoral fellow working under Prof. Jonnalagadda) and drafted the article. I was first-author and Prof. Jonnalagadda was corresponding author.

Surya Narayana Maddila, Suresh Maddila, Werner E. van Zyl and Sreekantha B. Jonnalagadda.

"Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyzed cascade for C-C and C-O bond activation: Green one-pot synthesis of 2-amino-3-cyano-4H-pyrans". ChemistryOpen. 5 (2016) 38–42.

**My contribution:** I synthesized and characterized all the derivatives under the supervision of Prof. Jonnalagadda (Supervisor), Prof. Werner E. van Zyl (Co-supervisor) and Dr. S. Maddila (Postdoctoral fellow working under Prof. Jonnalagadda) and drafted the article. I was first-author, while Prof. Jonnalagadda was corresponding author.

5. <u>Surya Narayana Maddila</u>, Suresh Maddila, Werner E. van Zyl and Sreekantha B. Jonnalagadda.

"Ag/SiO<sub>2</sub> as a recyclable catalyst for the facile green synthesis of 3-methyl-4-(phenyl)methylene-isoxazole-5(4H)-ones". Research on Chemical Intermediates. 42 (2016) 2553-2566.

**My contribution:** I synthesized and characterized all the derivatives under the supervision of Prof. Jonnalagadda (Supervisor), Prof. Werner E. van Zyl (Co-supervisor) and Dr. S. Maddila (Postdoctoral fellow working under Prof. Jonnalagadda) and drafted the article. I was first-author, while Prof. Jonnalagadda was corresponding author.

<u>Surya Narayana Maddila</u>, Suresh Maddila, Werner E. van Zyl and Sreekantha B. Jonnalagadda.

CeO<sub>2</sub>/ZrO<sub>2</sub> as Green catalyst for the one-pot synthesis of novel pyrano[2,3-c]-pyrazoles. **Research on Chemical Intermediates** (DOI 10.1007/s11164-017-2878-7).

**My contribution:** I synthesized and characterized all the derivatives under the supervision of Prof. Jonnalagadda (Supervisor), Prof. Werner E. van Zyl (Co-supervisor) and Dr. S. Maddila (Postdoctoral fellow working under Prof. Jonnalagadda) and drafted the article. I was first-author, while Prof. Jonnalagadda was corresponding author.

Signed:

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to express my sincere thanks and appreciation to the following people

- Professor Sreekantha B. Jonnalagadda, for his invaluable supervision and guidance during the course of this study.
- Professor Werner E. van Zyl, for his expert guidance, supervision throughout the entirety of this project.
- My sincere thanks goes to the School of Chemistry and Physics, College of Agriculture Engineering and Science, University of KwaZulu-Natal for an enabling environment to carry out my research. Special thanks to Mr. Dilip Jagjivan, Mr. Kishore Singh and Mr. Gregory Moodley for their support, and always willing to help me during the course of this work.
- Department of Electron Microscopy, University of KwaZulu- Natal, for the use of the TEM, SEM.
- It is such a pleasure for me to thank all my Co-Ph.D members for their valuable suggestions and precise time.
- All the staff of the Department of Chemistry, University of KwaZulu-Natal.
- I would like to express my special appreciation to Mrs. Rukmini Jonnalagadda, for her support during my stay in Durban.
- I owe my thanks to Mr. H.N. Bandaru, Mr. VHSS Bhasakaruni, Dr. S. Rana, Dr. KK. Gangu and Dr. N. Kerru for their support.
- I would like to express my deep gratefulness and appreciation to my friends for their encouragement, helpful, support and attention during the course of this study.
- My unreserved gratitude in no particular order goes to Dr. Suresh Maddila and Dr. Sridevi Gorle, who have supported me throughout my thesis. Without his generous support, this work would be completely impossible.
- Last, but not the least I would like to thank my family. Without their constant love, encouragement and support I would never have been able to pursue my doctoral degree. You people have always been my strength and words cannot even begin to say how appreciative I am of everything you people have done for me.

# **CONFERENCE PARTICIPATION**

- <u>Surya Narayana Maddila</u>, Suresh Maddila, Werner E. van Zyl and Sreekantha B. Jonnalagadda. "Mn doped ZrO2 as a green, efficient and reusable heterogeneous catalyst for the multicomponent synthesis of pyrano[2,3-d]-pyrimidine derivatives". For a Poster presentation at the College of Agriculture, Engineering and Science Research Day, 22<sup>nd</sup> September 2015, *Pietermaritzburg campus, UKZN*.
- Suryanarayana Maddila, Suresh Maddila, Kranthi Kumar Gangu, Werner E. van Zyl and Sreekantha B Jonnalagadda "Sm/Fluoroapatite as a reusable catalyst for the facile, green, one-pot synthesis of triazolidine-3-thione derivatives under aqueous conditions". For a Poster presentation at the College of Agriculture, Engineering and Science Research Day, 29<sup>th</sup> November 2016, *Howard College Campus*, *UKZN*.
- Suryanarayana Maddila, Suresh Maddila, Werner E. van Zyl and Sreekantha B Jonnalagadda. "Synthesis, molecular docking study and in vitro anticancer activity of tetrazole linked benzochromene derivatives". Drug Discovery and Development in Chemistry – 2015 (DDDC - 2015). Dept. of. Chemistry, S.V.University, Tirupati, India. September, 14–15, 2015.

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Abbreviations	Full name
3-CR	Three component reaction
4-CR	Four component reaction
1,4-DHPs	1,4-Dihydropyridines
<sup>1</sup> HNMR	Proton Nuclear Magnetic Resonance
<sup>13</sup> CNMR	Carbon-13 Nuclear Magnetic Resonance
°C	Degrees Celcius
[ADDPY][OH]	4-Amino-1-(2,3-dihydroxypropyl) Pyridinium hydroxide
ArH	Aromatic ring proton
AgNO <sub>3</sub> .9H <sub>2</sub> O	Silver nitrate hydrate
[Bmim] Br	1-butyl-methylimidazolium bromide
[Bmim]BF <sub>4</sub>	1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate
[Bmim]FeCl <sub>4</sub>	butylmethylimidazolium tetrachloroferrate
BET	Brunauer-Emmett-Teller
Calcd	Calculated
C-C	Carbon-Carbon bond
$CeO_2/ZrO_2$	Ceria doped zirconia
COSY	Correlation spectrascopy
DAMP	4-Dimethylaminopyridine
DCM	Dichloromethane
DMAD	Dimethyl acetylenedicarboxylate
DMF	Dimethyl formamide
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DMSO-d <sub>6</sub> -	Deutarated dimethyl sulfoxide
dd	Doublet of doublet
d	Doublet
dt	Doublet of triplet
EDX	Enrgy-dispersive X-ray
EtOAc	Ethyl acetate

EtOH	Ethanol
FT-IR	Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy
GBB	Groebke-Blackburn-Bienaymre
GlyNO <sub>3</sub>	Glycine nitrate
HAps	Hydroxyapatites
HMBC	Heteronuclear Multiple Bond Coherence
HSQC	Heteronuclear Multiple Quantum Coherence
Hz	Hertz
HRMS	High Resolution Mass Spectrometry
$I_2$	Iodine
ICPOES	Inductively Coupled Plasma/Optical Emission Spectroscopy
IL	Ionic Liquids
IMCRs	Isocyanide-based Multicomponent Reactions
KHz	Kilo Hertz
MCRs	Multicomponent reactions
MHz	Mega Hertz
m	Multiplet
MW	Microwave
NH <sub>4</sub> OAc	Ammonium acetate
NHR <sub>2</sub>	Secondary amine
PEG 600	Poly (ethylene glycol) 600
$Pd(PPh_3)_2Cl_2$	Bis (triphenylphosphine)palladium(II)dichloride
ppm	Parts Per Million
PTSA	p-toluene sulfonic acid
PXRD	Powder X-Ray Diffraction
RT	Room temperature
RuCl <sub>3</sub> .XH <sub>2</sub> O	Ruthenium (III) chloride hydrate
Ru-CaHAp	Ruthenium Hydroxyapatite
SEM	Scanning Electron Microscopy
SFexZr	Sulfated zirconia
S	Singlet

S <sub>8</sub>	Elemental Sulfur
TBAB	Tetrabutylammomium bromide
TEA	Triethylamine
TEBA	Triethylbenzylammonium chloride
TEM	Transmission Electron Microscopy
THF	Tetrahydrofuran
TLC	Thin Layer Chromatography
TMSCN	Trimethylsilylcyanide
t	Triplet
TsOH.H <sub>2</sub> O	4-methylbenzenesulfonic acid monohydrate
U-4CR	Ugi-four Component Reaction
UV	Ultraviolet
VOSO <sub>4</sub> .xH <sub>2</sub> O	vanadyl sulfate hydrate,

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABS	TRACT	۲ii
DEC	LARA	ΓΙΟΝ 1 - PLAGIARISMiv
DEC	LARA	ΓΙΟΝ 2 - PUBLICATIONSv
ACK	NOWL	EDGEMENTS
CON	IFEREN	VCE PARTICIPATION
LIST	OF AI	BREVIATIONS ix
TAB	LE OF	CONTENTS xii
CHA	PTER	- 1
1.	Intro	oduction1
	1.1.1.	Importance of heterogeneous catalysis
	1.1.2.	Structure and properties of supported metal catalysts
	1.1.3.	Bimetallic catalyst
	1.1.4.	Metal supported interaction
	1.1.5.	Synergetic effects in heterogeneous catalysis5
	1.1.6.	Preparation of supported metal catalyst
1.2.	Hete	rogeneous catalysis in green chemistry
	1.2.0.	The principles of green chemistry
	1.2.1.	Prevent waste
	1.2.2.	Maximize atom economy
	1.2.3.	Design less hazardous chemical syntheses
	1.2.4.	Create safer chemicals
	1.2.5.	Use safer solvents7
	1.2.6.	Design for energy efficiency
	1.2.7.	Use renewable feedstocks
	1.2.8.	Reduce derivatives
	1.2.9.	Use catalysts instead of reagents
	1.2.10.	Design for degradation
	1.2.11.	Prevent pollution in real time
	1.2.12.	Minimize the potential for accidents
1.3.	Mult	icomponent reactions (MCRs)8

1.3.1. Passerini reaction	9
1.3.2. The Biginelli reaction.	10
1.3.3. Strecker reaction.	11
1.3.4. Hantzsch reaction	12
1.3.5. Mannich reaction	14
1.3.6. Kabachanik reaction	14
1.3.7. Ugi reaction	14
1.3.8. Petasis reaction	15
1.3.9. Gewald reaction.	16
1.3.10. van Leusen Reaction.	16
1.3.11. The Asinger reaction	17
1.3.12. Groebke-Blackburn-Bienaymre (GBB) reaction	17
1.3.13. The Bucherer-Bergs reaction.	18
1.4. Synthesis of catalyst assisted hetero nucleic compounds	18
1.4.1. Isoxazoles	19
1.4.2. Pyrazoles	24
1.4.3. Pyrans	34
1.5. Objectives of the study	43
1.6. References	44
CHAPTER-2	64
Ag/SiO <sub>2</sub> as a recyclable catalyst for the facile green synthesis of 3-methyl-4-(phenyl)met	hylene-
isoxazole-5(4H)-ones	65
Abstract	65
2.1. Introduction	66
2.2. Experimental section	67
2.2.1. Catalyst characterization	67
2.2.2. Preparation of catalyst	67
2.2.3. General procedure for the synthesis of 3-methyl-4-(phenyl) methylene iso	xazole-
5(4H)-onederivatives	68
2.3. Results and discussion	
2.3.1. BET surface area (BET) and elemental (ICP) analysis	71

	2.3.2.	TEM analysis	71
	2.3.3.	SEM analysis	72
	2.3.4.	Powder X-ray diffractogram (XRD) analysis	73
	2.3.5.	Optimization procedure	74
	2.3.6.	Reusability of catalyst	77
2.4.	. Cor	nclusion	
2.5.	. Ack	xnowledgements	
2.6.	. Ref	erences	
2.7.	. Sup	plementary materials data	
	2.7.1.	General details	
CH	APTE	R - 3	109
Mn	doped	d ZrO <sub>2</sub> as a green, efficient and reusable heterogeneous catalyst	for the
mu	lticomp	onentsynthesis of pyrano[2,3-d]-pyrimidine derivatives	110
Abs	stract		110
3.1.	. Intr	oduction	111
3.2.	. Res	ults and discussion	112
	3.2.1.	BET surface area (BET) and elemental (ICP) analysis	116
	3.2.2.	Powder X-ray diffractogram (XRD) analysis	116
	3.2.3.	Infrared spectra (FT-IR)	117
	3.2.4.	SEM and TEM analysis	118
	3.2.5.	Reusability of Mn/ZrO <sub>2</sub>	119
3.3	Exp	perimental section	119
	3.3.1.	Catalyst preparation	119
	3.3.2.	General procedure for the synthesis of pyrano[2,3-d]-pyrimidines	119
3.4.	. Cor	clusions	123
3.5.	. Acl	xnowledgements	123
3.6.	. Ref	erences	123
3.7.	. Sup	plementary materials data	126
	3.7.1.	Materails, methods and instruments	126
	3.7.2.	Charactrizastion of catalysts	126

СН	APTE	R – 4	149
Ce-	V/SiO <sub>2</sub>	catalyzed cascade for C-C and C-O bond activation: Green one-pot	synthesis of 2-
ami	no-3-cy	/ano-4H-pyrans	
Abs	stract		150
4.1.	Intr	oduction	
4.2.	Exp	erimental Procedure	
	4.2.1.	Catalyst Preparation	
	4.2.2.	General procedure for the synthesis of 2-amino-3-cyano-4H-pyran deri	vatives 152
4.3.	Res	ults and discussion	153
	4.3.1.	X-Ray Diffraction (XRD)	157
	4.3.2.	SEM, TEM and ICP-OES analysis	158
	4.3.3.	BET surface area	159
	4.3.4.	Reusability of the catalyst	
4.4.	Cor	nclusions	
4.5.	Acl	xnowledgements	
4.6.	Ref	erences	
4.7.	Sup	plementary materials data	
	4.7.1.	Materails, methods and instruments	
	4.7.2.	Characterization of catalysts	163
	4.7.3.	Physical data of compounds	164
СН	APTE	R-5	
Ru-	Hydrox	syapatite: An efficient and reusable catalyst for the multicomponen	t synthesis of
pyra	anopyra	zoles under facile green conditions	203
Abs	stract		203
5.1.	Intro	oduction	
5.2.	Exp	erimental section	
	5.2.1.	Catalyst characterization	
	5.2.2.	Preparation of catalyst	
	5.2.3.	General procedure for the synthesis of pyranopyrazole derivatives:	
5.3.	Res	ults and discussion	
	5.3.1.	BET surface area (BET) and elemental (ICP) analysis	

	5.3.2.	TEM analysis	
	5.3.3.	SEM analysis	
	5.3.4.	Powder X-ray diffractogram (XRD) analysis	
	5.3.5.	Optimization procedure	
	5.3.6.	Reusability of catalyst	
5.4.	Con	clusions	
5.5.	Ack	nowledgements	
5.6.	Supp	blementary materails	
5.7.	Refe	rences	
5.8.	Supp	blementary material data	
	5.8.1.	Materails, methods and instruments	222
Cha	pter-6.		
Swi	ft green	protocol for the one-pot synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carbo	oxylates with a
RuC	СаНАр с	atalyst	
Abs	tract		
6.1.	Intro	duction	
6.2.	Expe	erimental section	
	6.2.1.	Preparation of the catalyst	
	6.2.2.	General procedure for the synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazoles	
6.3.	Resu	Its and discussion	
	6.3.1.	Powder X-ray diffraction:	
	6.3.2.	SEM analysis	
	6.3.3.	TEM analysis	
	6.3.4.	BET surface area (BET) and elemental (ICP) analysis	
	6.3.5.	Reusability of the catalyst	
6.4.	Con	clusions	
6.5.	Refe	rences:	
6.6.	Supp	blementary material data	
	6.6.1.	Catalyst chracterization	
	6.6.2.	Materails, methos and instruments	274

Chapter- 7	7	
CeO <sub>2</sub> /ZrO <sub>2</sub>	as Green catalyst for the one-pot synthesis of novel pyrano[2,3-c]-pyrazoles	s 297
Abstract		297
7.1. Intr	oduction	
7.2. Exp	perimental section	299
7.2.1.	Catalyst preparation	299
7.2.2.	General procedure for the synthesis of pyranopyrazole derivatives:	299
7.3. Res	ults and discussion	302
7.3.1.	BET surface area (BET) and elemental (ICP) analysis	302
7.3.2.	TEM analysis	303
7.3.3.	SEM analysis	303
7.3.4.	Powder X-ray diffractogram (XRD) analysis	304
7.3.5.	Optimization procedure	305
7.3.6.	Reusability of catalyst	308
7.4. Cor	nclusions	309
7.5. Ack	xnowledgements	309
7.6. Ref	erences	309
7.7. Sup	plementary material data	312
7.7.1.	Catalyst instrumentation details	
7.7.2.	Experimental section	312
Chapter- 8	8	337
Conclusion	IS	337
Optimizatio	on	

# **CHAPTER – 1**

# 1. Introduction

Catalysis is a process by which rates of chemical reactions are enriched by small amounts of an extraneous substance, called catalysts [1]. It is estimated that around 90% of all commercially produced chemicals consume catalysts at some stage in the production development [2]. Catalysts play a vital role, in a number of areas, including bulk chemicals, fine chemicals, food processing and energy processing [3], making catalysis a very significant technology in today's world. Industrial catalysis is commonly divided into two types, heterogeneous and homogeneous [4]. Heterogeneous catalysis is wherever the catalyst and the reactant are in different physical phases, whereas homogeneous is where both are in the same phase [3]. A large number of industrial processes are heterogeneously catalysed. In general, it is useful to know the nature of the surface/interface in heterogeneous catalysis [5]. This is important for assessing the efficiency of the process and even the smallest amount of additives can poison or promote the reaction in which the catalyst is used. A suitable catalyst can enhance the rate of a thermodynamically feasible reaction, but cannot change the position of the thermodynamic equilibrium [6]. The catalytic reaction is a cyclic process. According to a simplified model, the reactant or reactants form a complex with the catalyst, thereby opening a pathway for their transformation into the product or products [7]. Afterwards the catalyst is released and the next cycle can proceed. It is suggested that the phenomenon of catalysis was first recognized by Berzelius in 1836 [8]. However, some catalytic reactions such as the production of alcoholic beverages by fermentation or the manufacture of vinegar by ethanol oxidation were practiced even before that [9]. Production of soap by fat hydrolysis and diethyl ether by dehydration of ethanol belong to the catalytic reactions that were performed in the 16<sup>th</sup> and 17<sup>th</sup> centuries [10]. Besides Berzelius, Mitscherlich was also involved at the same time in the study of catalytic reactions accelerated by solids [11]. He introduced the term contact catalysis which was a term used for heterogeneous catalysis that lasted for more than 100 years. Industrial production of chemicals relies on catalysts, and catalysis is becoming more and more important in energy production and pollution control [12].

It is well established that the catalysis field is a critical science for modern industry and improvements in catalytic processes will increase efficiencies of chemical transformations while reducing waste and environmental footprints [13]. However, although our understanding of catalytic processes has expanded in the last few decades, the structure of industrial heterogeneous catalysts is still relatively simple, mainly constructed of metallic nanoparticles dispersed on oxide support [14-17]. The simple structure of heterogeneous catalysts thus limits their scope and excludes the activation of complex reactions [16]. The construction of well-designed catalysts with an active site in a specific environment will expand the focus of catalysis research from the nanoscale into the mesoscale, opening up new reaction routes to novel catalytic transformations.

### 1.1.1. Importance of heterogeneous catalysis

Heterogeneous catalysts are accountable for a large number of chemical transformations of fossil fuels such as methane, coal and liquid petroleum into useful products [18,19] and the impact of catalysis on the United States economy, was stated as "one-third of material gross national product in the US involves a catalytic process somewhere in the production chain" [20]. The manufacturing of catalysts alone accounts for over \$10 billion of sales revenue in four major sectors, refining, chemicals, polymerization and emission. Globally, approximately 90% of the chemical practices and 60% of the chemicals produced utilise either heterogeneous or homogeneous catalysts [21]. The income generated due to catalyst sales is outweighed enormously by the overall value of the generated products. Examples of such products include pesticides, antibiotics, cosmetics, polymers, paints, plastics, cleaning products and chemical intermediates. In 1998, the annual global impact in the area of catalysis on the whole was estimated to be in excess of \$10 trillion [22]. It is likely that currently this figure is even higher.

As heterogeneous catalysis evolved, it has become more apparent that it has a large part to play in "green chemistry" and thus removing or substantially reducing the pollution and undesirable by-products from both chemical and refining processes [23]. This means that these by-products do not end up as either harmful emissions or waste materials that are dangerous and detrimental to the ecosystems and the environment globally [24].

In heterogeneous catalysis, the phase of the reactants or products and that of the catalyst is different, making the surface of the catalyst, which is the interface between catalyst and reactants or products, of great importance [25,26]. The big advantage of heterogeneous catalysts in contrast to homogeneous catalysts lies in the practical use, namely the simple separation of the reaction products from the catalyst [27]. However, heterogeneous catalysts are systems that are often not well-defined which makes it complicated to get a good understanding of the catalytic mechanism [28]. Heterogeneous catalysts with higher stability and lower loss can improve the efficiency of reactions, and be recycled and reused without further treatment. Due to these advantages, the heterogeneous catalysts are used widely in various reactions. The efficiency of the catalytic process depends to a great extent on the catalyst and its surface properties as well as the acid/base condition of the surface active sites [29]. The most important factor for an efficient heterogeneous system is the choice of catalysts; currently the catalysts that are most studied include metal oxides, and metals or metal oxides on supports.

#### **1.1.2.** Structure and properties of supported metal catalysts

An important group of heterogeneous catalysts is the group of supported metal catalysts, generally containing small metal particles dispersed over a porous support [30]. The metallic component is the catalytically active component of the catalyst. The transition metals like Co, Fe, Ni, Mn, Rh, Ru, Ag, Au, Cu, Zr and V are of great importance [30] as they catalyze oxidation, dehydrogenation, hydrogenolysis, cyclization, aromatization and isomerization reactions [31,32]. Metal dispersion can be expressed as the ratio of metal atoms on the surface to the total number of metal atoms, which enhances surface area and hence the catalytic activity [33]. The supports, such as silica, magnesia, zirconia, alumina, and phosphates have large surface areas and provide anchoring sites for the metal particles [34]. In general, the noble metals show better catalytic activity than transition metals. However, the transition metals are relatively inexpensive, has higher thermal stability, and moderate mechanical strength, which is why it is widely used in catalysts [35-37]. The support further provides the mechanical strength of the catalyst. The supports can also contribute to the catalytic activity and selectivity of the catalyst [38]. Indirectly, it works as a structural promoter of the active sites of the metallic component via the so-called metal-support interaction [39]. Directly, it can supply active sites itself in a bifunctional catalyst used in various reactions.

### **1.1.3.** Bimetallic catalyst

The performance of a catalyst can often be improved if one is able to optimize the electronic and geometric properties thereof [40]. The development of bimetallic catalysts is one way to improve the catalyst activity, selective and/or stability [41]. Until the end of the 1960's

the development of bimetallic catalysts was strongly stimulated by the rigid band theory that describes the electronic properties of alloys [42]. In the rigid band theory a uniform valence band structure was assumed for transition metals and it was believed that by mixing two metals a different degree of occupation of the valence and charge bands was occupied to an intermediate level [43]. This was found to be incorrect through measurents of metals and alloys. Moreover, in the metal band approach the global structure of metals (the electronic band structures) is mainly taken into account while it is expected that the local structure is of greatest important in heterogeneous catalysis.

Nowadays the important of geometric properties of bimetallic catalysts is emphasized in the undetstanding of the catalyst [44]. The surface composition of a bimetalic catalyst strongly influences the size composition and number of specific particles [45]. In this way it influences the type and number of active sites (ensemble effect). In alloys (e.g Cu-Ni, Au-Pd, Au-Pt) with an active and "inactive" constituent, the active component is diluted by the inactive component reducing that ensemble size of the active component [46]. This supresses for example hydrogenolysis reactions that require a relatively large ensemble size, but does not influence (de)hydrogenation reactions since only one metal surface atom is involved in the catalyst process of these reactions [47]. The introduction of anthor metal in a supported metal catalyst may lead to a change in the poisoning of the catalyst by carbon or sulfur deposists during hydrocarbon reactions [48]. An increase in poisoning of the catalyst can be responsible for an increase in selectivty for reactions proceeding over small ensembles (self poisoning effect) [46-48]. A decrease in poisoning can be responsble for a longer lifetime of the catalyst. For example, a Pd-Pt catalyst used in hydrogenation reactions have a higher tolerance of poisoning compounds containing sulfur and nitrogen than the monometallic catalysts. The second metal can also work as a kind of "glue" or barrier, anchoring particle to the support and preventing them from sintering.

#### **1.1.4.** Metal supported interaction

Metal-support interaction is a collective noun for interface phenomena which result in the catalytic properties of the metal particles being modified by the support material [49,50]. Analogous to the early studies on bimetallic catalyst, (delocalized) electronic effects were supposed to be dominant in metal-support interaction that influence catalytic properties, as put forward by Schwab and Solymosi and their co-workers in the late 1950's and 1960's [51,52].

Nowadays, metal-support interaction is more believed to relate to processes such as wetting, sintering encapsulation or other morpological changes of metal particles induced by the support, diffusion of the metal into the support, spillover of adsorbates form metal particles, etc [53].

Tauster et al. introduced the term strong metal support interaction after observing a large surpression of hydrogen and carbon monoxide chemisorption on transition metals dispersed over titania and a number of other reducible oxides after reduction at 500 °C [54]. During this treatment, the support is reduced by spilllover of hydrogen from the metal [55]. The chemisorption capacity can be restored by oxidation treatments [54,55]. Several explanations have been given such as morphological effects, alloy formation, or electron transfer between the support and metal [56]. The bulk of the evidence that has been gathered indicate that the metal particle are decorated by reduced titania species masking the metal particle for chemisoption [57].

The behaviour of metal-supported interface is in a certain way comparable with that of the metal-gas interface [58]. It can be said that the metal component not only acts as a catalyst in the interaction with adsorbates, but also as a catalyst or reactant in the interaction with the support [59]. In this way, the metal can be modified for interaction with adsorbates due to the interaction with the support, which results in modified catalytic properties.

#### 1.1.5. Synergetic effects in heterogeneous catalysis

The basic properties of the supported metal catalyst such as particle size and composition strongly influence the catalytic performance. It is not trivial to establish the relation between properties and performance of the catalyst because of the heterogeneity of the catalyst and because the various properties often depend on each other. For example, there is a long term debate whether  $Cu^{\circ}$  or  $Cu^{+}$  sites on the surface of the Cu/ZnO catalyst are the active sites for the methanol synthesis from synthesis gas. A linear correlation between the  $Cu^{\circ}$  metal area and the catalytic activity was found [60], however it was mentioned by the author that the presence of  $CO_2$  also results in the presence of a constant fraction of oxidized Cu. Thus, the linear correlation between  $Cu^{\circ}$  and activity also represents a linear relationship between  $Cu^{+}$  and activity.

Model systems have been used to make a systematic study possible. For example, the influence of atom size on hydrogen and deuterium chemisorption has been studied on naked gasphase transition-metal clusters of 1-25 atoms in a fast-flow reactor using photoionization mass spectrometry. Whetten et al. found that the reactivity of the gas-phase metal clusters exists between reactivity and cluster ionization [61]. Xu et al. prepared supported  $Ir_4$  and  $Ir_6$  clusters from organometallic precursors and found that the size dependency of the catalytic possessions of the supported clusters is consistent with the observations of unique reactivities of size-selected gas-phase metal collections [62].

When a change in catalytic performance of technical metal catalysts is observed for catalyst with different metal particle sizes, it may point to a particle size effect [63]. However, it cannot always be excluded that other effects are responsible for the change in catalytic behaviour, because properties such as metal-supported interface may change simultaneouly when changing the particle size.

The discussion above might give the impression that all catalytic reaction are very sensitive to the structure of the catalyst. However, as pointed out by Boudart, also structure insensitive reactions exist (e.g. hydrogenation of hydrocarbons, oxidation of carbon monoxide, hydrogen-deuterium exchange) which are independent of particle size, structure etc [64].

## **1.1.6.** Preparation of supported metal catalyst

In the past, useful catalysts were often prepared by "trial and error" and nowadays much more attention is paid to the chemistry of preparing catalyst to the structure and properties of supported metal catalysts that result in an optimum catalytic performance. One of the successful preparation methods is to distribute the active (and often expensive) metallic phase over the surface of the support in a highly dispersed form to maximize the activity per weight of active compound (and minimize the costs). Although it is possible to deposit a metal directly from the vapour phase onto the support (as has been used to prepare model catalysts), the common industrially important preparation methods are multistep processes consisting of distribution, calcination, and activation steps. The choice of the precursor and the conditions of distribution, calcination, and activation steps determine the basic properties of the catalyst such as metalsupport interaction, particle size etc.

# **1.2.** Heterogeneous catalysis in green chemistry

It is generally recognized that the ultimate goal in catalytic studies is to be able to develop a detailed understanding of the catalyst systems to allow tuning of the design of nanoscale materials to create new heterogeneous catalysts and thus green catalytic processes [65]. One of the major issues in this area is catalyst performance, which is affected by shape, size, composition and structure of the active ingredient as well as the support material used. There are four major classes of organic reactions in which heterogeneous catalysts are used; dehydrogenation, alkylation, hydrogenation and selective oxidations [66].

The first of this reaction type, dehydrogenation is a well-known approach for generation of simple and stable aldehydes and ketones as these reactions are reversible [67]. Alkylation reactions [68] are important for the production of gasoline that meets current stringent environmental standards and so researchers are seeking to develop solid-catalyst processes for alkylation technology [69,70]. Hydrogenation reactions [71-73] are commonly used in the food industry to make spreads and margarines from liquid oils and so are vital to this industry. Finally, selective oxidations [74,75] are extensively used in organic synthesis for the formation of many important compounds and intermediates to branch in other areas. However, a great deal of these selective catalytic oxidations relies on the use of high valence bimetallic catalytic systems [76,77]. In recent times, the use of supported metal systems has been highlighted in the literature, which includes some initial studies using carbon nanotubes as both catalysts in their own right and as supports for heterogeneous catalysts [78,79].

#### **1.2.0** The principles of green chemistry

It is vital to understand why the work that follows is designed to adhere to the principles and so at this point, they are listed in a reworded shortened version for information purposes [80].

- **1.2.1. Prevent waste**: Design of processes to prevent waste, thus leaving no waste behind that requires treatment.
- **1.2.2. Maximize atom economy**: Design processes that leaves the final product incorporating the maximum amount of raw material used to make it.
- **1.2.3. Design less hazardous chemical syntheses**: Design processes that require the use of little or wherever possible no toxic substances that could be detrimental to human health or the environment.
- **1.2.4. Create safer chemicals**: Design products that are fully effective and minimize or eliminate toxicity.
- **1.2.5.** Use safer solvents: Create processes that use environmentally friendly substances such as water as solvents or separation agents.

- **1.2.6. Design for energy efficiency**: Work at ambient temperature and pressure whenever possible.
- **1.2.7. Use renewable feedstocks**: Use renewable raw materials and feedstocks wherever possible instead of depleting non-renewable materials.
- **1.2.8. Reduce derivatives**: Avoid or minimize the use of protecting and blocking groups in reactions as they often require additional reagents and generate waste.
- **1.2.9.** Use catalysts instead of reagents: Use catalytic reactions that use small amounts of material and thus minimize waste.
- **1.2.10. Design for degradation**: Design chemical products that break down into harmless materials that do not remain in the environment.
- **1.2.11. Prevent pollution in real time**: Monitor and control the process to minimize or eliminate the formation of hazardous by products.
- **1.2.12. Minimize the potential for accidents**: Design chemicals and processes that minimize the potential for accidents such as explosions, fires and toxic releases into the environment.

The primary aim of this work is to follow as closely as possible to the twelve principles of green chemistry across the entire process from manufacture of the catalysts right through to the testing of them in reactions that are challenging to carry out in an environmentally benign manner.

### **1.3.** Multicomponent reactions

Recently, multi-component reactions (MCRs) earned prominence as a great synthetic tool for the formation of structurally combined molecular frameworks with attractive biological structures [81,82]. The entire procedure usually relies upon the formation and breaking of numerous C–C and C–heteroatom bonds in one-pot [83]. MCRs proposes significant benefits comprising easy handling, convergence, shorter reaction times, higher chemical yields, reduction in the quantity of extraction, minimization of the requisite reagents and purification stages, thus minimizing the quantity of waste generation, rendering the chemical transformations green and environment friendly [84-86]. These reactions are also valuable for the convenient generation of chemical libraries of biologically active compounds with impressive diversity and high levels of molecular complexity, thus contributing towards the optimization and identification of prospective compounds in drug discovery and pharmaceutical programmes

[87,88]. Consequently, designing new MCRs toward the synthesis of novel heterocyclic compounds from simple and readily accessible feedstock with green processes has huge significance, particularly in the areas of organic synthesis and drug discovery [89]. Though there are reviews describing the main MCR approaches applied to the synthesis of a great diversity of heterocycles like isoxazole, pyrroles etc., the use of MCRs in the synthesis of five, six and fused cyclic nitrogen-containing heterocycles has hardly been reported [90]. The current work is aimed at presenting recent, MCR methodologies to access these heterocycles in one-pot.

The history of MCRs date back to at least 1850, when the Strecker three-component reaction of amino cyanides from carbonyl compounds, ammonia and hydrogen cyanide has been reported [91]. In 1882, the reaction proceeded to the Hantzsch synthesis of symmetrical 1,4dihydropyridines by the reaction of aldehydes, amines and  $\beta$ -ketoesters [92]. In 1917, Robinson accomplished the total synthesis of the alkaloid tropinone by using a three-component strategy based on Mannich-type reactions [93]. This reaction is the oldest application of MCRs in natural product synthesis [94]. The Passerini reaction described in 1921 is considered as the first isocyanide based MCR and over the years this reaction has become increasingly important and has been highlighted [95]. Another classical MCR which leads to amino acids is the Bucherer-Bergs reaction, which was first reported in 1929 [96]. This reaction is closely related to the Strecker reaction, with CO<sub>2</sub> as the fourth component. The Biginelli dihydropyrimidine synthesis (1891), Mannich reaction (1912) and Ugi four component reactions (U-4CR) (1959) are the other three very important MCRs useful for multipurpose synthetic processes. In recent years, many novel MCRs- including Michael addition-initiated three component domino sequences, Knoevenagel/hetero-Diels-Alder-based MCRs [97], radical chain MCRs [98], transition metalcatalysed Pauson-Khand MCRs [99], as well as Petasis MCRs [100], have been added to the chemist's synthesis toolbox and successfully applied to all fields of organic synthesis. Some recent examples depicting elegant developments in the catalytic construction of various heterocycles are discussed in the following sections.

## **1.3.1** Passerini reaction:

MCRs that involve isocyanides as starting materials, named after Mario Passerini are by far the most versatile reactions in terms of available scaffolds and numbers of accessible compounds [101]. The oldest among this category is the three-component Passerini MCR, which involves the reaction between an aldehyde, an acid and an isocyanides to obtain  $\alpha$ -acyloxycarboxamides in one step (Scheme 1).



Scheme 1: General scheme for the Passerini reaction

Adib et al., have described interesting new variants of the Passerini-3CR [102]. The reaction of aldehydes, carboxylic acids and isocyanides led to the final products, which cyclized on treatment with NaHCO<sub>3</sub> in a one-pot procedure at reflux condition. These authors obtained the substituted  $\alpha$ -acyloxyamides in medium to good yields (Scheme 2).



Scheme 2: Synthesis of substituted α-acyloxyamides

### 1.3.2. The Biginelli reaction:

The Biginelli reaction was named by the Italian chemist Pietro in 1893, the reaction of an aldehyde, ethylacetoacetate and urea gave 3,4-dihydropyrimidin-2(1H)-ones (Scheme 3) [103]. The synthetic potential of this particular condensation remained unexplored until the beginning of the 1980s.

Zhou and co-authors recently reported multicomponent Biginelli reaction catalysed by Bronsted acidic ionic liquid  $[C_3SO_3HDoim]HSO_4$ . The condensation of cyclopentanone with aromatic aldehydes and urea provided the corresponding pyrimidinones in good to excellent yields (up to 96%) under solvent-free condition (Scheme 4)[104].



Scheme 3: General scheme for the Biginelli reaction



Scheme 4: Preparation of pyrimidinones

#### **1.3.3.** Strecker reaction

The oldest known multicomponent reaction was reported in 1850, for the preparation of  $\alpha$ -amino acids, which known as the Strecker reaction. The Strecker reaction involves the condensation of an ammonia, aldehyde and cyanide group followed by the hydrolysis of the resulting  $\alpha$ -amino nitrile (Scheme 5) [105]. The resulting  $\alpha$ -amino acids have found application in pharmaceutical industries; they have significant widespread use in the field of chemistry and biology, as they are predecessors for the preparation of proteins and chiral building blocks.



**Scheme 5**: Strecker reaction of carbonyl molecules and amines with TMSCN (trimethylsilyl cyanide) catalysed by MCM-41-SO<sub>3</sub>H

Ghafuri and Roshani (Scheme 6) developed a very efficient synthesis protocol for derivatives of  $\alpha$ -aminonitrile scaffold. A reaction of aldehyde, aniline and TMSCN in ethanol solvent at RT with aqueous formic acid as a catalyst lead to formation of  $\alpha$ -aminonitrile as solids

in 1 h. Products precipitated from the reaction mixture, thus avoiding the need for chromatography [106].



**Scheme 6**: Synthesis of α-aminonitrile derivatives

### 1.3.4. Hantzsch reaction

1,4-Dihydropyridine derivatives (1,4-DHPs) are a significant class of biological active molecules and are also working as biomimetic reducing agents. These classes of compounds are generally accessible by use of Hantzsch reaction, which was reported in 1882 [107]. The multicomponent reaction consists of aldehyde, ethylacetoacetate and ammonium acetate to form dihydropyridine, which gets oxidised to form a pyridine derivative (Scheme 7).



Scheme 7: General scheme for the Hantzsch reaction

A reaction of methyl acetoacetate, ammonium acetate and aromatic aldehydes was used for the one-pot multicomponent synthesis of functionalized 1,4-dihydropyridines (Scheme 8). Mn and Ce oxides under solvent-free conditions catalysed the reaction. The yields were good (69-87%) in the case of the benzaldehydes, both with electron withdrawing and electron donating groups [108].



Scheme 8: Synthesis of functionalized 1,4-dihydropyridines

# 1.3.5. Mannich reaction

The Mannich reaction [109-111] is a conventional process for the synthesis of  $\beta$ -amino ketones and aldehydes and it involves the multi-component reaction between an amine, enolizable CH-acidic carbonyl compound and aromatic aldehyde (Scheme 9). It is anticipated that methylene iminium salts are formed in tiny amounts, by a series of equilibria. Carl Mannich discovered the Mannich reaction in 1917.



Scheme 9: General scheme for the Mannich reaction

Reddy et al., via Mannich reaction (Scheme 10), have reported synthesis of a series of novel alkylaminophenol derivatives. The target compound was synthesized through Petasis borono–Mannich reaction using secondary amines, *o*-hydroxy aldehydes and various boronic acids in the presence of a biopolymer catalyst such as chitosan under 1,4-dioxane solvent under reflux [110].



Scheme 10: Synthesis of substituted quinazolinone derivatives

#### **1.3.6.** Kabachanik reaction

The Kabachanik reaction is a multicomponent reaction between an amine, a carbonyl compound and dialkyl phosphonate to form  $\alpha$ -amino phosphonate (Scheme 11). Kabachnik and Fields discovered the reaction in 1952 and used in the synthesis of anti-inflammatory drugs [111].



Scheme 11: General scheme for the Kabachnik-Fields reaction

Recently, Ghafuri et al. reported a nanomagnetic sulfated zirconia catalysed Kabachnik reaction of  $\alpha$ -aminophosphonates using aromatic aldehydes, anilines and dimethyl phosphite carried out in absence of solvent at 80 °C (Scheme 12). Like many other heterogeneous catalysts, Nano-Fe<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub>@ZrO<sub>2</sub>/SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup>, an acidic catalyst offers many benefits including easy workup, short reaction times, high activity and yields, plus easy separation and reusability environmentally benign reaction conditions [112].



Scheme 12: Synthesis of the substituted α-aminophosphonates

# 1.3.7. Ugi reaction

The Ugi reaction denotes one of the highly powerful reactions in MCRs with broad spectrum of applications [113]. First described in 1959, the Ugi-4CR describes the one-step creation of peptide-like structures by combining a carbonyl compound, a carboxylic acid, an amine and an isocyanide (Scheme 13). The Ugi reaction takes only a few minutes to complete due to the exothermic nature of the reaction. Three-component and four-component reactions (3-CR and 4-CR) are possible with Ugi arrangement.



Scheme 13: General scheme for 4-component Ugi reaction

Yuan et al. [114] described a facile, multi-component reaction involving condensation of methyl 2-formylbenzoate, amine, isocyante and carboxylic acid at room temperature in the presence of NaOEt to obtain a series isoquinoline-1,3(2H,4H)-diones with good to excellent yields (Scheme 14).



Scheme 14: Synthesis of the isoquinoline-1,3-(2H,4H)-diones

### 1.3.8. Petasis reaction

Allylic amines are widely used as building blocks in synthesis of variety of organic compounds with wide range of biological activities. Petasis et al., in 1993 have reported the efficient method for synthesis of allylic compounds using a modified Mannich reaction, where vinylboronic acids served as the nucleophilic component [115]. This new and mechanistically distinct three component reaction that combines amines, aldehydes and vinylboronic or arylboronic acids is referred to as the Petasis boronic acid-Mannich reaction or Petasis three-component reaction (Petasis 3CR, Scheme 15) [116].



Scheme 15: General scheme for the Petasis reaction

#### **1.3.9.** Gewald reaction

In 1966, the German chemist Karl Gewald discovered the reaction that lead to the formation of 2-aminothiophenes called the Gewald reaction [117]. The Gewald reaction involves the condensation of an aldehyde or ketone,  $\alpha$ -cyanoester in the presence of elemental sulfur and a base to afford a poly-substituted 2-amino-thiophene. Following this reaction, multi-substituted 2-aminothiophenes were successfully synthesized. These compounds are used to produce bioactive drugs that are useful in pharmaceutical industry (Schem 16) [118]. The Gewald reaction was used to synthesize anti-inflammatory drugs, such as acetone-1-(2-amino-5-isopropyl-thiophene-3-carbinitrile derivatives, thieno-[2,3-d]-pyrimidine derivatives, 5-ethyl-2-amino-3-pyrazolyl-4-methylthiophenecarboxylate and 2-thioxo-N<sub>3</sub>-aminothieno-[2,3-d]-pyrimidines [119,120].



Scheme 16: Synthesis of multisubstituted 2-aminothiophenes

#### 1.3.10. van Leusen reaction

The Dutch chemist, van Leusen discovered tosylmethylisocyanide and subsequently investigated the reactivity and synthetic perspectives offered by this multifunctional reagent [121]. The chemistry of tosylmethylisocyanide is diverse, because of its acidic character, the reactivity of the isocyano function towards nucleophiles and electrophiles and the leaving group ability of the sulfone is of interest (Scheme 17).



Scheme 17: General scheme for the van Leusen reaction

#### 1.3.11. The Asinger reaction

The reaction to form 3-thiazolines was named after Friedrich Asinger. Asinger, an industrial organic chemist discovered the reaction for the synthesis of 3-thiazolines in 1956 [122]. The 3-thiazoline derivatives were formed from a monothiolation and subsequent  $\alpha$ -amino alkylation followed by ring closure with elimination of water (Scheme 18). Asinger and his team also confirmed that the derivatives of 3-thiazolines are possible.



Scheme 18: General reaction of the Asinger reaction

#### 1.3.12. Groebke-Blackburn-Bienaymre (GBB) reaction

Groebke (from Switzerland), Christopher Blackburn (Cambridge in USA), and Hugues Bienayme (from France) all independently reported the (GBB) reaction for the first time in 1998. GBB reaction involves an aldehyde reacting with aminoazine and an isonitrile in the presence of a suitable catalyst (generally a Lewis acid or Bronsted acid), this produces a highly substituted and fused imidazole derivative (Scheme 19). The GBB reaction is classified as a four-center, three component reaction and has found application in the drug discovery research industries [123,124].



Scheme 19: Synthesis of imidazo[1,2-b]pyrazoles via GBB reaction.

#### **1.3.13.** The Bucherer-Bergs reaction

In 1934, Bucherer and Bergs discovered a method for the synthesis of hydantoins, their method involved a one-pot procedure, where the reacting compounds were hydrogen cyanide, aldehydes or ketones, ammonia and carbon dioxide, the product formed could be easily transformed following hydrolysis to form  $\alpha$ -amino acids (Scheme 20) [125].



Scheme 20: The Bucherer-Bergs multicomponent synthesis of hydantoins

### **1.4.** Synthesis of catalyst assisted hetero nucleic compounds

Nitrogen and oxygen containing heterocyclic compounds has attracted considerable attention due to their wide range of physicochemical and pharmacological properties [126,127]. Heterocyclic molecules offer a high degree of structural variety and are proven to be useful as therapeutic agents [128]. New and more efficient and sustainable synthetic routes continuously replace the conventional preparation methods for heterocycles [129]. The development of environmental, practical, and economical procedures for the preparation of heterocyclic compounds continues to be a challenging area for organic chemists [130,131]. One-pot synthetic pathways are remarkably advantageous to access diversely functionalized molecules which are useful as fine chemicals, chiral catalysts, ligands, drug candidates and drug intermediates [130-132]. One-pot reactions for the synthesis of heterocyclic compounds have been extensively studied [132-134]. In comparison to multi-step synthetic procedures, these reactions are highly economical to construct varying substituted molecules in just one reactor by avoiding the separation and purification of intermediates. Transition metal catalysed one-pot reactions are well-established approaches for the synthesis of heterocyclic compounds [135,136]. This will certainly increase the interest of heterogeneous catalysed one-pot reactions in the near future.

Heterocyclic chemistry, which forms the major division of conventional organic chemistry, is a challenging and interesting arena. [137]. Majority of pharmaceuticals [138], biologically active agrochemicals [139], additives and modifiers used in industrial applications

are heterocyclic in nature [140,141]. A large number of alkaloids derived from heterocyclic molecules are used as drugs [141]. Thus, pharmaceutical and agrochemical industries have made rapid and significant progress develop suitable heterocyclic compounds for the benefit of humankind [142]. The attractive feature of heterocyclic chemistry is the scope and provision to vary the core scaffold with innovative substitutions and variations. Among different heterocycles, the chemistry of nitrogen and sulfur containing heterocycles has undergone remarkable advances in the last couple of decades, ever since their initial use in agriculture commenced [143-145]. The pesticidal, potential chemotherapeutic, fungicidal and antiviral properties have been the reasons for the upswing in the interest and development of these heterocyclic compounds in general and pyrazoles, pyrans and isoxazoles in particular.

# 1.4.1. Isoxazoles

Nitrogen containing five membered heterocyclic compounds with an oxygen atom in the ring are considered vital class of compounds in pharmaceutical and medicinal chemistry because of their varied biological uses [146]. The exploitation of a simple molecule with diverse functionalities for the synthesis of heterocyclic is a worthwhile contribution in the organic chemistry [147]. Isoxazole is a five membered heterocyclic compound containing oxygen and nitrogen atoms in side-by-side positions. The core ring system, isoxazole is historically old and an isolated compound, but not identified until 1888 [148]. Isoxazoles have an illustrious history and named as "monazole", their chemistry is associated with Ludwig Claisen, who first recognized the cyclic structure of 3-methyl-5-phenylisoxazole in 1888. Isoxazoles are known to possess aromatic resembling properties under basic conditions [149]. This is a vital class of heterocycles, which are largely employed in the area of pharmaceuticals and therapeutics such as insecticidal [150], antibacterial [151], anti-tumor [152], antifungal [153], anti-tuberculosis [154] and ulcerogenic compounds [155]. Isoxazole derivatives are used in the market as COX-2 inhibitor and anti-inflammatory drugs [156,157. Isoxazole derivatives such as sulfamethoxazole, sulfisoxazole, oxacillin, cycloserine and acivicin have been in commercial use for many years [157]. Cycloserine is the best known antibiotic drug that possess anti-tubercular, antibacterial activities and in treatment of leprosy. Due to their potential applications in several fields including agriculture, and scope for synthesis of varied compounds with distinct properties, isoxazoles have been comprehensively investigated.
Iranpoor and co-authors described the use of a phosphine and copper-free palladium as a heterogeneous catalyst for the synthesis of isoxazole derivatives (Scheme 21) [158] via Sonogashira carbonylative coupling reaction. Under heating conditions, the reaction required one equivalent of base to confirm high reaction rates. However, the reaction could be carried out quantitatively at 70 °C in 5 h with excellent yields.



Scheme 21: Synthesis of the isoxazole derivatives

Liu et al., have reported that sodium sulfide (Na<sub>2</sub>S) is an excellent catalyst for the preparation of 3-methyl-4-arylmethylene-isoxazol-5(4H)-ones in ethanol solvent. When the reactions were performed with hydroxylamine hydrochloride, various aldehydes and ethyl acetoacetate at RT of ethanol, the corresponding target products were obtained in excellent yields between 63–81% for 1-2.5 h (Scheme 22a) [159]. The same authors have improved a convenient and efficacy synthesis of isoxazole derivatives by the condensation of hydroxylamine hydrochloride, ethyl acetoacetate and aromatic aldehydes in aqueous solvent under sodium silicate pentahydrate as an efficient catalyst conditions (Scheme 22b) [160].



Scheme 22: Synthesis of the 3-methyl-4-arylmethylene-isoxazol-5(4H)-ones

The titanium-catalysed regioselective synthesis of 3,4-disubstituted isoxazole derivatives have been reported by Dissanayake and Odom. (Scheme 23) [161]. A direct coupling reaction of cyclohexylamine, aniline, tert-butylisonitrile and hydroxylamine was used for the synthesis of isoxazoles, avoiding the use of organic catalysts. Microwave heating has shown enhancement in reaction yields over conventional heating.



Scheme 23: Synthesis of the 3,4-disubstituted isoxazole derivatives

Ablajan and Xiamuxi reported the one-pot, multicomponent reaction of hydroxylamine, aromatic aldehydes and methyl 4-methyl-3-oxovalerate to produce 4-arylmethylidene-3-isopropylisoxazol-5-ones under ultrasonication in the presence of pyridine catalyst, in good to excellent yields [162] at RT condition. These approaches have some benefits towards green methods and good target product yields (Scheme 24).

$$(H_{3}C)_{2}HC - C - CH_{2} - C - OR_{1} + NH_{2}OH.HCI + ArCHO \xrightarrow{Pyridine}_{water} N = 0$$

Scheme 24: Synthesis of the 4-Arylmethylidene-3-isopropylisoxazol-5-ones derivatives

Bharate et al., have developed a simple eco-friendly multicomponent one-pot synthetic procedure for novel 3,5-disubstituted isoxazoles (Scheme 25) [163]. The products were prepared in good yields from aromatic aldehyde, hydroxylamine hydrochloride and *N*-chlorosuccinamide in the presence of montmorillonite clay supported Cu(II)/NaN<sub>3</sub> catalytic system under green solvent conditions with good yields.



Scheme 25: Synthesis of the novel 3,5-disubstituted isoxazole derivatives

Farjam and Arab-Salmanabadi have discovered the novel highly substituted isoxazole derivatives by using this multicomponent reaction via an intramolecular Wittig reaction (Scheme 26). This was performed using dialkyl acethylenedicarboxylates, triphenylphosphine and 3,4-dihydro-3-hydroxy-4-oxo-1,2,3-benzotriazine in the presence of DCM solvent at RT conditions [164].



Scheme 26: Synthesis of novel highly substituted isoxazole derivatives

Saikh and co-workers have established a highly efficient synthetic protocol for synthesis of 3-methyl-4-arylmethylene-isoxazole-5(4*H*)-ones using sodium acetate as a promoter and a visible light induced one-pot reaction involving ethyl acetoacetate, hydroxylamine hydrochloride and aromatic aldehydes in the presence of aqueous ethanol as solvent (Scheme 27) [165].



Scheme 27: Synthesis of 3-methyl-4-arylmethylene-isoxazole-5(4H)-one derivatives

Soleimani and co-workers described a novel atom-economy protocol to give access to spiro-3-bromo-4,5-dihydroisoxazoles in 59-84% yield. They studied the scope of the process by employing various aldehydes, barbituric acid and dibromoformaldoxime. The reaction succeed via [1,3] dipolar cycloaddition at RT under THF solvent conditions (Scheme 28)[166].



Scheme 28: Synthesis of spiro-3-bromo-4,5-dihydroisoxazoles

An efficient, atom-economic approach for the preparation of a new series of 3,5disubstituted-1,2-isoxazoles was designated by Bassaco and co-authors through a consecutive one-pot, three-component condensation reaction of easily available symmetric or unsymmetric 1,3-diyne-indoles with hydroxylamine (Scheme 29). The reaction was accomplished in the presence of PEG-400 with TEA at RT in DMF solvent to yield the products in moderate to good yields [167].



Scheme 29: Synthesis of a new series of 3,5-disubstituted-1,2-isoxazoles

Mirzazadeh and Mahdavinia revealed that DABCO could be an efficient catalytic system for this MCR and achieved the synthesis of novel 4-arylidene-3-phenylisoxazol-5-ones via a onepot reaction of aromatic aldehydes, ethyl benzoylacetate and hydroxylamine in ethanol solvent under reflux condition (Scheme 30). This method presented the advantages of a simple, clean atom-economic, under mild conditions, with short reaction times, and low environmental impact and high yields [168].



Scheme 30: Synthesis of a new series of 4-arylidene-3-phenylisoxazol-5-one derivatives

Kiyani and Ghorbani proved that potassium hydrogen phthalate (10% KHP) as a catalyst and water as a solvent system may act as a very suitable medium for the synthesis of 3,4disubstituted isoxazol-5(4*H*)-ones by using ethyl cyanoacetate, aromatic aldehyde and hydroxylamine as a starting material (Scheme 31). The process is a facile, straightforward method for synthesis of a variety of pyranannulated compounds, isoxazol-5(4*H*)-one-containing heterocycles and Knoevenagel adducts. The reaction is safe, uses mild conditions, and is environmentally benign. Other notable advantages are reuse of the catalyst, no use of hazardous organic solvents, and ease of work-up [169].



Scheme 31: Preparation of 3,4-disubstituted isoxazol-5(4H)-ones

## 1.4.2. Pyrazoles

A five membered cyclic diene consisting of three carbons and two nitrogens where the two heteroatoms are in adjacent position are known as a pyrazole. Knorr synthesized the first pyrazole derived compound, which steered path to the discovery of antipyrine and other derivatives [170]. Antipyrine was the first pyrazolone derivative in 1884, employed to treat pain, inflammation and fever [171]. The common structure of pyrazole is described in Figure 1. Pyrazoline was first reported in 1894 by Curtius and Wirsing through the spontaneous reaction of acrolein with hydrazine (Eqn.1) [172]. Pyrazoles are one of the most significant heterocyclic molecules. They are prepared as the main structure in a large diversity of molecules that display an important role in medicinal and pharmaceutical research, with activities such as antibacterial, antifungal, antitumor. antipyretic, anti-diabetic, anti-inflammatory, analgesic, antihyperglycemic, antineoplastic, anti-oxidant, anti-tubercular and anti-depressive activities [173-175]. Further, substituted pyrazole derivatives are used as interesting templates for combinatorial chemistry [174]. Moreover, these derivatives are found in a broad range of agricultural and industrial applications [176]. Several pyrazole derivatives have been successfully synthesized and the following are a few among the numerous methods that reported on the one-pot synthesis of pyrazoles.

Heravi and co-workers described, a facile and an efficient method for the synthesis of 1,4-dihydropyrano[2,3-c]-pyrazole derivatives via a multi-component, one-pot condensation of aldehydes, malononitrile and 3-methyl-1-phenyl-1*H*-pyrazol-5(4*H*)-one in the presence of catalytic amounts Preyssler type heteropoly acid with aqueous solvent at reflux conditions (Scheme 32) [177].



Scheme 32: One-pot MCR for the synthesis of 1,4-dihydropyrano[2,3-c] pyrazoles.<sup>[157]</sup>

Syntheses of multi-substituted pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole derivatives were reported by Ablajan and co-workers in 2013 [178]. The compounds were produced by the one-pot reaction between aromatic aldehydes, malononitrile, hydrazinobenzoic acid and  $\beta$ -keto ester, using cerium ammonium nitrate at RT under ultrasound irradiation with water as a solvent (Scheme 33a). Recently, Zolfigol and co-workers [179] have reported the synthesis of pyrazoles using a one-pot, multicomponent reaction of aromatic aldehydes, malononitrile, phenylhydrazine,  $\beta$ -keto ester and 1-methylimidazolium trinitromethanide and {[HMIM]C(NO<sub>2</sub>)<sub>3</sub>} as a catalyst in the absence of solvent at room temperature. Good to high yields were reported after several minutes of reaction (Scheme 33b).



Scheme 33: Synthesis of multi-substituted pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole derivatives

Zou and co-authors (2011) prepared 6-amino-5-cyano-4-aryl-1,4-dihydropyrano-[2,3-c]pyrazoles from a 3-CR of malononitrile, aromatic aldehydes and 3-methyl-1-phenyl-2-pyrazolin-5-one using triethyl-benzyl ammonium chloride (TEBA) as catalyst in aqueous media (Scheme 34). The reaction offers many benefits such as good yield (82-94%), less pollution, ease of separation and eco-friendly [180].



Scheme 34: Synthesis of 6-amino-5-cyano-4-aryl-1,4-dihydropyrano[2,3]pyrazoles<sup>[159]</sup>

Copper oxide loaded zirconia (CuO/ZrO<sub>2</sub>) was used as a catalyst for the three-component cyclo-condensation reaction of phenyl hydrazine, malononitrile and substituted aromatic aldehydes to synthesize 12 novel pyrazole-4-carbonitriles (Scheme 35a). The target molecules were afforded in good to excellent yields within 2 h. The heterogeneous catalyst used was cost-effective, well recyclable and reusable for over 5 cycles, conserving its high activity [181].

Recently, Srivastava and co-workers have improved the preparation of highly functionalized pyrazoles under grinding conditions with (Bim)OH, ionic liquid as a catalyst (Scheme 35b) [182]. The three-component cyclocondensation reaction between phenyl hydrazine, malanonitrile and aromatic aldehydes in the presence of the ionic liquid was carried out in water as a solvent. A wide variety of functionalized pyrazoles was reported with high yields (88–97%) within 15-30 min.

Recently, Nemati et al., have developed the one-pot, multicomponent synthesis of highly substituted pyrazoles reacting assorted aldehydes with phenylhydrazine and malononitrile in the presence of PEG-400 in water medium at room temperature under ultrasound irradiation

(Scheme 35c). Excellent yields (92–99%) of the pyrazole derivative have been reported [183]. The benefits of this catalyst-free protocol were use of cheaper starting materials, reduced environmental impact and short reaction times plus operational simplicity (< 1.5 h).



Scheme 35: Synthesis of multi-substituted pyrazole derivatives

Ambethkar et al. (2014) described an efficient grinding protocol for the synthesis of dihydropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazoles from the reaction of aryl halide, acetylene ester, hydrazine hydrate and malononitrile under solvent-free conditions (Scheme 36). The pyrazole derivatives were afforded in high yield (65-93%) [184].

Gein and co-workers (2014) developed a novel procedure for the synthesis for 6-amino-4-aryl-5-cyano-2,4-dihydropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylate derivatives via a 4-CR of sodium salt of diethyloxaloacetate, an aromatic aldehyde, hydrazine hydrate and malononitrile (Scheme 37). The products were achieved in moderate to high yields (71-92%).



**Scheme 36:** Efficient grinding protocol for the synthesis of dihydropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazoles [185].



**Scheme 37**: Synthesis for 6-amino-4-aryl-5-cyano-2,4-dihydropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylates.

Safaei-Ghomi et al. (2014) described the synthesis of 4,4-(arylmethylene)bis(3-methyl-1H-prazol-5-ol) derivatives in the presence of  $ZnAlO_4$  nanoparticles (Scheme 38). The product was formed from a The reaction used hydrazine hydrate, ethyl acetoacetate and aldehydes in water at 60 °C and provided excellent yields in short reaction times. The method is environment friendly.



Scheme 38: Synthesis of 4,4-(arylmethylene)bis(3-methyl-1H-prazol-5-ol) derivatives in the presence of ZnAlO<sub>4</sub> nanoparticles [186].

A facile, efficient spiro[indoline-3,4'-pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole] and spiro[acenaphthyl-3,4pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazoles] derivatives have synthesized by Wang et al.,. This was done through a one-pot, four component reaction of hydrate hydrazine, dimethyl acetylenedicarboxylate, malononitrile as well as ethylcyanoacetate. Triethylamine was used to catalyze the reaction. which proceeded in ethanol solvent (Scheme 39a). The corresponding yields for the model reaction were satisfactory (75-85%). The reaction proceeded for 5 h, at RT. For comparison, acenaphthenequinone substrate was used to replace ethylcyanoacetate. The reaction proceeded at room temperature for 24 h to obtain spiro[acenaphthyl-3,4'-pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazoles] with 85-92% yields.

Liju and co-authors have improved an ideal reaction using an efficient, one-pot ultrasound irradiation procedure for the synthesis of spiro[indoline-3,4'-pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole]. L-proline was used as catalyst for the reaction at room temperature (Scheme 39b) [187]. The reaction involved four component system of malononitrile, diethyl acetylenedicarboxylate, isatin and 4-hydrazinobenzoic acid in the presence of a mixture of aqueous ethanol (H<sub>2</sub>O/EtOH, 1:1 v/v). The L-proline catalyst gave 90% yield for this reaction and L-proline (10 mol%) was found optimal. To avoid the reaction rate acceleration by the temperature variation due to ultrasonication, the reaction was carried in a water bath to maintain the temperature at 25 °C.

Pore et al. explored a green approach to synthesize novel spiro pyranopyrazole derivatives in the absence of catalyst [188]. The four-component/one-pot reaction between hydrazine hydrate, malononitrile, dimethyl acetylenedicarboxylate and isatin (Scheme 39c) proceeded well in polar solvent under reflux for 2 h, with moderate yield, but water:ethanol (80:20, v/v) as solvent gave 86% of desired product. This green reaction is environmentally friendly with no waste.

Ming-Xing and co-authors have established an innovative base catalysed synthetic route for the preparation of pyrazolo[3,4-d]pyrimidinone derivatives via tandem heterocyclization by the one-pot, multicomponent condensation of hydrazine, methylenemalononitrile and aldehyde under reflux conditions [189,190]. The reaction progressed efficiently at a faster rate in toluene using NaOH (0.2 mmol). The yields of the products were good to excellent (77–91%) depending upon substituents (Scheme 40).





Scheme 40: Synthesis of novel pyrazolo[3,4-d]pyrimidinone derivatives

An expedient, effective, eco-friendly and catalyst-free method had been established by Teimouri leading to a series of 1*H*-pyrazolo-[1,2-b]-phthalazine-5,10-diones (Scheme 41) [191]. The procedure is an excellent means for synthesis of one-pot multicomponent reactions. Due to their convergence and efficiency, this innovative synthetic approach could be fascinating from a green chemistry point of view.



Scheme 41: Synthesis of 1H-pyrazolo-[1,2-b]-phthalazine-5,10-dione derivatives

Bin-Bin and his group have produced fused polycyclic 4-aryl-3-methyl-1-phenyl-7,8dihydro-1*H*-pyrazolo[3,4-b][1,6]naphthyridin-5(4*H*) by using as precursors aromatic aldehyde, 3-methyl-1-phenyl-1*H*-pyrazol-5-amine and piperidine-2,4-dione in the presence of ionic liquids. Initially the reaction was tested with different varieties of ionic liquids and finally [BMIm]Br was optimized for this organic transformation (Scheme 42) [192].



Scheme 42: Synthesis of fused polycyclic 4-aryl-3-methyl-1-phenyl-7,8-dihydro-1*H*-pyrazolo[3,4-b][1,6]naphthyridin-5(4*H*) derivatives

Hassan and co-workers [193] have established tetracyanoethylene as a mediator for condensation–cyclization succession containing the reaction of thiocarbonohydrazides and tetracyanoethylene at RT in the presence of THF solvent. The process carried out the preparation of 5-substituted amino-1,3,4-thiadiazolyl-1*H*-pyrazoles with good yields (Scheme 43).

Synthesis of spiro-indoline-3,4'-pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazoles have been reported by an efficient ultrasound-assisted four component Knoevenagel condensation a through Michael addition reaction in liquid phase in the presence of ethanol at room temperature after 1 h. It was carried out using piperidine as a catalyst. Various 1,3-diketones, phenyl hydrazine, isatin, and malononitrile gave the corresponding spiropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole derivatives in excellent yields (77–93%) (Scheme 44a) [194].



Scheme 43: Synthesis of 5-substituted amino-1,3,4-thiadiazolyl-1*H*-pyrazoles

Recently, Feng et al., have synthesized diverse indoline-3,4'-pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazoles using a 4-dimethylaminopyridine (4-DMAP) as a catalyst (Scheme 44b). As a result, various spiropyrazole derivatives were achieved with improved yields from the reaction of isatins, malononitrile, phenylhydrazine and 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds at 60 °C in ethanol as the solvent and 1 h reaction time [195].

More recently, Rai et al. have reported the cyclocondensation of ethylacetoacetate, phenylhydrazine, malononitrile, isatin and chitosan/(Bmim)OH as a heterogeneous catalyst. Reactions were completed smoothly in the absence of any solvent at room temperature to obtain the corresponding spiropyrazole derivatives in excellent yields (Scheme 44c). In this reaction, the catalyst was fully recyclable and recorded no appreciable change in activity for 4-6 cycles [196].

Liu et al.,<sup>119</sup> revealed that phenylhydrazine efficiently react with alkyne and aromatic aldehydes to deliver 1,3,5-substituted pyrazole derivatives in the presence of p-toluenesulfonic acid (PTSA) as an active multifunctional catalyst at RT, but with long reaction time (8 h) leading to low yields (Scheme 45a) [197]. This synthesis method proceeded through the Mannich type–cyclization tandem process.

Recently, highly functionalized 1,3,5-trisubstituted pyrazoles were reported by intramolecular cyclization of aromatic aldehydes, phenylacetylene and phenylhydrazine in the presence of iodine as a catalyst in a aqueous medium reaction (Scheme 45b) [198]. All the target protocols were completed within 3 h at 60 °C with good to high yields (79–93%).



Scheme 44: Synthesis of spiropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazoles



Scheme 45: Synthesis of highly functionalized 1,3,5-trisubstituted pyrazole derivatives

## **1.4.3.** Pyrans

Pyrans are six membered oxygen containing heterocycles and are one of the most desired heterocycles. Their structural motif makes up numerous natural products, pharmaceuticals, advanced materials, catalysis and ligands. They exhibit a wide-range spectrum of activities with bio-, physio- and pharmacological properties [199]. They are beneficial compounds of importance in bio-organic and medicinal chemistry. Those can be used as precursors to synthesize chiral dihydro- and tetrahydropyrans. Pyrans generally are synthesized from cyclo-condensation of aldehydes,  $\beta$ -ketoester and malononitrile in alcohol [200]. The known natural products that contain a pyran core include Uvafzlelin, Conrauinone A, Erysenegalensein C, Cromakalim and Acronycine [201], these compounds display significant and diverse medicinal properties such as antibacterial [202], as potential 5-HT1A receptor antagonists [203] and anticancer agent [204]. Owing to the wide applications of pyran and their derivatives, designing and developing new methodologies for their synthesis have attracted attention from both synthetic and medicinal chemists [201]. The synthesis of pyrans that have been reported in the literature are mostly through multicomponent reaction methods. Among them are the following reactions (scheme 67-79) which successfully yielded different derivatives of pyrans.

Das and co-workers have described in good yield the synthesis of pyrano-pyrazole compounds namely, ethyl 6-amino-4-aryl-5-cyano-2,4-dihydropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylates by one-pot multi-component reaction employing aldehyde,  $\beta$ -napthol and indane-1,3-dione in the presence of ZnFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> nanopowder as catalyst, for the transformation into the desired product at RT under aqueous conditions (Scheme 46)[205].



Scheme 46: Synthesis ethyl 6-amino-4-aryl-5-cyano-2,4-dihydropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3carboxylates

Banerjee and Saha prepared tetrahydrobenzo[b]pyran compounds, by using nano free-ZnO, as a heterogeneous reusable catalyst used with a combination of aldehyde, malonitrile and dimedone in aqueous ethanol at RT. In this study, nano ZnO particles with its unique viscoelastic properties facilitated the reaction (Scheme 47) [206].



Scheme 47: Synthesis tetrahydrobenzo[b]pyran derivatives

Maleki and Ashrafi have synthesized heterocycles with a pyrazole moiety using Nano a- $Al_2O_3$  supported ammonium dihydrogen phosphate (NH<sub>4</sub>H<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>) as excellent catalysts and described the ease of recovery, reusability with the avoidance of environmentally inappropriate solvents. They synthesized the pharmaceutically relevant and easily work-up synthesis of tetrahydrobenzo[b]pyran and pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole derivatives with aromatic aldehyde, malononitrile and 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds in the presence of NH<sub>4</sub>H<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> in ethanolic medium under reflux conditions (Scheme 48)[207).

Safaei et al.,[208] have focused on the preparation of 4H-pyrans derivatives using glycerol as a biodegradable and reusable promoting solvent at 80 °C under catalyst-free conditions. The proposed mechanism suggested that the intermediates pyrazolone and 2-benzylidenemalononitrile formed underwent Michael addition to form the desired product through an environmentally benign procedure (Scheme 49).

Bora and coworkers showed a unique procedure for the preparation of medicinally viable polyfunctionalized 4*H*-pyrans, with lipase as catalysts. Ionic liquids are not congenial to many organic syntheses, but here the desired product was obtained by using cheap and stable catalyst, PPL as catalyst for the precursor's aryl aldehydes, malononitrile, acetyl acetone (Scheme 50) [209].



Scheme 48: Synthesis tetrahydrobenzo[b]pyran and pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole derivatives



Scheme 49: Synthesis of the 4H-pyran derivatives



Scheme 50: Synthesis of the polyfunctionalized 4H-pyran derivatives

Valizadeha and Azimi groups described the synthesis of 4H-pyrans using a nano ZnO/MgO heterogeneous catalyst. In this study the mixture ethylacetoacetatee, benzaldehyde, malononitrile, ZnO/MgO catalyst were reacted at RT under [bmim]BF<sub>4</sub> as a solvent. The protocol proposed here is an environmentally friendly procedure, including stable, easily storable, easy recovery and reusability of nanocatalyst (Scheme 51) [210].



Scheme 51: Synthesis of the 4*H*-pyran derivatives

Rajguru and coauthors have developed a convenient, efficient and environmentally benign method for pyrano[4,3-b]pyran derivatives starting with aromatic aldehyde, malononitrile and 4-hydroxy-6-methylpyran-2-one and using  $H_6P_2W_{18}O_{62}18H_2O$  as heterogeneous catalyst. The catalyst offers non-toxicity, ready availability and strong oxidizing benefits. The study revealed that 1 mol% of  $H_6P_2W_{18}O_{62}18H_2O$  is efficient to reach the desired outcome (Scheme 52) [211].



Scheme 52: Synthesis of the pyrano[4,3-b]pyran derivatives

Fang et al., have fabricated hermol-regulated PEG1000-based ionic liquid/EM and its catalytic behavior was identified with the preparation of 4*H*-pyrans containing organic compounds. The authors synthesized pyran derivatives through a one-pot, multi-component condensation of malonitrile, ethyl acetoacetate and aromatic aldehyde compounds in the presence of the catalyst. The used acidic ionic liquid catalyst was separated with help of temperature-dependent phase-separation catalytic field and re-used with no loss of catalytic activity (Scheme 53) [212].



Scheme 53: Synthesis of novel pyrazolo[3,4-d]pyrimidinone derivatives

Salvi et al., have investigated the preparation of tetrahydrobenzo[b]pyran derivatives employing a novel functionalized basic ionic liquid, 4-amino-1-(2,3-dihydroxy propyl) pyridinium hydroxide [ADPPY][OH]. The best condition for the preparation of tetrahydrobenzo[b]pyrans with good yields was reported to be with equal ratio of aryl aldehyde, malononitrile and dimedone in the presence of 10% catalyst at RT in the presence of water as a solvent (Scheme 54) [213].



Scheme 54: Synthesis of novel pyrazolo[3,4-d]pyrimidinone derivatives

Khoobi et al., prepared 4H-benzo[b]pyran and dihydropyrano[c]chromene derivatives by using basic non-volatile inorganic–organic hybrid magnetic nanocatalyst [ $\gamma$ -Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>@HAp-Si-(CH<sub>2</sub>)<sub>3</sub>-AMP], as heterogeneous catalyst under ambient conditions using an equal proportion of aromatic aldehyde, hydrazine hydrate, malononitrile and 4-hydroxycoumarin/ dimedone. The study showed that 1.5 mol% catalyst was optimum for the reaction in order to achieve 88% yield of the final product in 10 min reaction time (Scheme 55) [214].



Scheme 55: Synthesis of novel pyrazolo[3,4-d]pyrimidinone derivatives

Almansour and co-workers designed a facile method for the preparation of biologically active 4(H)-pyran derivatives by using sodium ethoxide as a basic catalyst. The results suggested that the catalyst works best for the reaction having the mixture of arylaldehyde, malononitrile and (R)-1-(1-phenylethyl)tetrahydro-4(1*H*)-pyridinone within short period of time to get the 4(H)-pyrans in good yield under solvent-free conditions (Scheme 56)[215].



Scheme 56: Synthesis of biologically active 4(H)-pyran derivatives

Dekamin et al., have prepared 2-amino-4H-pyran derivatives through one-pot, threecomponent condensation of aromatic aldehydes, malononitrile and 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds in ethanol solvent at 80 °C by using sodium alginate as biopolymeric green catalyst. In compliance with the green chemistry principles, optimum reaction conditions were reported as 80 °C, catalyst (10 mol%), green solvent, where the anticipated product was obtained in good to high yield within a short reaction time (Scheme 57) [216].



Scheme 57: Synthesis of 2-amino-4H-pyran derivatives

Kalla and co-workers have demonstrated the catalytic activity of dibutylamine towards the preparation of pyran derivatives from a one-pot, multi-component reaction of aromatic aldehydes, malononitrile and ethyl benzoylacetate. The authors proposed metal free organocatalysts for the organic transformations. This process offers more benefits, because it is mild, environmentally friendly, gives good to high yields in short reaction times. Moreover, the product did not necessitate separation via extraction and column chromatography (Scheme 58) [217].



Scheme 58: Synthesis of substituted pyran derivatives

Mosaddegh and his group have prepared pyrano[4,3-b]pyran derivatives by using novel and highly effective heterogeneous catalyst as an eggshell (ES) supported Cu(OH)<sub>2</sub> nanoribbons containing 8 wt.% Cu<sup>2+</sup>, and meet the principles of green chemistry. A mixture of malononitrile with aldehyde and 4-hydroxy-6-methyl-2H-pyran-2-one were subjected to reaction in 0.1 g of catalyst in EtOH with final product having good yields. The study also stressed the good compatibility of ES/Cu(OH)<sub>2</sub> nanocomposite catalyst for the aldehydes precursor organic transformations (Scheme 59) [218].



Scheme 59: Synthesis of novel pyrano[4,3-b]pyrans derivatives

Mansoor et al., have proposed thioureadioxide as an efficient, reusable organic catalyst for the synthesis of a series of 6-amino-5-cyano-4-aryl-2-methyl-4H-pyrans from the mixture of malononitrile, 4-hydroxycoumarin and aldehydes. Primarily thioureadioxide (10 mol%) catalyst was prepared from chemical precipitation method and at ambient conditions. The study revealed that the four component reaction in aqueous medium with this catalyst offers flexibility, fast and eco-friendly protocols (Scheme 60) [219].



Scheme 60: Synthesis of series of 6-amino-5-cyano-4-aryl-2-methyl-4H-pyran derivatives

A facile, efficient tetrahydrobenzo[b]-pyran derivative have been synthesized by Yang et al., [220]. This was done through a one-pot, three component reaction of active methylene compound and dimedone. [DABCO-PDO][CH<sub>3</sub>COO] was used to catalyze the reaction and reaction proceeded in the water solvent at 60 °C for 1 h (Scheme 61). The corresponding yields for the model reaction were satisfactory (83-95%).



Scheme 61: Synthesis of tetrahydrobenzo[b]-pyran derivatives

Zakeri and coworkers improved a reaction using an efficient, one-pot microwave irradiation procedure for the synthesis of spiro-4H-pyran derivatives. 4-Dimethylaminopyridine (DMAP) was used as organocatalyst for the reaction at reflux condition (Scheme 62) [221]. The reaction involved three component systems of malononitrile, isatin and 4-hydroxycoumarine (scheme 2) in the presence of aqueous solvent. The DMAP as catalyst gave 95% yield for this reaction and DMAP (5 mol%) was found optimal.



Scheme 62: Synthesis of novel spiro-4H-pyran derivatives

Ziarani et al. explored a green approach to synthesize novel spiro[indoline-3,4'pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole] derivatives in the absence of solvent-free condition. The reaction of onepot four-component between isatin, hydrazine hydrate, activated methylene compound and  $\beta$ keto ester (Scheme 63) proceeded well in the presence of an amino-functionalized nano-porous silica SBA-15 catalyst at RT for 30 min with moderate to good yield. This green protocol of the reaction is environmentally friendly and no waste was produced [222].

All the above reported reactions are carried out using with harsh reaction conditions, thus there is the need to develop such conditions in order to increase the reaction yields and efficiency of the protocol, these can be accomplished using with the various reusable heterogeneous catalysts at room temperature conditions.

## **1.5.** Objectives of the study

Aim of the study is to develop new heterogeneous materials with good activity as catalysts, to improve the efficiency of one-pot multicomponent protocols for synthesis of selected multi-substituted heterocyclic moieties, and to design facile protocols with improved efficacy using environmentally benign solvents under moderate conditions. The studies are focused on the development of appropriate catalyst materials and their characterization, and synthesis of six series of different heterocyclic compounds, namely

- i) Synthesis of 3-methyl-4-(phenyl)methylene-isoxazole-5(4H)-one derivatives
- ii) Synthesis of pyrano[2,3-d]-pyrimidine derivatives
- iii) Synthesis of 2-amino-3-cyano-4H-pyran derivatives
- iv) Synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazoles derivatives
- v) Synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylate derivatives
- vi) Synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazoles

## **1.6. References**

- V.I. Parvulescu and C. Hardacre. Catalysis in ionic liquids, *Chemical Reviews*. 2007, 107, 2615–2665.
- [2]. F. Cavani. Catalytic selective oxidation: The forefront in the challenge for a more sustainable chemical industry, *Catalysis Today*. 2010, 157, 8–15.
- [3]. J.M. Thomas and W.J. Thomas. Principles and practice of heterogeneous catalysis, *John Wiley & Sons*. 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, 11 Dec 2014.
- [4]. M. Campanati, G. Fornasari and A. Vaccari. Fundamentals in the preparation of heterogeneous catalysts, *Catalysis Today*. 2003, 77, 299–314.
- [5]. J. Liu. Advanced electron microscopy of metal–support interactions in supported metal catalysts, *ChemCatChem.* **2011**, *3*, 934–948.
- [6]. A. Baiker. Supercritical fluids in heterogeneous catalysis, *Chemical Reviews*. **1999**, *99*, 453–474.
- [7]. H.O. Bourbigou, L. Magna and D. Morvan. Ionic liquids and catalysis: Recent progress from knowledge to applications, *Applied Catalysis A: General.* **2010**, *373*, 1–56.
- [8]. J. J. Berzelius. Some ideas on a new force which acts in organic compounds. *Annales de Chimie et de Physique*. 1836, 61, 146–151.
- [9]. B. Lindstrom and L.J. Pettersson. A brief history of catalysis, *Cattech.* **2003**, *7*, 130–138.
- [10]. K Egeblad, J.R. Hansen, C.C. Marsden, E. Taarning and C.H. Christensen. Heterogeneous catalysis for production of value-added chemicals from biomass, *Catalysis*. 2009, 21, 13–50.
- [11]. H. Knözinger and K. Kochloefl. Heterogeneous catalysis and solid catalysts, Ullmann's Encyclopedia of Industrial Chemistry. 2003.
- [12]. C. Song. Global challenges and strategies for control, conversion and utilization of CO2 for sustainable development involving energy, catalysis, adsorption and chemical processing, *Catalysis Today*. 2006, 115, 2–32.
- [13]. A.G. Whittaker and D.M.P. Mingos. Arcing and other microwave characteristics of metal powders in liquid systems, *Journal of Chemical Society*, *Dalton Transactions*. 2000, 1521–1526.

- [14]. M.H.C.L. Dressen, B.H.P. van de Kruijs, J. Meuldijk, J.A.J.M. Vekemans and L.A. Hulshof. Vanishing Microwave Effects: Influence of Heterogeneity, *Organic Process Research & Development*. 2007, 11, 865–869.
- [15]. A. Dastan, A. Kulkarni and B. Torok. Environmentally benign synthesis of heterocyclic compounds by combined microwave-assisted heterogeneous catalytic approaches, *Green Chemistry*. 2012, 14, 17–37.
- [16]. J.D. Moseley and C.O. Kappe. A critical assessment of the greenness and energy efficiency of microwave-assisted organic synthesis, *Green Chemistry*. **2011**, *13*, 794–806.
- [17]. A.J. Smith and D.L. Trimm. The preparation of skeletal catalysts, Annual Reviews of Material Research. 2005, 35, 127–147.
- [18]. I. Fechete, Y. Wang and J.C. Védrine. The past, present and future of heterogeneous catalysis, *Catalysis Today*. 2012, 189, 2–27.
- [19]. J.C. Védrine. Revisiting active sites in heterogeneous catalysis: Their structure and their dynamic behavior, *Applied Catalysis A: General.* **2014**, *474*, 40–50.
- [20]. A.T. Bell. The Impact of Nanoscience on Heterogeneous Catalysis, *Science*. 2003, 299, 1688-1691.
- [21]. P.M. Arvelaa, B. Holmboma, T. Salmia and D.Y. Murzina. Recent progress in synthesis of fine and specialty chemicals from wood and other biomass by heterogeneous catalytic processes. *Catalysis Reviews*, **2007**, *49*, 197–340.
- [22]. P.M. Arvela, B. Holmbom, T. Salmi and D.Y. Murzin. Recent progress in synthesis of fine and specialty chemicals from wood and other biomass by heterogeneous catalytic processes, *Catalysis Reviews*. 2007, 49, 197–340.
- [23]. N.M. Julkapli and S. Bagheri. Graphene supported heterogeneous catalysts: An overview, *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*. 2015, 40, 948–979.
- [24]. T.G. Gutowski, S. Sahni, A. Boustani and S.C. Graves. Remanufacturing and energy savings, *Environmental Science & Technology*. 2011, 45, 4540–4547.
- [25]. G.D. Yadav. Insight into green phase transfer catalysis, *Topics in Catalysis*. 2004, 29, 145-161.
- [26]. G.D. Yadav and S.V. Lande. Liquid-Liquid-Liquid phase transfer catalysis: A novel and green concept for selective reduction of substituted nitroaromatics, *Advanced Synthesis & Catalysis*. 2005, 347, 1235–1241.

- [27]. Q.H. Xia, H.Q. Ge, C.P. Ye, Z.M. Liu and K.X. Su. Advances in homogeneous and heterogeneous catalytic asymmetric epoxidation, *Chemical Reviews*. 2005, 105, 1603– 1662.
- [28]. A. Taguchi and F. Schuth. Ordered mesoporous materials in catalysis, *Microporous and Mesoporous Materials*. 2005, 77, 1–45
- [29]. B.K. Horderna, M. Ziółekb and J. Nawrocki. Catalytic ozonation and methods of enhancing molecular ozone reactions in water treatment, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental.* 2003, 46, 639–669.
- [30]. R.J. White, R. Luque, V.L. Budarin, J.H. Clark and D. Macquarrie. Supported metal nanoparticles on porous materials, *Chemical Society Reviews*. **2009**, *38*, 481–494.
- [31]. L. Ma, C. Abney and W. Lin. Enantioselective catalysis with hemochorial metal–organic frameworks, *Chemical Society Reviews*. 2009, 38, 1248–1256.
- [32]. N.B. McKeown and P.M. Budd. Polymers of intrinsic micro porosity (PIMs): Organic materials for membrane separations, heterogeneous catalysis and hydrogen storage, *Chemical Society Reviews*. 2006, 35, 675–683.
- [33]. D. Astruc, F. Lu and J.R. Aranzaes. Nanoparticles as recyclable catalysts: The frontier between homogeneous and heterogeneous catalysis, *Angewandte Chemie International Edition.* 2005, 44, 7852–7872.
- [34]. M. Zabeti, W.M.A.W. Daud and M. K. Aroua. Activity of solid catalysts for biodiesel production: A review, *Fuel Processing Technology*. 2009, 90, 770–777.
- [35]. A. Taguchi and F. Schüth. Ordered mesoporous materials in catalysis, *Microporous and Mesoporous Materials*. 2005, 77, 1–45.
- [36]. S.T Oyama. Novel catalysts for advanced hydro processing: transition metal phosphides, *Journal of Catalysis*. 2003, 216, 343–352.
- [37]. C.H. Bartholomew. Mechanisms of catalyst deactivation, *Applied Catalysis A: General.* **2001**, *212*, 17–60.
- [38]. M.J. Ledoux, C.P. Huu and S. Carbide. A novel catalyst support for heterogeneous catalysis, *Catalysis Technology*. **2001**, *5*, 226–246.
- [39]. G.C. Bond. Supported metal catalysts: some unsolved problems, *Chemical Society Reviews*. **1991**, *20*, 441–475.

- [40]. E. Auer, A. Freund, J. Pietsch and T. Tacke. Carbons as supports for industrial precious metal catalysts, *Applied Catalysis A: General.* 1998, 173, 259–271.
- [41]. L.D. Pachón and G. Rothenberg. Transition-Metal nanoparticles: synthesis, stability and the leaching issue, *Applied Organometallic Chemistry*. **2008**, *22*, 288–299.
- [42]. G.C. Bond. Metal-catalysed reactions of hydrocarbons. Book of *Fundamental and Applied Catalysis*. 2005.
- [43]. A. Luque, A. Martí1, N. López, E. Antolín, E. Cánovas, C. Stanley, C. Farmer and P. Díaz. Operation of the intermediate band solar cell under nonideal space charge region conditions and half filling of the intermediate band, *Journal of Applied Physics*. 2006, 99, 94503–94512.
- [44]. N.R. Shiju and V.V. Guliants. Recent developments in catalysis using nanostructured materials, *Applied Catalysis A: General.* 2009, 356, 1–17.
- [45]. J.H. Sinfelt. Catalysis by alloys and bimetallic clusters, *Accounts of Chemical Research*. 1977, 10, 15–20.
- [46]. B. Coq and F. Figueras. Bimetallic palladium catalysts: influence of the co-metal on the catalyst performance, *Journal of Molecular Catalysis A: Chemical.* **2001**, *173*, 117–134.
- [47]. T. Mallat and A. Baiker. Oxidation of alcohols with molecular oxygen on solid catalysts, *Chemical Reviews*. 2004, 104, 3037–3058.
- [48]. M.V. Twigg and M.S. Spencer. Deactivation of supported copper metal catalysts for hydrogenation reactions, *Applied Catalysis A: General.* 2001, 212, 161–174.
- [49]. S. Bernal, J.J. Calvino, M.A. Cauqui, J.M. Gatica, C. López Cartes, J.A. Pérez Omil, and J.M. Pintado. Some contributions of electron microscopy to the characterisation of the strong metal–support interaction effect, *Catalysis Today*. 2003, 77, 385–406.
- [50]. Y. Shao, J. Liu, Y. Wang and Y. Lin. Novel catalyst support materials for PEM fuel cells: current status and future prospects, *Journal of Material Chemistry*. 2009, 19, 46-59.
- [51]. S. J. Tauster. Strong metal-support interactions, *Accounts Chemical Research*. 1987, 20, 389–394.
- [52]. R.R. Chianelli. Fundamental studies of transition metal sulfide hydrodesulfurization catalysts, *Catalysis Reviews: Science and Engineering*. **1984**, *26*, 361–393

- [53]. G.R. Jenness and J. R. Schmidt. Unraveling the role of metal-support interactions in heterogeneous catalysis: Oxygenate selectivity in fischer-tropsch synthesis, ACS Catalysis. 2013, 3, 2881–2890.
- [54]. S. J. Tauster. Strong metal-support interactions, *Accounts of Chemical Research*. 1987, 20, 389-394.
- [55]. W.C. Conner and J.L. Falconer. Spillover in heterogeneous catalysis, *Chemical Reviews*. 1995, 95, 759–788.
- [56]. A.Y. Stakheev and L.M Kustov. Effects of the support on the morphology and electronic properties of supported metal clusters: modern concepts and progress in 1990s, *Applied Catalysis A: General.* 1999, 188, 3–35.
- [57] S.A. Stevenson, R.T.K. Baker, J.A. Dumesic and E. Ruckenstein. "Metal-support interations in catalysis, sintering and redispersion", *Van Nostrand Reinhold Catalysis Series*. New York 1987.
- [58]. K.P.D. Jong and J.W. Geus. Carbon Nanofibers: Catalytic synthesis and applications, *Catalysis Reviews-Science and Engneering*. 2000, 42, 481–510.
- [59]. N. Zheng and G.D. Stucky. A general synthetic strategy for oxide-supported metal nanoparticle catalysts, *Jouranl of the American Chemical Society*. **2006**, *128*, 14278–14280.
- [60]. G.C. Vhinchen, M.S. Spencer, K.W. Waugh and D.A. Whan. Promotion of methanol synthesis and the water-gas shift reactions by adsorbed oxygen on supported copper catalysts, *Jouranal of Chemical Society*. Paraday Trans 1987, 83, 2193–2212.
- [61]. R.L. Whetten, D.M. Cox, D.J. Trevor and A. Kaldor. Correspondence between electron binding energy and chemisorption reactivity of iron clusters, *Physical Review Letters*. 1985, 54, 1494–1503.
- [62]. Z. Xu, F.S. Xiao, S.K. Purnell, O. Alexeev, S. Kawi, S.E. Deutsch and B.C. Gates. Sizedependent catalytic activity of supported metal clusters, *Nature*. **1994**, *372*, 346–348.
- [63]. M. Che and C.O. Bennett. The Influence of Particle Size on the Catalytic Properties of Supported Metals, *Advance in Catalysis*. **1989**, *36*, 55–172.
- [64]. M. Boudart. Catalysis by Supported Metals, Advance in Catalysis. 1969, 20, 153–166.
- [65]. V. Polshettiwar and R.S. Varma. Green chemistry by nano-catalysis, *Green Chemistry*.
  2010, 12, 743–754.

- [66]. N.R. Shiju, and V.V. Guliants. Recent developments in catalysis using nanostructured materials, *Applied Catalysis A: General.* **2009**, *356*, 1–17.
- [67]. T. Mallat and A. Baiker. Oxidation of alcohols with molecular oxygen on solid catalysts, *Chemical Reviews*. 2004, 104, 3037–3058.
- [68]. T.B. Poulsen and K.A. Jørgensen. Catalytic asymmetric friedel-crafts alkylation reactions-copper showed the way, *Chemical Reviews*. 2008, 108, 2903–2915.
- [69]. M.C. Clark and B. Subramaniam. Extended alkylate production activity during fixed-bed supercritical 1-butene/Isobutane alkylation on solid acid catalysts using carbon dioxide as a diluent, *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*. **1998**, *37*, 1243–1250.
- [70]. C. Song. An overview of new approaches to deep desulfurization for ultra-clean gasoline, diesel fuel and jet fuel, *Catalysis Today*. 2003, 86, 211–263.
- [71]. B.S Ghotra. S.D. Dyal and S.S. Narine. Lipid shortenings: a review, Food Research International. 2002, 35, 1015–1048.
- [72]. V.B. Borugadda and V.V. Goud. Biodiesel production from renewable feedstocks: Status and opportunities. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*. **2012**, *16*, 4763–4784.
- [73]. S.A. Teichert and C.C. Akoh. Stearidonic acid soybean oil enriched with palmitic acid at the sn-2 position by enzymatic interesterification for use as human milk fat analogues, *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*. 2011, 59, 5692–5701.
- [74]. S.S. Stahl. Palladium oxidase catalysis: Selective oxidation of organic chemicals by direct dioxygen-coupled turnover, *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*. 2004, 43, 3400–3420.
- [75]. G.A. Molander. Application of lanthanide reagents in organic synthesis, *Chemical. Reviews.* **1992**, *92*, 29–68.
- [76]. A. Taguchi and F. Schüth. Ordered mesoporous materials in catalysis, *Microporous and Mesoporous Materials*. 2005, 77, 1–45.
- [77]. A. Corma, H. García and F.X.L. Xamena. Engineering metal organic frameworks for heterogeneous catalysis, *Chemical Reviews*. 2010, 110, 4606–4655.
- [78]. F. Portaa, L. Pratia, M. Rossia, S. Colucciab and G. Martra. Metal sols as a useful tool for heterogeneous gold catalyst preparation: reinvestigation of a liquid phase oxidation, *Catalysis Today.* 2000, 61, 165–172.

- [79]. A. Campion and P. Kambhampati. Surface-enhanced Raman scattering, *Chemical Society Reviews*. 1998, 27, 241–250.
- [80] J.C. Warner, A.S. Cannon and K.M. Dye. Green chemistry, *Environmental Impact* Assessment Review. **2004**, *24*, 775–799.
- [81]. M.A. Mironov. Design of multi-component reactions: from libraries of compounds to libraries of reactions, QSAR & Combinatorial Science. 2006, 25, 423–431.
- [82]. B. Ganem. Strategies for innovation in multicomponent reaction design, Accounts of Chemical Research. 2009, 42, 463–472.
- [83]. L. Weber, K. Illgen and M. Almstetter. Discovery of new multi component reactions with combinatorial methods, *Synlett.* **1999**, *3*, 366–374.
- [84]. C.M.R. Volla, I. Atodiresei and M. Rueping. Catalytic C–C bond-forming multicomponent cascade or domino reactions: Pushing the boundaries of complexity in asymmetric organocatalysis, *Chemical Reviews*. 2014, 114, 2390–2431.
- [85]. A. Dömling. Recent developments in isocyanide based multicomponent reactions in applied chemistry, *Chemical Reviews*. 2006, 106, 17–89.
- [86]. D.J. Ramón and M. Yus. Asymmetric multicomponent reactions (AMCRs): The new frontier, Angewandte Chemie International Edition. 2005, 44, 1602–1634.
- [87]. D.S. Tan. Diversity-oriented synthesis: exploring the intersections between chemistry and biology, *Nature Chemical Biology*. 2005, 1, 74–84.
- [88]. A. Dömling, W. Wang and K. Wang. Chemistry and biology of multicomponent reactions, *Chemical Reviews*. 2012, 112, 3083–3135.
- [89]. J. Andraos. Unification of reaction metrics for green chemistry II: Evaluation of named organic reactions and application to reaction discovery, *Organic Process Research and Development*. 2005, 9, 404–431.
- [90]. D. Dallinger and C.O. Kappe. Microwave-assisted synthesis in water as solvent, *Chemical Reviews.* **2007**, *107*, 2563–2591.
- [91]. A. Strecker. Ueber die künstliche Bildung der Milchsäure und einen neuen, dem Glycocoll homologen Körper, *Liebigs Annalen der Chemie*. **1850**, *75*, 27–45.
- [92]. A. Hantzsch. Ueber die Synthese pyridinartiger Verbindungen aus Acetessigäther und Aldehydammoniak, *Liebigs Annalen der Chemie*. 1882, 215, 1–82.

- [93]. R. Robinson. LXXV. A theory of the mechanism of the phytochemical synthesis of certain alkaloids, *Jouranal of the Chemical Society*. 1917, 111, 876–899.
- [94]. M. Arend, B. Westermann and N. Risch. Modern Variants of the Mannich Reaction, Angewandte Chemie International Edition. **1998**, *37*, 1044–1070.
- [95]. M. Passerini. New progresses of multicomponent reactions based on isocyanides Gazzetta Chimica Italiana. 1921, 51, 126–129.
- [96]. H. Bergs. Domino reactions in organic synthesis. DE-B. 1929, 566,094,
- [97]. L.F. Tietze, and N. Rackelmann. In multicomponent reactions; Zhu, J.; Bienayme, H., Eds.; Chapter 5, Wiley-VCH: Weinheim. 2005,
- [98]. N. Mase, F. Tanaka, C.F. Barbas, and K. Miura. Synthesis of β-Hydroxyaldehydes with Stereogenic Quaternary Carbon Centers by Direct Organocatalytic Asymmetric Aldol Reactions Angewandte Chemi International Edition. 2004, 43, 2420–2423.
- [99]. J.B. Urgoiti, L. Anorbe, L. Perez-Serrano, G. Dominguez and J. Perez-Castells. The Pauson–Khand reaction, a powerful synthetic tool for the synthesis of complex molecules, *chemical Society Reviews*. 2004, *33*, 32–42.
- [100]. L.M. Harwood, G.S. Currie, M.G.B. Drew and R.W.A. Luke. Asymmetry in the boronic acid Mannich reaction: diastereocontrolled addition to chiral iminium species derived from aldehydes and (S)-5-phenylmorpholin-2-one, *Chemical Communications*. 1996, 1953-1954.
- [101]. M. Passerini. Gazzetta Chimica Italiana. 1921, 51, 126-129.
- [102]. M. Adib, E.Sheikhi and M. Azimzadeh. A new modification of the Passerini reaction: A one-pot synthesis of a-acyloxyamides via sequential kornblum oxidation/passerini reaction, *Tetrahedron Letters*. 2015, 56, 1933–1936.
- [103]. P. Biginelli. Derivati aldeidureidici degli eteri acetil-ed ossalacetico. Gazzetta Chimica Italiana. 1893, 23, 360-413.
- [104]. Z.L. Zhou, P.C. Wang and M. Lu. Bronsted acidic ionic liquid [C<sub>3</sub>SO<sub>3</sub>HDoim]HSO<sub>4</sub> catalysed one-pot three-component biginelli-type reaction: An efficient and solvent-free synthesis of pyrimidinone derivatives and its mechanistic study, *Chinese Chemical Letters*. 2016, 27, 226–230.

- [105]. M.G. Dekamin and Z. Mokhtari. Highly efficient and convenient Strecker reaction of carbonyl compounds and amines with TMSCN catalysed by MCM-41 anchored sulfonic acid as a recoverable catalyst, *Tetrahedron*. 2012, 68, 922–930.
- [106]. H. Ghafuri and M. Roshani. Aqueous formic acid: an efficient, inexpensive and environmentally friendly organocatalyst for three-component Strecker synthesis of  $\alpha$ -aminonitriles and imines with excellent yields, *RSC Advances*. **2014**, *4*, 58280–58286.
- [107]. A. Hantzsch. Ueber die Synthese pyridinartiger Verbindungen aus Acetessigäther und Aldehydammoniak, *Justus Liebigs Annalen der Chemie*. **1882**, 215, 1–82.
- [108]. O.D. Alessandro, Á. G. Sathicq, J.E. Sambeth, H.J. Thomas, and G.P. Romanelli. A study of the temperature effect on Hantzsch reaction selectivity using Mn and Ce oxides under solvent-free conditions, *Catalysis Communications*. 2015, 60, 65–69.
- [109]. C. Mannich. Eine Synthese von β-Ketonbasen, Archiv der Pharmazie. 1917, 255, 261–276.
- [110]. S.R.S. Reddy, B.R.P. Reddy and P.V.G. Reddy. Chitosan: highly efficient, green, and reusable biopolymer catalyst for the synthesis of alkylaminophenols via Petasis borono– mannich reaction, *Tetrahedron Letters*. 2015, 56, 4984–4989.
- [111]. E.K. Fields. The synthesis of esters of substituted amino phosphonic acids1a, *Journal of the American Chemical Society*. 1952, 74, 1528–1531.
- [112]. H. Ghafuri, A. Rashidizadeh and H.E. Zand. Highly efficient solvent free synthesis of aaminophosphonates catalysed by recyclable nanomagnetic sulfated zirconia (Fe<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub>@ZrO<sub>2</sub>/SO<sub>4</sub>), *RSC Advances*. **2016**, *6*, 16046–16054.
- [113] I. Ugi, R. Meyr, U. Fetzer and C. Steinbrückner. Versuche mit isonitrilen. Angewandte Chemie. 1959, 71, 386–388.
- [114]. D. Yuan, Z. Duan, Y. Rao and M.W. Ding. New efficient synthesis of isoquinoline-1,3(2H,4H)-diones and isoindolin-1-ones via sequential ugi/cyclization reaction, *Tetrahedron.* 2016, 72, 338–346.
- [115]. N.A. Petasis and I. Akritopoulou. The boronic acid mannich reaction: A new method for the synthesis of geometrically pure allylamines, *Tetrahedron Letters*. **1993**, *34*, 583–586.
- [116]. N.A. Petasis, N. A. In multicomponent reactions; Zhu, J.; Bienayme, H., Eds.; Wiley-VCH:Weinheim. Chapter 7, Germany, 2005.

- [117]. K. Gewald, E. Schinke and H. Böttcher. Heterocyclen aus CH-aciden Nitrilen, VIII. 2-Amino-thiophene aus methylenaktiven nitrilen, carbonylverbindungen und schwefel, *Chemische Berichte*. **1966**, *99*, 94–100.
- [118]. K. Wang, D. Kim and A. Dömling. Cyanoacetamide MCR (III): Three-Component Gewald Reactions Revisited, *Journal of combinatorial chemistry*. 2010, 12, 111–118.
- [119]. R.W. Sabnis, D.W. Rangnekar and N.D. Sonawane. 2-Aminothiophenes by the gewald reaction, *Journal of Heterocyclic Chemistry*. **1999**, *36*, 333–345.
- [120]. X.G. Huang, J. Liu, J. Ren, T. Wang, W. Chen and B.B. Zeng. A facile and practical onepot synthesis of multisubstituted 2-aminothiophenes via imidazole-catalysed Gewald reaction, *Tetrahedron*. 2011, 67, 6202–6205.
- [121]. A.M.V. Leusen, J. Wildeman and O.H. Oldenziel. Chemistry of sulfonylmethyl isocyanides. 12. Base-induced cycloaddition of sulfonylmethyl isocyanides to carbon,nitrogen double bonds. Synthesis of 1,5-disubstituted and 1,4,5-trisubstituted imidazoles from aldimines and imidoyl chlorides, *Journal of Organic Chemistry*. 1977, 42, 1153–1159.
- [122]. F. Asinger. Über die gemeinsame Einwirkung von Schwefel und Ammoniak auf Ketone, Angewandte Chemie. 1956, 68, 413–423.
- [123]. N. Devi, R. K. Rawal and V. Singh. Diversity-oriented synthesis of fused-imidazole derivatives via Groebke–Blackburn–Bienayme reaction: a review, *Tetrahedron* 2015, 71, 183-232.
- [124]. G. Martinez-Ariza, M. Ayaz, F. Medda and C. Hulme. Synthesis of diverse nitrogenenriched heterocyclic scaffolds using a suite of tunable one-pot multicomponent reactions, *The Journal of Organic Chemistry*. 2014, 79, 5153–5162.
- [125]. R. G. Murray, D. M. Whitehead, F.L. Strat and S. J. Conway. Facile one-pot synthesis of 5-substituted hydantoins, *Organic & biomolecular chemistry* 2008, 6, 988–991.
- 126]. N. Isambert, M.M.S. Duque, J.C. Plaquevent, Y. Génisson, J. Rodriguez and T. Constantieux. Multicomponent reactions and ionic liquids: a perfect synergy for eco-compatible heterocyclic synthesis, *Chemical Society Reviews*. 2011, 40, 1347–1357.
- [127]. B. Jiang, T. Rajale, W. Wever and S.J.T.G. Li. Multicomponent reactions for the synthesis of heterocycles, *Chemistry An Asian Journal*. 2010, 5, 2318–2335.

- [128]. M.E. Welsch, S.A. Snyder and B.R. Stockwell. Privileged scaffolds for library design and drug discovery, *Current Opinion in Chemical Biology*. 2010, 14, 347–361.
- [129]. N.R. Candeias, L.C. Branco, P.M.P.Gois, C.A.M. Afonso and A.F. Trindade. More sustainable approaches for the synthesis of n-based heterocycles, *Chemical Reviews*. 2009, 109, 2703–2802.
- [130]. M.B. Gawande, V.D.B. Bonifácio, R.P.S. Branco and R.S. Varma. Benign by design: catalyst-free in-water, on-water green chemical methodologies in organic synthesis, *Chemical Society Reviews.* 2013, 42, 5522–5551.
- [131]. I.T. Horváth and P.T. Anastas. Innovations and green chemistry, *Chemical Reviews*. 2007, 107, 2169–2173.
- [132]. V. Polshettiwar and R.S. Varma. Aqueous microwave chemistry: a clean and green synthetic tool for rapid drug discovery, *Chemical Society Reviews*. **2008**, *37*, 1546–1557.
- [133]. Z. Li, H. Chen, H. Bao, and M. Gao. One-pot reaction to synthesize water-soluble magnetite nanocrystals, *Chemistry of Materials*. 2004, 16, 1391–1393.
- [134]. M.J. Climent, A. Corma and S. Iborra. Homogeneous and heterogeneous catalysts for multicomponent reactions, *RSC Advances*. 2012, 2, 16–58.
- [135]. I.V. Seregin and V. Gevorgyan. Direct transition metal-catalysed functionalization of heteroaromatic compounds, *Chemical Society Reviews*. 2007, 36, 1173–1193.
- [136]. C.J. Li. Organic reactions in aqueous media with a focus on carbon-carbon bond formations: A decade update, *Chemical Reviews*. 2005, 105, 3095–3166.
- [137]. M. Dabiria, P. Salehib, M. Baghbanzadeha and M. Bahramnejad. A facile procedure for the one-pot synthesis of unsymmetrical 2,5-disubstituted 1,3,4-oxadiazoles, *Tetrahedron Letters*. 2006, 47, 6983–6986.
- [138]. R. Dua, S. Shrivastava, S.K. Sonwane and S.K. Srivastava. Pharmacological significance of synthetic heterocycles scaffold: A review, Advances in Biological Research. 2011, 5, 120–144.
- [139]. A.R. Katritzky. Introduction: Heterocycles, Chemical Reviews. 2004, 104, 2125–2126.
- [140]. A.R. Katritzky, C.A. Ramsden, J.A. Joule and V.V. Zhdankin. Handbook of Heterocyclic Chemistry, 3<sup>rd</sup> edition, 2010.
- [141]. J.Y. Ortholand and A. Ganesan. Natural products and combinatorial chemistry: Back to the future, *Current Opinion in Chemical Biology*. 2004, 8, 271–280.

- [142]. L.A. Wessjohann, D.G. Rivera and O.E. Vercillo. Multicomponent macrocyclizations (MiBs): A strategic development toward macrocycle diversity, *Chemical Reviews*. 2009, 109, 796–814.
- [143]. M.S. Mustafa, A.V. Nair, P.J. Chittoor and K. Sreekumar. Synthesis of 1, 2, 4-triazoles and thiazoles from thiosemicarbazide and its derivatives, *Mini-Reviews in Organic Chemistry.* 2004, 1, 375–385.
- [144]. E. Vitaku, D.T. Smith and J.T. Njardarson. Analysis of the structural diversity, substitution patterns, and frequency of nitrogen heterocycles among U.S. FDA approved pharmaceuticals, *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*. 2014, 57, 10257–10274.
- [145]. M.P. Nemeryuk and T.S. Safonova. Nitrogen- and sulfur-containing heterocycles. XIX.
   7H-4-chloro-6-aryl- and 5H-pyrimido-[4,5-b][1,4]thiazines, *Chemistry of Heterocyclic Compounds*. 1971, 7, 70–73.
- [146]. H. Kano, I. Adachi, R.Kido, K. Hirose. Isoxazoles. XVIII. Synthesis and pharmacological properties of 5-aminoalkyl- and 3-aminoalkylisoxazoles and related derivatives, *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*. **1967**, *10*, 411–418.
- [147]. K.A. Kumar, D.M. Lokeshwari, G. Pavithr and G.V. Kumar. 1,2,4-Oxadiazoles: A potential pharmacological agents-An overview, *Research Journal of Pharmacy and Technology*. 2012, 5, 1490–1496.
- [148]. G. Hajós, Z.Riedl1 and G. Kollenz. Recent advances in ring transformations of fivemembered heterocycles and their fused derivatives, *European Journal of Organic Chemistry*. 2001, 18, 3405–3414.
- [149]. K.A. Kumar and P. Jayaroopa. Isoxazoles: molecules with potential medicinal properties, *International Journal of Pharmaceutical, Chemical and Biology Sciences*. 2013, 3, 294–304.
- [150]. G.J. Yu, S. Iwamoto, L.I. Robins, J.C. Fettinger, T.C. Sparks, B.A. Lorsbach and M.J. Kurth. 3-(Arylthiomethyl)-isoxazole-4,5-dicarboxamides: Chemo selective nucleophilic chemistry and insecticidal activity, *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*. 2009, 57, 7422–7426.
- [151]. E.A. Musad, R. Mohamed, B.A. Saeed, B.S. Vishwanath and K.M.L. Rai. Synthesis and evaluation of antioxidant and antibacterial activities of new substituted bis(1,3,4-
oxadiazoles), 3,5-bis(substituted) pyrazoles and isoxazoles, *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters*. **2011**, *21*, 3536–3540.

- [152]. R.M. Kumbhare, U.B. Kosurkar, M. J. Ramaiah, T.L. Dadmal, S. N. C. V. L. Pushpavalli and M.P. Bhadra. Synthesis and biological evaluation of novel triazoles and isoxazoles linked 2-phenyl benzothiazole as potential anticancer agents *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters.* 2012, 22, 5424–5427.
- [153]. M.M.M. Santos, N. Faria, J. Iley, S.J. Coles, M.B. Hursthouse, M.L. Martins and R. Moreira. Reaction of naphthoquinones with substituted nitromethanes. Facile synthesis and antifungal activity of naphtha-[2,3-d]isoxazole-4,9-diones, *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters*. 2010, 20, 193–195.
- [154]. J. Mao, H. Yuan, Y. Wang, B. Wan, M. Pieroni, Q. Huang, R.B. Breemen A.P. Kozikowski and S.G. Franzblau. From serendipity to rational anti-tuberculosis drug Discovery of mefloquine-isoxazole carboxylic acid esters, *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*. 2009, 52, 6966–6978.
- [155]. J.P. Waldo, S. Mehta, B. Neuenswander, G.H. Lushington and R.C. Larock. Solution phase synthesis of a diverse library of highly substituted isoxazoles. *Journal Combinatorial Chemistry*. 2008, 10, 658–663.
- [156]. A. Balsamo, I. Coletta, A. Guglielmotti, C. Landolfi, F. Mancini, A. Martinelli, C. Milanese, F. Minutolo, S. Nencetti, E. Orlandini, M. Pinza, S. Rapposelli and A. Rossello. Synthesis of heteroaromatic analogues of (2-aryl-1-cyclopentenyl-1-alkylidene)-(arylmethyloxy)-amine COX-2 inhibitors: Effects on the inhibitory activity of the replacement of the cyclopentene central core with pyrazole, thiophene or isoxazole ring, *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*. **2003**, *38*, 157–168.
- [157]. S. Kankala, R. K. Kankala, P. Gundepaka, N. Thota, S. Nerella, M.R. Gangula, H. Guguloth, M. K. R. Vadde and C.S. Vasam. Regioselective synthesis of isoxazole– mercaptobenzimidazole hybrids and their in vivo analgesic and anti-inflammatory activity studies, *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters*. 2013, 23, 1306–1309.
- [158]. N. Iranpoor, H. Firouzabadi and E.E. Davan. Phosphine- and copper-free palladium catalysed one-pot fourcomponent carbonylation reaction for the synthesis of isoxazoles and pyrazoles, *Tetrahedron Letters*. 2016, 57, 837–840.

- [159]. Q. Liu and X. Hou. One-pot three-component synthesis of 3-methyl-4arylmethylene-isoxazol-5(4H)-ones catalysed by sodium sulfide, *Phosphorus, Sulfur,* and Silicon and the Related Elements. 2012, 187, 448–453,
- [160]. Q. Liu and R.T. Wu. Facile synthesis of 3-methyl-4-arylmethylene-isoxazol-5(4H)ones catalysed by sodium silicate in an aqueous medium, *Journal of Chemical Research*. 2011, 35, 598–599.
- [161]. A.A. Dissanayake and A.L. Odom. Regioselective conversion of alkynes to 4substituted and 3,4-disubstituted isoxazoles using titanium-catalysed multicomponent coupling reactions, *Tetrahedron*. 2012, 68, 807–812.
- [162]. K. Ablajan and H. Xiamuxi. Efficient one-pot synthesis of β-unsaturated isoxazol-5-ones and pyrazol-5-ones under ultrasonic irradiation, *Synthetic Communications*. 2012, 1, 1128–1136,
- [163]. S.B. Bharate, A.K. Padala, B.A. Dar, R. R. Yadav, B. Singh and R.A. Vishwakarma. Montmorillonite clay Cu(II) catalysed domino one-pot multicomponent synthesis of 3,5disubstituted isoxazoles, *Tetrahedron Letters*. 2013, 54, 3558–3561.
- [164]. M.H. Farjam and S.A. Salmanabadi. An efficient one-pot synthesis of highly fanctionalized isoxazoles, *APCBEE Procedia*. **2012**, *3*, 167–171.
- [165]. F. Saikh, J. Das and S. Ghosh. Synthesis of 3-methyl-4-arylmethylene isoxazole-5(4H)ones by visible light in aqueous ethanol, *Tetrahedron Letters*. **2013**, *54*, 4679–4682.
- [166]. E. Soleimani, H. Yazdani and P. Saei. Synthesis of spiro 3-bromo-4,5-dihydroisoxazoles via [1,3]dipolar cycloaddition reactions, *Tetrahedron Letters*. 2015, 56, 1635–1637.
- [167]. M.M. Bassaco, M.P. Fortes, D.F. Back, T.S. Kaufman and C.C. Silveira. An eco-friendly synthesis of novel 3,5-disubstituted-1,2-isoxazoles in PEG-400, employing the Et3Npromoted hydroamination of symmetric and unsymmetric-1,3-diyne-indole derivatives, *RSC Advances*. 2014, 4, 60785–60797.
- [168]. M. Mirzazadeh and G.H. Mahdavinia. Fast and efficient synthesis of 4- arylidene-3phenylisoxazol-5-ones, *E-Journal of Chemistry*. **2012**, *9*, 425–429.
- [169]. H. Kiyani and F. Ghorbani. Efficient tandem synthesis of a variety of pyranannulated heterocycles, 3,4-disubstituted isoxazol-5(4H)-ones, and  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated nitriles catalysed by potassium hydrogen phthalate in water, *Research on Chemical Intermediates*. **2015**, *41*, 7847–7882.

- [170]. L. Knorr. Einwirkung von acetessigester auf hydrazinchinizinderivate, *Chemische*. *Berichte*. 1883, 17, 546–552.
- [171]. R. Nagamallu, B. Srinivasan, M.B. Ningappa and A.K. Kariyapp. Synthesis of novel coumarin appended bis(formylpyrazole) derivatives: Studies on their antimicrobial and antioxidant activities, *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters*. 2016, 26, 690-694.
- [172]. T. Curtius and F. Wirsing. Derivate des diamids mit geschlossener Atomgruppirung II. Abhandlung Ueber das Pyrazolin und einige seiner Derivate, *Journal Fur Praktische Chemie*. 1894, 50, 531–554.
- [173]. P. Singh, K. Paul and W. Holzer. Synthesis of pyrazole-based hybrid molecules: search for potent multidrug resistance modulators. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry*. 2006, 14, 5061–5071.
- [174]. Y. Zou, Y. Hu, H. Liu and D. Shi. Rapid and Efficient Ultrasound-Assisted Method for the Combinatorial Synthesis of Spiro-[indoline-3,4'-pyrano[2,3-c]-pyrazole] Derivatives, ACS Combinatorial Science. 2012, 14, 38–43.
- [175]. C.S. Kramer. Pyrazoles. Book chapter privileged scaffolds in medicinal chemistry: design, synthesis, evaluation, 2016, Chapter –5, 115–131.
- [176]. C. Liu, A. Guan, J. Yang, B. Chai, M. Li, H. Li, J. Yang and Y. Xie. Efficient approach to discover novel agrochemical candidates: Intermediate derivatization method, *Journal* of Agricultural and Food Chemistry. 2016, 64, 45–51.
- [177]. M.M. Heravi, A. Ghods, F. Derikvand, K. Bakhtiari and F.F. Bamoharram. H14 [NaP5W30O110] catalysed one-pot three-component synthesis of dihydropyrano [2, 3-c] pyrazole and pyrano-[2,3-d]-pyrimidine derivatives, *Journal of the Iranian Chemical Society*. 2010, 7, 615–620.
- [178]. K. Ablajan, W. Liju, Y. Kelimu and F. Jun. Cerium ammonium nitrate (CAN)-catalysed four-component one-pot synthesis of multi-substituted pyrano-[2,3-varvec {c}]-pyrazoles under ultrasound irradiation, *Molecular Diversity*. 2013, 17, 693–700.
- [179]. M.A. Zolfigol, F. Afsharnadery, S. Baghery, S. Salehzadeh and F. Maleki. Catalytic applications of {[HMIM]C(NO<sub>2</sub>)<sub>3</sub>}: As a nano ionic liquid for the synthesis of pyrazole derivatives under green conditions and a mechanistic investigation with a new approach, *RSC Advances*. **2015**, *5*, 75555–75568.

- [180]. D. Shi, J. Mou, Q. Zhuang, L. Niu, N. Wu and X. Wang. Three-Component One-Pot Synthesis of 1,4-Dihydropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole Derivatives in Aqueous Media, *Synthetic Communications*. 2004, 34, 4557–4563.
- [181]. S. Maddila, S. Rana, R. Pagadala, S. Kankala, S. Maddila and S.B. Jonnalagadda. Synthesis of pyrazole-4-carbonitrile derivatives in aqueous media with CuO/ZrO<sub>2</sub> as recyclable catalyst, *Catalysis Communications*. 2015, 61, 26–30.
- [182]. M. Srivastava, P. Rai, J. Singh and J. Singh. An environmentally friendlier approach ionic liquid catalysed, water promoted and grinding induced synthesis of highly functionalised pyrazole derivatives, *RSC Advances*. 2013, *3*, 16994–16998.
- [183]. F. Nemati, S.H. Nikkhah and A. Elhampour. An environmental friendly approach for the catalyst-free synthesis of highly substituted pyrazoles promoted by ultrasonic radiation, *Chinese Chemical Letters*. 2015, 26, 1397–1399.
- [184]. S. Ambethkar, V. Padmini and N. Bhuvanesh. A green and efficient protocol for the synthesis of dihydropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole derivatives via a one-pot, four component reaction by grinding method, *Journal of Advanced Research*. 2015, 6, 975–985.
- [185] V.L. Gein, T.M. Zamaraeva and P. A. Slepukhin. A novel four-component synthesis of ethyl-6-amino-4-aryl-5-cyano-2,4-dihydropyrano-[2,3-c]-pyrazole-3-carboxylates, *Tetrahedron Letters*. 2014, 55, 4525–4528.
- [186] J.S. Ghomi, B.K. Koopaei and H.S. Alavi. Pseudo five-component process for the synthesis of 4,4'-(arylmethylene)bis(3-methyl-1H-pyrazol-5-ol) derivatives using ZnAl<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> nanoparticles in aqueous media, *RSC Advances*. 2014, 4, 46106–46113.
- [187]. C. Wang, Y.H. Jiang and C.G. Yan. Convenient synthesis of spiro-[indoline-3,4'-pyrano [2,3-c]-pyrazole] and spiro-[acenaphthyl-3,4'-pyrano-[2,3-c]-pyrazoles] via fourcomponent reaction, *Chinese Chemical Letters*. 2015, 26, 889–893.
- [188]. W. Liju, K. Ablajan and F. Jun. Rapid and efficient one-pot synthesis of spiro-[indoline-3,4'-pyrano-[2,3-c]-pyrazole] derivatives catalysed by l-proline under ultrasound irradiation, *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*. 2015, 22, 113–118.
- [189]. D.M. Pore, P.B. Patil, D.S. Gaikwad, P.G. Hegade, J.D. Patil and K.A. Undale. Green access to novel spiro pyranopyrazole derivatives, *Tetrahedron Letters*. 2013, 14, 5876– 5878.

- [190]. L.M. Xing, L.J. Rong, Z. Kai, Y. Huan, Z. Qi and S. Da-Xin. Base-catalysed one-pot tandem reaction: an effective strategy for the synthesis of pyrazolo-[3,4-d]-pyrimidinone derivatives, *Tetrahedron.* 2015, 71, 7658–7662.
- [191]. M.B. Teimouri. One-pot three-component reaction of isocyanides, dialkyl acetylenedicarboxylates and phthalhydrazide: synthesis of highly functionalized 1H-pyrazolo-[1,2-b]phthalazine-5,10-diones, *Tetrahedron*. 2006, 62, 10849–10853.
- [192]. F.B. Bin, Z.M. Mei and W.X. Shan. Green synthesis of fused polycyclic pyrazolo[3,4b][1,6]naphthyridine derivatives in ionic liquids via three-component reaction. *Polycyclic Aromatic Compounds*. 2015, 1–12.
- [193]. A.A. Hassan, S.K. Mohamed, F.F.A. Latif, S.M. Mostafa, J.T. Mague, M. Akkurt and M.A. Aziz. Tetracyanoethylene as a mediator and building block in synthesis of 5substituted amino-1,3,4-thiadiazolyl-1H-pyrazole derivatives, *Tetrahedron Letters*. 2016, 57, 345–347.
- [194]. Y. Zou, Y. Hu, H. Liu and D. Shi. Rapid and efficient ultrasound-assisted method for the combinatorial synthesis of spiro[indoline-3,4'-pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole] derivatives, ACS Combinatorial Science. 2012, 14, 38–43.
- [195]. J. Feng, K. Ablajan and A. Sali. 4-Dimethylaminopyridine-catalysed multi-component one-pot reactions for the convenient synthesis of spiro [indoline-3,4'-pyrano-[2,3-c] pyrazole] derivatives, *Tetrahedron*. 2014, 70, 484–489.
- [196]. P. Rai, M. Srivastava, J. Singh and J. Singh. Chitosan/ionic liquid forms a renewable and reusable catalyst system used for the synthesis of highly functionalized spiro derivatives, *New Journal of Chemistry*. 2014, 38, 3181–3186.
- [197]. P. Liu, Y.M. Pan, Y.L. Xu and H.S. Wang. PTSA-catalysed Mannich-type–cyclization– oxidation tandem reactions: one-pot synthesis of 1,3,5-substituted pyrazoles from aldehydes, hydrazines and alkynes, *Organic & Biomolecular Chemistry*. 2012, 10, 4696– 4698.
- [198]. P. Rai, M. Srivastava, J. Singh and J. Singh. Molecular iodine: a green and inclusive catalyst for the synthesis of highly functionalized 1,3,5-trisubstituted pyrazoles in aqueous medium, *RSC Advance*. 2014, 4, 779–783.

- [199]. R. Pratap and V.J. Ram. Natural and synthetic chromenes, fused chromenes, and versatility of dihydrobenzo[h]chromenes in organic synthesis, *Chemical Reviews*. 2014, 114, 10476–10526.
- [200]. M.M. Heravi, Y.S. Beheshtiha, Z. Pirnia, S. Sadjadi and M. Adibi. One-pot, threecomponent synthesis of 4H-pyrans using Cu(II) oxymetasilicate, *Synthetic Communications*. 2009, 39, 3663–3667.
- [201]. N. Thomas and S.M. Zachariah. Pharmacological activities of chromene derivatives: an overview. Asian journal of pharmaceutical and clinical research, *Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical and Clinical Research.* 2013, 6, 11–15.
- [202]. R.K. Nimesh, D.H. Dhaval, T.M. Prashant and K.P. Saurabh. Synthesis and evaluation of *in vitro* antitubercular activity and antimicrobial activity of some novel 4Hchromeno[2,3-d]pyrimidine via 2-amino-4-phenyl-4H-chromene-3-carbonitriles, *Medicinal Chemistry Research.* 2011, 20, 854–864.
- [203]. T. Yasunaga, T. Kimura, R. Naito, T. Kontani, F. Wanibuchi and H. Yamashita. Synthesis and pharmacological characterization of novel 6-Fluorochroman derivatives as potential 5-HT1A receptor antagonists, *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*. **1998**, *41*, 2765– 2778.
- [204]. M. Vosooghi, S. Rajabalian, M. Sorkhi, M. Badinloo, M. Nakhjiri, A.S. Negahbani AS, Synthesis and cytotoxic activity of some 2-amino-4-aryl-3-cyano-7-(dimethylamino)-4Hchromenes, *Research in Pharmaceutical Sciences*. 2010, 5, 9–14.
- [205]. P. Das, A. Dutta, A. Bhaumik and C. Mukhopadhyay. Heterogeneous ditopic ZnFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> catalysed synthesis of 4H-pyrans: further conversion to 1,4-DHPs and report of functional group interconversion from amide to ester, *Green Chemistry*. 2014, *16*, 1426–1435.
- [206]. S. Banerjee and A. Saha. Free-ZnO nanoparticles: a mild, efficient and reusable catalyst for the one-pot multicomponent synthesis of tetrahydrobenzo[b]pyran and dihydropyrimidone derivatives, *New Journal of Chemistry*. 2013, 37, 4170–4175.
- [207]. B. Maleki and S.S. Ashrafi. Nano a-Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> supported ammonium dihydrogen phosphate (NH<sub>4</sub>H<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>): Preparation, characterization and its application as a novel and heterogeneous catalyst for the one-pot synthesis of tetrahydrobenzo[b]pyran and pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole derivatives, *RSC Advances*. 2014, *4*, 42873–42891.

- [208]. H.R. Safaei, M. Shekouhy, S. Rahmanpur and A. Shirinfeshan. Glycerol as a biodegradable and reusable promoting medium for the catalyst-free one-pot three component synthesis of 4H-pyrans, *Green Chemistry*. 2012, 14, 1696–1704.
- [209]. P.P. Bora, M. Bihani and G. Bez. Beyond enzymatic promiscuity: asymmetric induction by L-proline on lipase catalysed synthesis of polyfunctionalized 4H-pyrans, *RSC Advances*. 2015, 5, 50597–50603.
- [210]. H. Valizadeh, and A.A. Azimi. ZnO/MgO containing ZnO nanoparticles as a highly effective heterogeneous base catalyst for the synthesis of 4H-pyrans and coumarins in [bmim]BF<sub>4</sub>, *Journal of the Iranian Chemical Society*. **2011**, *8*, 123-130.
- [211]. D. Rajguru, B.S. Keshwal and S. Jain. H<sub>6</sub>P<sub>2</sub>W<sub>18</sub>O<sub>62</sub>.18H<sub>2</sub>O: A green and reusable catalyst for one-pot synthesis of pyrano-[4,3-b]pyrans in water, *Chinese Chemical Letters*. 2013, 24, 1033–1036.
- [212]. D. Fang, J. Yang, H. Zhang and C. Jiao. Synthesis of 4H-pyrans catalysed by thermolregulated PEG1000-based ionic liquid/EM, *Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry*. 2011, 17, 386–388.
- [213]. P.P. Salvi, A.M. Mandhare, A.S. Sartape, D.K. Pawar, S.H. Han and S.S. Kolekar. An efficient protocol for synthesis of tetrahydrobenzo[b]pyrans using amino functionalized ionic liquid, *Comptes Rendus Chimie*. 2011, 14, 878–882.
- [214]. M. Khoobi, L. Mamani, F. Rezazadeh, Z. Zareie, A. Foroumadi, A. Ramazanib and A. Shafieec. One-pot synthesis of 4*H*-benzo[b]-pyrans and dihydropyrano[c]-chromenes using inorganic–organic hybrid magnetic nano-catalyst in water, *Journal of Molecular Catalysis A: Chemical.* 2012, 359, 74–80.
- [215]. A.I. Almansour, R.S. Kumar, N. Arumugam and D. Sriram. A solvent free, fourcomponent synthesis and 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition of 4(H)-pyrans with nitrile oxides: synthesis and discovery of anti-mycobacterial activity of enantiomerically pure 1,2,4oxadiazoles, *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*. 2012, 53, 416–423.
- [216]. M.G. Dekamin, Z. Peyman, Z. Karimi, S. Javanshir, M.R.N. Jamal and M. Barikani. sodium alginate: An efficient biopolymeric catalyst for green synthesis of 2-amino-4Hpyran derivatives, *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*. 2016, 87, 172– 179.

- [217]. R.M.N. Kalla, M.R. Kim and I. Kim. Dibutylamine-catalysed efficient one-pot synthesis of biologically potent pyrans, *Tetrahedron Letters*. 2016, 56, 717–720.
- [218]. E. Mosaddegh, A. Hassankhani and H.K. Maleh. Synthesis and characterization of ES/Cu(OH)<sub>2</sub> nanocomposite: A novel and high effective catalyst in the green synthesis of pyrano[4,3-b]pyrans, *Materials Science and Engineering: C.* 2015, 46, 264–269.
- [219]. S.S. Mansoor, K. Logaiya, K. Aswin and P.N. Sudhan. An appropriate one-pot synthesis of 3,4-dihydropyrano[c]chromenesand 6-amino-5-cyano-4-aryl-2-methyl-4H-pyrans with thioureadioxide as an efficient, reusable organic catalyst in aqueous medium, *Journal of Taibah University for Science*. 2015, 9, 213–226.
- [220]. J. Yang, S. Liu, H. Hu, S. Ren and A. Ying. One-pot three- component synthesis of tetrahydrobenzo[b]pyrans catalysed by cost-effective ionic liquid in aqueous medium, *Chinese Journal of Chemical Engineering*. 2015, 23, 1416–1420.
- [221]. M. Zakeri, M.M. Nasef, E.A. Lotf, A. Moharami and M.M. Heravi. Sustainable alternative protocols for the multicomponent synthesis of spiro-4H-pyrans catalysed by 4dimethylaminopyridine, *Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry*. 2015, 29, 273–281.
- [222]. G. M. Ziarani1, M. Rahimifard, F. Nouri and A. Badiei. Green one-pot, four-component synthesis of spiro[indoline-3,4'--pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole] derivatives using aminofunctionalized nanoporous silica SBA-15 under solvent-free conditions, *Journal of the Serbian Chemical Society*. 2015, 80, 1265–1272.

# CHAPTER-2

# Ag/SiO<sub>2</sub> AS A RECYCLABLE CATALYST FOR THE FACILE GREEN SYNTHESIS OF 3-METHYL-4-(PHENYL)-METHYLENE-ISOXAZOLE--5(4*H*)-ONES

## Surya Narayana Maddila, Suresh Maddila, Werner E. van Zyl\* and Sreekantha B. Jonnalagadda\*

School of Chemistry and Physics, University of Kwa-Zulu Natal, Westville Campus, Private Bag X 54001, Durban, 4000, South Africa.

Corresponding Author:	*Prof. Sreekanth B. Jonnalagadda			
	School of Chemistry & Physics,			
	University of KwaZulu-Natal,			
	Durban 4000, South Africa.			
	Tel.: +27 31 2607325; Fax: +27 31 2603091			
	E-mail address: jonnalagaddas@ukzn.ac.za			

Res Chem Intermed (2016) 42:2553–2566 DOI 10.1007/s11164-015-2167-2

CrossMark

Ag/SiO<sub>2</sub> as a recyclable catalyst for the facile green synthesis of 3-methyl-4-(phenyl)methylene-isoxazole-5(4H)-ones

Surya Narayana Maddila<sup>1</sup> · Suresh Maddila<sup>1</sup> · Werner E. van Zyl<sup>1</sup> · Sreekantha B. Jonnalagadda<sup>1</sup>

Received: 10 April 2015/Accepted: 4 July 2015/Published online: 15 July 2015 © Springer Science+Business Media Dordrecht 2015

This chapter is published in the journal of Research on Chemical Intermediates and has been

structured according to the journal's format.

# Ag/SiO<sub>2</sub> AS A RECYCLABLE CATALYST FOR THE FACILE GREEN SYNTHESIS OF 3-METHYL-4-(PHENYL)-METHYLENE-ISOXAZOLE-5(4*H*)-ONES

# Surya Narayana Maddila, Suresh Maddila, Werner E. van Zyl\* and Sreekantha B. Jonnalagadda\*

School of Chemistry and Physics, University of Kwa-Zulu Natal, Westville Campus, Private Bag X 54001, Durban, 4000, South Africa.

<b>Corresponding Author:</b>	*Prof. Sreekanth B. Jonnalagadda		
	School of Chemistry & Physics,		
	University of KwaZulu-Natal,		
	Durban 4000, South Africa.		
	Tel.: +27 31 2607325, Fax: +27 31 2603091		
	E-mail address: jonnalagaddas@ukzn.ac.za		

### Abstract:

An efficient and facile green method for synthesis of 3-methyl-4-(phenyl)methyleneisoxazole-5(4*H*)-one (**4a-m**) *via* room temperature reaction of hydroxylamine, ethylacetoacetate and substituted aromatic aldehydes is designed, using Ag/SiO<sub>2</sub> as catalyst with water as solvent. This protocol offers several advantages such as it being a benign, energy conserving and ecofriendly reaction with products obtained in excellent yields (88 to 93 %). The reaction requires relatively short reaction times (< 1 h), a simple workup procedure with good atom efficiency and easily recoverable catalyst. The heterogeneous catalyst, Ag/SiO<sub>2</sub> was fully characterized and is reusable without loss of activity for up to seven cycles with marginal activity loss.

Keywords: Green synthesis; Heterogeneous catalyst; Isoxazoles; Ag/SiO<sub>2</sub>; One-Pot reaction.

### **2.1.** Introduction

In recent years, multicomponent reactions (MCR) have captivated researchers due to a number of green principles including facile operation, environmental friendly and economic. MCRs allow three or more compounds to react together, providing products in high yields without having to isolate intermediates. This is an attractive option [1-3], thus making MCRs an important tool in the synthesis of heterocyclic molecules with applications in combinatorial, medicinal and agricultural chemistry [3-5]. The other advantages of these reactions include high bond-forming efficiency, cost effectiveness, energy saving and simple workup procedures [6,7].

Interest has increased in use of heterogeneous catalysts in organic syntheses due to improved selectivity, facile separation, reusability and low cost [8,9]. Metal oxides have emerged as candidates for such a role due to their proven record as catalysts, supports, and as ion-exchangers. Mixed metallic oxides with both acidic and basic sites can be generated by calcination at about 700 K. The calcined composites have moderate surface areas and can accelerate various condensation reactions. Relative to conventional linear syntheses, these eco-friendly protocols also have benefits, such as long catalytic life, thermal stability, cost effectiveness, atom economy and scope to modify the surface properties [10].

Silica (SiO<sub>2</sub>), which is an acidic functional material in pure form is one of the widely used inorganic supports in the catalytic systems [11,12] used in the activation and stabilization of several metals [13,14]. The crystalline structure of SiO<sub>2</sub> has been documented as one of the key factors for justification of the structure-activity relationships of metal-based catalysts [15]. In organic synthesis, silica as support for various metal oxide catalysts allows the design of varied distribution of its Lewis and Brønsted acidic and basic sites [16-19] on the surface facilitating its use as catalyst for specific applications.

Isoxazoles are an important class of heterocyclic compounds, which are predominant in nature and display fascinating biological and pharmaceutical properties [20,21]. Isoxazole is considered a major scaffold compound in the discovery of combinatorial synthesis and protein kinase inhibitors, playing crucial role in development of chemotherapeutic agents [22,23]. Many isoxazole derivatives exhibit antibacterial [24], antifungal [25], antitumor [26], antioxidant [27], antiprotozoal [28], antiviral [29], anti-tubercular [30], anti-inflammatory [31] and anti-HIV [32] activities. Several procedures have been reported in the literature for the synthesis of isoxazole derivatives and their analogues. Literature survey shows quite many catalysed methods were

reported for synthesis of various isoxazole derivatives. To mention a few, such protocols employed sodium saccharin [33], ultrasonic irradiation [34], sodium silicate [35], sodium benzoate [36], pyridine [37,38], DABCO [39], CH<sub>3</sub>COONa/UV [40], sodium ascorbate [41], sodium tetraborate [42], sodium sulfide [43], pyridine/UV [44], and boric acid [45] as catalysts. Many of these methods have some limitations and drawbacks, such as use of toxic reagents, strong acidic or basic conditions, costly reagents and catalysts, strict reaction conditions, tedious steps, low product yields and/or long reaction times, which restrict their scope in practical applications. Therefore, a novel protocol with good and inexpensive catalyst demanding short reaction times is sought after.

In continuation of our interest in the environmental friendly protocols for the various synthesis of heterocyclic derivatives with better yields [46-49], we herein report the one-pot reaction of ethylacetoacetate, hydroxyl amine and substituted aldehydes in the presence of a catalyst  $Ag/SiO_2$  for the synthesis of isoxazole derivatives in excellent yields.

### **2.2.** Experimental section

#### 2.2.1. Catalyst characterization

Micromeritics Tristar-II porosity and surface area analyzer was used to determine the values of surface area, pore size and pore volume of the catalyst material. The catalyst sample was degassed overnight using N<sub>2</sub> flow at 200 °C. The BJH adsorption-desorption curves were generated at -196 °C and were used to assess the catalyst's particulate properties. Employing a Bruker D8 Advance instrument (Cu K radiation source with a wave length of 1.5406 Å), the X-ray diffraction data related the structural phases of the catalyst were acquired. Using a Jeol JEM-1010 electron microscope and JEOL JSM-6100 microscope, the TEM and SEM analysis data was recorded. iTEM software was used analyze the TEM data and images. Employing the X-ray analyzer (energy-dispersive), EDX-analysis on the SEM images was conducted. To confirm the elemental composition catalyst materials Inductively Coupled Plasma Optical Emission Spectrometer (ICP-OES) (Optima 5300 DV) was used.

#### 2.2.2. Preparation of catalyst

The wet impregnation method was used for the synthesis of catalyst material,  $Ag/SiO_2$ . An appropriate amount of silver nitrate hydrate  $AgNO_3.9H_2O$ , Aldrich (99.9%)) was dissolved in double distilled water (50.0 ml) which was added to silica (3.0 g) with continuous stirring with a magnetic stirrer at room temperature for 12 h. Then the resulted slurry was dried in an oven at 110–130 °C for 12 h and calcined in presence of air, at 450 °C for 3 h to acquire the 5%  $^{w}/_{w}$  catalyst [50,51].

# **2.2.3.** General procedure for the synthesis of 3-methyl-4-(phenyl)methylene-isoxazole-5(4*H*)-one derivatives

To equimolar ratios of hydroxylamine (1.1 mmol), ethylacetoacetate (1 mmol) and aldehyde (1 mmol) dissolved in water (10 ml) at room temperature (RT) using Ag/SiO<sub>2</sub> (30 mg) as catalyst. The reaction mixture was stirred continuously for 1 h at RT, (Scheme 1) using a magnetic stirrer. The progress of the reaction was monitored by TLC. The reaction mixture was then filtered, and the filtrate was subsequently extracted with ethyl acetate and evaporated under reduced pressure to obtain the crude product. Further, the crude product was purified with a 4:6 ratio of EtOAc:Hexane mobile solvent to afford pure products (4a-m). The recovered catalyst was subjected to washing with ethanol, dried, and could be reused for up to seven cycles.



Scheme 1. Synthesis of 3-methyl-4-(phenyl)methylene-isoxazole-5(4H)-one derivatives

**3-Methyl-4-(4-hydroxyphenyl)methylene-isoxazole-5(4***H***)-one (4a): Yellow solid: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>) \delta = 2.24 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 6.94 (d,** *J* **= 8.80 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.78 (s, 1H, =CH), 8.44 (d,** *J* **= 8.84 Hz, 2H, ArH), 10.85 (s, 1H, OH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): \delta 11.24, 113.83, 116.12, 124.53, 137.44, 151.51, 162.24, 163.82, 168.78; IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3232, 2363, 1734, 1559, 1358, 1297, 1179, 669; HRMS of [C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>9</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> – H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 202.0503; Calcd.: 202.0504.** 

**3-Methyl-4-(4-methoxyphenyl)methylene-isoxazole-5(4***H***)-one (4b): Yellow solid: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>) \delta = 2.25 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.89 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 7.14 (d,** *J* **= 8.96 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.85 (s, 1H, =CH), 8.51 (d,** *J* **= 8.96 Hz, 2H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): \delta 11.24, 55.80, 114.63, 115.19, 125.76, 136.86, 151.19, 132.23, 164.21, 168.57; IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3446, 2362, 1734, 1594, 1269, 1176, 668; HRMS of [C<sub>12</sub>H<sub>11</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> + Na]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 240.0641; Calcd.: 240.0637.** 

**3-Methyl-4-phenyl-methylene-isoxazole-5(4***H***)-one (4c): Light yellow solid: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>) \delta = 2.29 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 7.56-7.67 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.96 (s, 1H, =CH), 8.40 (d,** *J* **= 7.40 Hz, 2H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): \delta 11.25, 118.32, 128.84, 132.40, 133.51, 133.86, 151.62, 162.18, 167.78; IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3446, 2362, 1739, 1561, 1341, 1284, 1140, 685; HRMS of [C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>10</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> + Na]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 211.0618; Calcd.: 211.0609.** 

**3-Methyl-4-(4-dimethylaminophenyl)methylene-isoxazole-5(4***H***)-one (4d): Red solid: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>) \delta = 2.20 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.33 (s, 6H, N(CH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>), 6.85 (d,** *J* **= 9.16 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.60 (s, 1H, =CH), 8.45 (d,** *J* **= 8.80 Hz, 2H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): \delta 11.27, 108.98, 111.59, 120.95, 137.52, 150.44, 154.32, 162.08, 169.79; IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3432, 2362, 1709, 1582, 1380, 1202, 1161, 668; HRMS of [C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>14</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> + Na]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 253.0953; Calcd.: 253.0953.** 

Anal. calcd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>14</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>: C 67.81, H 6.13, N 12.17; Found: C 67.83, H 6.10, N 12.14.

**3-Methyl-4-(anthracen-9-yl)methylene-isoxazole-5(4***H***)-one (4e): Brown solid: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>) \delta = 2.57 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 7.72-776 (m, 3H, ArH), 8.07-8.09 (m, 3H, ArH), 8.79 (d,** *J* **= 8.74 Hz, 3H, ArH), 8.86 (s, 1H, CH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): \delta 11.46, 123.44, 125.05, 125.39, 125.73, 125.81, 127.05, 127.43, 128.72, 148.35, 158.68, 161.09, 166.22, 168.25, 168.78; IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3431, 2360, 1752, 1352, 1292, 1182, 668; HRMS of [C<sub>19</sub>H<sub>13</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> + Na]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 310.0848; Calcd.: 310.0844.** 

**3-Methyl-4-(2,5-dihydroxyphenyl)methylene-isoxazole-5(4***H***)-one (4f): Yellow solid: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>) \delta = 2.23 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 6.85 (d,** *J* **= 8.88 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.97-7.00 (m, 1H, ArH), 8.02 (s, 1H, =CH), 8.23 (d,** *J* **= 8.78 Hz, 1H, ArH), 9.18 (s, 1H, OH), 10.38 (s, 1H, OH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): \delta 11.16, 115.67, 116.45, 116.78, 119.69, 125.56, 144.98, 149.32, 153.36, 162.17, 168.23; IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3308, 2361, 1751, 1602, 1368, 1273, 1170, 668; HRMS of [C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>9</sub>NO<sub>4</sub> – H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 218.0453; Calcd.: 218.0453.** 

**3-Methyl-4-(3,4-dihydroxyphenyl)methylene-isoxazole-5(4***H***)-one (4g): Yellow solid: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>) \delta = 2.19 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 6.42 (s, 2H, ArH), 7.96 (s, 1H, =CH), 8.97 (d,** *J* **= 8.81 Hz, 1H, ArH), 9.90 (s, 1H, OH), 11.06 (s, 1H, OH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): \delta 11.17, 101.69, 109.02, 110.57, 113.01, 135.14, 143.94, 162.22, 163.10, 166.63, 169.40; IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3487, 2363, 1734, 1589, 1391, 1258, 1212, 761.** 

**3-Methyl-4-(3-hydroxyphenyl)methylene-isoxazole-5(4***H***)-one (4h):** Light yellow solid: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  = 2.27 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 7.06 (d, *J* = 7.46 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.37 (t, *J* =

7.90 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.78 (d, J = 7.88 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.85 (s, 1H, =CH), 7.92 (s, 1H, ArH), 9.90 (s, 1H, OH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>):  $\delta$  11.25, 118.48, 119.38, 121.34, 125.25, 129.80, 133.57, 151.98, 157.35, 162.21, 167.71; IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3432, 2356, 1739, 1575, 1347, 1288, 1113, 668; HRMS of [C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>9</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> – H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 202.0512; Calcd.: 202.0504.

**3-Methyl-4-(2,3-dimethoxyphenyl)methylene-isoxazole-5(4***H***)-one (4i): Light yellow solid: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>) \delta = 2.29 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.86 (s, 6H, 2OMe), 7.06 (d,** *J* **= 7.82 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.36 (d,** *J* **= 7.64 Hz, 1H, ArH),7.99 (s, 1H, =CH), 8.22 (d,** *J* **= 9.08 Hz, 1H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): \delta 11.13, 56.00, 61.67, 118.83, 119.26, 123.34, 123.70, 125.63, 145.12, 149.85, 152.15, 162.02, 167.47; IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3432, 2362, 1698, 1524, 1268, 1125, 668.** 

**3-Methyl-4-(2,5-dimethoxyphenyl)methylene-isoxazole-5(4***H***)-one (4j):** Orange solid: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  = 2.25 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.75 (s, 3H, OMe), 3.87 (s, 3H, OMe), 7.12-7.27 (m, 2H, ArH), 8.01 (s, 1H, =CH), 8.41 (d, *J* = 8.04 Hz, 1H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>):  $\delta$  11.12, 55.50, 56.50, 112.84, 115.78, 117.79, 120.79, 123.23, 144.21, 152.26, 154.43, 162.02, 168.01; IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3430, 2362, 1730, 1596, 1237, 1045, 668; HRMS of [C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>13</sub>NO<sub>4</sub> + Na]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 270.0742; Calcd.: 270.0742.

**3-Methyl-4-(2,4,6-trimethoxyphenyl)methylene-isoxazole-5(4***H***)-one (4k): Yellow solid: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>) \delta = 2.22 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.76 (s, 3H, OMe), 3.83 (s, 3H, OMe), 3.88 (s, 3H, OMe), 6.25 (s, 1H, ArH), 6.35 (s, 1H, ArH), 7.72 (s, 1H, =CH), 8.11 (s, 1H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): \delta 11.16, 55.76, 55.99, 56.07, 90.68, 90.96, 104.25, 117.47, 141.08, 142.33, 159.16, 160.02, 160.98, 165.58; IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3431, 2364, 1751, 1602, 1330, 1207, 1157, 668.** 

**3-Methyl-4-(2,4-dimethylphenyl)methylene-isoxazole-5(4***H***)-one (4l):** Cream solid: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  = 2.29 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.34 (s, 3H, ArCH<sub>3</sub>), 2.45 (s, 3H, ArCH<sub>3</sub>), 7.14 (d, J = 8.04 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.19 (s, 1H, ArH), 8.00 (s, 1H, =CH), 8.34 (d, J = 8.84 Hz, 1H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>):  $\delta$  11.16, 19.45, 21.28, 117.86, 126.46, 127.91, 131.32, 131.52, 141.04, 144.23, 149.26, 162.03, 167.76; IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3449, 2372, 1770, 1599, 1383, 1097, 658; HRMS of [C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>14</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> + H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 216.1032; Calcd.: 216.1025.

**3-Methyl-4-(4-ethylphenyl)methylene-isoxazole-5(4***H***)-one (4m): White solid: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>) \delta = 1.20 (t, J = 8.12 Hz, 3H, CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.27 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.70 (q, J = 7.57 Hz, 2H, <u>CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>3</sub>), 7.43 (d, J = 8.28, 2H, ArH), 7.91 (s, 1H, =CH), 8.36 (d, J = 8.20, 2H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): \delta 11.23, 14.84, 28.44, 117.62, 126.38, 128.38, 130.25, 131.79, 133.99,**</u>

151.09, 151.60, 162.20, 168.03; IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3446, 2368, 1740, 1594, 1344, 1257, 1103, 668; HRMS of  $[C_{13}H_{14}NO_2 + H]^+$  (m/z): 216.1035; Calcd.: 216.1025.

# 2.3. Results and discussion

#### 2.3.1. BET surface area (BET) and elemental (ICP) analysis

The texture of the prepared catalysts was determined by physisorption analysis. The  $N_2$  adsorption-desorption isotherms showed a type-IV adsorption isotherm demonstrating the mesoporous nature of the catalysts (Figure 1). The prepared catalyst showed a surface area of 189 m<sup>2</sup> g<sup>-1</sup> with a pore volume of 0.994 cc g<sup>-1</sup>. The large surface area was obtained for the catalyst sample with high pore volumes due to the narrow pore size distribution of catalyst. The ICP analysis results showed the presence of a nominal amount of Ag in the catalyst (4.94 wt %).



Figure 1. N<sub>2</sub> adsorption & desorption spectra of Ag/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst

#### 2.3.2. TEM analysis

The TEM micrograph reveals more structural information of the catalyst. Figure 2 shows a distinctive TEM image of Ag loaded on silica catalyst, from which it can be seen that the Ag nanoparticles showed a sphere-shape with an average size of 13 nm and are highly dispersed and homogeneously distributed on the silica support with strong interaction between the AgNPs and silica supports.



Figure 2. TEM micrograph of Ag/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst.

## 2.3.3. SEM analysis

Figure 3 shows an illustrative SEM morphologies micrograph of the sample Ag on silica. A lot of large white with elliptical irregular shapes are perceived from the low magnification SEM image of Ag/SiO<sub>2</sub>. This micrograph reveals that the aggregative state of the silica important particles is with silver. While, a homogeneous distribution of Ag and silica on the catalyst is specified by the EDS analysis, elemental analysis by ICP-OES confirmed the elemental composition in the catalyst material (Figure 4). Furthermore, the morphology of the catalyst as per the SEM images noticeably point to the crystallinity and homogeneity of the sample.



Figure 3. SEM micrograph of Ag/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst.



Figure 4. SEM-EDX spectra of Ag/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst

### 2.3.4. Powder X-ray diffractogram (XRD) analysis

XRD patterns of the calcined Ag/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst are shown in Figure 5. All of the PXRD diffraction patterns can be indexed to fcc silver. The calcined 2% Ag on SiO<sub>2</sub> sample showed diffraction peaks at  $38.1^{\circ}$ ,  $44.3^{\circ}$ ,  $64.4^{\circ}$  and  $77.4^{\circ}$  corresponding to the (1 1 1), (2 0 0), (2 2 0) and (3 1 1) lattice planes of hexagonal Ag<sub>2</sub>O (JCPDS # 72-2108) and cubic Ag<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (JCPDS # 72-0607) respectively. Important peaks in the silver XRD spectra agree with the JCPDS-PDF # 00-004-0783 files, and the two broad peaks centered at  $12.1^{\circ}$  and  $22.1^{\circ}$  were due to the amorphous silica support.



Figure 5. XRD spectrum of Ag/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst

#### **2.3.5.** Optimization procedure

At the start of the investigations, the impact of availability of catalyst material and solvents were examined. With ethyl acetoacetate, aromatic aldehyde, hydroxyl amine hydrochloride and water as solvent and with no catalyst, there was no reaction at RT even after 24 h under reflux conditions, (Table 1, entries 1 & 2). The same reaction was tried in ethanol in absence of any catalyst at RT for 12 h and failed to achieve any desired product (Table 1, entries 3 & 4). The scope of the various types of catalysts and use of NaOH and  $K_2CO_3$  as a basic catalyst in aqueous media provided no yield at RT (Table 1, entry 5 & 6). The reaction was performed under reflux conditions in ethanol, using pyridine and Na<sub>2</sub>S as basic catalysts, which gave improved yields (Table 1, entry 7 & 8). The use of ionic liquid (Bmim)BF<sub>4</sub> on the product yield was investigated, but yields were very low under reflux conditions (Table 1, entry 9). Use of pure heterogeneous acidic catalysts such as SiO<sub>2</sub>, Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, and CeO<sub>2</sub> at RT in aqueous media showed no reaction progress or yield (Table 1, entries 10-13). The reaction performed with AgNO<sub>3</sub> as catalyst gave 18% yield (Table 1, entry 14). When Ag loaded on  $SiO_2$  was used as catalyst, a reaction occurred with an impressive 93 % yield of isoxazole derivative at RT after 1 h reaction time (Table 1, entry 15). The efficacy of this catalytic system was further tested by comparing it with two other silica supported catalysts under otherwise similar conditions. Use of HClO<sub>4</sub>-SiO<sub>2</sub> and FeCl<sub>3</sub>/SiO<sub>2</sub> gave lower product yields and took 4–6 h for completion of the reaction (Table 1, entry 16 & 17). Furthermore, the reaction using Ag/SiO<sub>2</sub> as catalyst under solvent free conditions gave a small yield even after prolonged reaction time (Table 1, entry 18).

Accepting Ag/SiO<sub>2</sub> as catalyst and water as solvent are ideal means for the reaction, the effect of amount of catalyst on the yield and reaction time was further investigated. Performing the reaction with >30 mg of catalyst had no significant improvement on the yield or reaction time. However, the decrease in amount of the catalyst used to 20 and 10 mg, affected the product yield by reducing to 70% and 63%, respectively (Table 1, entries 19-23). Therefore, 30 mg of Ag/SiO<sub>2</sub> at RT with water as solvent is assumed optimal condition for the model reaction giving conversion of 93% in 1 h.

A perusal of the experimental results and the effect of various polar and non-polar solvents on the three component reaction clearly indicate water as solvent plays a vital role in facilitating the reaction (Table 1). Noticeably, under otherwise similar conditions, the Ag/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyzed reaction in presence of comparatively less polar solvents like CH<sub>3</sub>CN, DMF, n-hexane

and 1,4-dioxane gave insignificant yields (Table 1 entries 24-27). The efficiency of methanol and ethanol relative to water was also investigated. Although comparable yields were observed (Table 1, entries 28 & 29), water had a marginal advantage, thus proving to be best medium for the reaction. A highly polar solvent which dissipates heat faster may provide optimum conditions for formation of intermediates, and their conversion to final products on the catalyst surface.

## Table 1:

Entry	Catalyst	Solvent	Condition	Time (h)	Yield (%) <sup>b</sup>
1	No catalyst	H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	24	
2	No catalyst	$H_2O$	Reflux	24	
3	No catalyst	EtOH	RT	12	
4	No catalyst	EtOH	Reflux	12	
5	NaOH	$H_2O$	RT	12	
6	$K_2CO_3$	$H_2O$	RT	12	
7	Na <sub>2</sub> S	EtOH	Reflux	2.5	61
8	Pyridine	EtOH	Reflux	5	42
9	(Bmim)BF <sub>4</sub>	EtOH	Reflux	3	23
10	$SiO_2$	$H_2O$	RT	12	
11	$Al_2O_3$	$H_2O$	RT	12	
12	$Fe_2O_3$	$H_2O$	RT	12	
13	$CeO_2$	$H_2O$	RT	12	
14	AgNO <sub>3</sub>	$H_2O$	RT	12	18
15	Ag/SiO <sub>2</sub>	$H_2O$	RT	1	93
16	HClO <sub>4</sub> /SiO <sub>2</sub>	$H_2O$	RT	3	58
17	FeCl <sub>3</sub> /SiO <sub>2</sub>	$H_2O$	RT	3.5	37
18	Ag/SiO <sub>2</sub>		RT	12	43
19	$Ag/SiO_2(10 mg)$	$H_2O$	RT	3	85
20	Ag/SiO <sub>2</sub> (20 mg)	$H_2O$	RT	2	89
21	$Ag/SiO_2(30 mg)$	$H_2O$	RT	1	93
22	Ag/SiO <sub>2</sub> (40 mg)	$H_2O$	RT	1	93
23	Ag/SiO <sub>2</sub> (50 mg)	$H_2O$	RT	1.5	91
24	Ag/SiO <sub>2</sub>	CH <sub>3</sub> CN	RT	3	29
25	Ag/SiO <sub>2</sub>	DMF	RT	2.5	32
26	Ag/SiO <sub>2</sub>	n-hexane	RT	8	13
27	Ag/SiO <sub>2</sub>	1,4-dioxane	RT	6	24
28	Ag/SiO <sub>2</sub>	EtOH	RT	1.5	78
29	Ag/SiO <sub>2</sub>	MeOH	RT	2	72

Optimization condition for the synthesis of isoxazole by Ag/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> All products were characterised by IR, <sup>1</sup>HNMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR and HRMS spectral analysis.

<sup>b</sup> Isolated yields.

-- No reaction

Entry	R	Product	Yield (%)	Mp °C	Lit Mp °C
1	4-OH	4a	92	214-215	214-216 [32]
2	4-OMe	4b	90	173-174	174-175[32]
3	Н	4c	93	141-142	141-143[35]
4	$4-N(Me)_2$	4d	92	227-228	226-228 [35]
5	anthracenyl	4e	90	219-221	
6	2,5-(OH) <sub>2</sub>	4f	89	187-188	
7	3,4-(OH) <sub>2</sub>	4g	90	212-213	
8	3-OH	4h	92	164–166	
9	2,3-(OMe) <sub>2</sub>	4i	90	210-211	
10	2,5-(OMe) <sub>2</sub>	4j	89	178-179	
11	2,4,6-(OMe) <sub>3</sub>	4k	88	232-233	
12	$2,4-(Me)_2$	41	92	193-195	
13	4-Et	4m	91	201-203	

 Table 2

 Synthesis of isoxazole derivatives catalyzed by Ag/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst

<sup>a</sup> Reaction conditions: hydroxylamine (1.1 mmol), ethylacetoacetate (1.0 mmol), aromatic aldehyde (1.0 mmol) and water (10 mL), RT

<sup>b</sup>All synthesized compounds are identified and their structures were conformed with IR, <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR and HRMS spectral data and melting points as compared with literature values. -- New compounds/no literature available.

Employing the optimised reaction conditions, the strength of the protocol was evaluated for the synthesis of 3-methyl-4-(phenyl)methylene-isoxazole-5(4H)-one derivatives from various aromatic aldehydes. The Ag/SiO<sub>2</sub> heterogeneous catalyst proved to catalyze the facile one-pot synthesis of 3-methyl-4-(phenyl)methylene-isoxazole-5(4H)-one derivatives with good to excellent yields. All the reaction products with other details are depicted in Table 2. Interestingly, the substrates used and reaction yields obtained shows that the reaction using several electronwithdrawing and electron donating substrates in ortho, meta and para positions of the aromatic ring have also contributed positively to obtain the desired isoxazole derivatives in good to excellent yields (Table 2). A reaction scheme is proposed based on the chemistry of the reacting substrates and observed selectivity towards the product (Reaction Mechanism). At first, the nucleophilic attack of hydroxylamine hydrochloride at the carbonyl carbon of the compound **1** to afford in intermediate compound oxime. When the intermediate lost one hydrogen atom, the methylene group would convert to be the active carbon anion. Then, the aldehyde carbonyl group was attacked by carbon anion and subsequent Knoevenagel reaction occurred. After losing one ethanol molecule, ring-closing brought to the corresponding products. All the resultant products were characterized and structures were confirmed by FTIR, <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR and HRMS spectral analysis (Electronic Supplementary Information).



**Proposed Reaction Mechanism:** 

#### 2.3.6. Reusability of catalyst

Experiments were performed to investigate the recyclable phenomenon of the heterogeneous catalyst. The catalyst was recovered after filtration, washed with EtOH and dried under reduced pressure after the completion of reaction. The recovered catalyst was reused for seven consecutive runs following similar recovery procedure and observed loss of activity was minimal (Figure 6). No significant loss was observed in the first four cycles. The marginal loss

in the catalytic activity noticed after 4<sup>th</sup> run which can be attributed to the probable organic contaminations, trivial alterations and loss of catalyst material in the recovery process under the examined conditions.



Figure 6. Recyclability of Ag/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst.

## 2.4. Conclusion

We have described a green, simple, efficient and environmentally benign one-pot multicomponent protocol for the synthesis of 3-methyl-4-(phenyl)methylene-isoxazole-5(4H)-one derivatives with good to excellent yields. The new heterogeneous catalyst, Ag/SiO<sub>2</sub> is simple, highly efficient and recyclable for MCR protocol at RT. Main advantages of this approach are green solvent, cheap materials, easy work up, non-hazardous and environment friendly reaction conditions, recyclable catalyst, excellent yields, and short reaction times.

# 2.5. Acknowledgement

The authors are thankful to the National Research Foundation (NRF) of South Africa, and University of KwaZulu-Natal, Durban, for financial support and research facilities.

### 2.6. References

- M.M. Gawande, V.D.B. Bonifacio, R. Luque, P.S. Branco, R.S. Varma, Chem Soc Rev. 42(12), 5522 (2013).
- A.P. Abbott, D. Boothby, G. Capper, D.L. Davies, R.K. Rasheed, J Am Chem Soc. 126, 9142 (2004).
- 3. A. Domling, Chem Rev. **106**, 17 (2006).
- 4. A. Domling, W.Wang, K.Wang, Chem Rev. **112(6)**, 3038 (2012).
- S. Maddila, S. Rana, R. Pagadala, S. Kankala, S.N. Maddila, S.B. Jonnalagadda, Catal. Commun. 61, 26 (2015).
- 6. Y. Gu, Green Chem. **14**, 2091 (2012).
- K. Alfonsi, J. Colberg, P.J Dunn, T. Fevig, S. Jennings, T.A. Johnson, H.P. Kleine, C. Knight, M.A. Nagy, D.A Perry, M. Stefaniak, Green Chem. 10, 31 (2008).
- 8. J.P. Wan, S.F. Gan, G.L. Sun, Y.J.J. Pan, Org Chem. 74, 2862 (2009).
- 9. A. Das, A. Kulkarni, B. Torok, Green Chem. 14, 17 (2012).
- J. Virkutyte, R.S. Varma, Green synthesis of nanomaterials: Environmental aspects, sustainable nanotechnology and the environment: Advances and achievements, Chapter 2, ACS Symposium Series. 1142, 11 (2013).
- M. Choi, F. Kleitz, D. Liu, E.Y. Lee, A. Wha-Seung, R. Ryoo, J Am Chem Soc. 127, 1924 (2005).
- 12. P. Bhaumik, T. Kane, P.L. Dhepe, Catal Sci Technol. 4, 2904 (2014).
- 13. A. Walcarius, Chem Mater. **13**, 3351 (2001).
- 14. J. Han, P. Fang, W. Jiang, L. Li, R. Guo, Langmuir. 28, 4768 (2012).
- 15. W. Zhou, I.E. Wachs, C.J. Kiely, Curr Opin Solid State & Matet Sci. 16, 10 (2012).
- 16. S. Minakata, M. Komatsu, Chem Rev. 109, 711 (2009).
- 17. J.H. Clark, Acc Chem Res. 35, 791(2002).
- G. Neri, G. Rizzo, A.S. Arico, C. Crisafulli, L. De Luca, A. Donato, M.G. Musolino, R. Pietropaolo, Appl Catal A: Gene. 325, 15 (2007).
- A. Khalafi-Nezhad, E.S. Shahidzadeh, S. Sarikhani, F. Panahi, J Mol Catal A: Chem. 379, 1 (2013).
- A.P. Kozikowski, S. Tapadar, D.N. Luchini, K.H. Kim, D.D. Billadeau, J Med Chem, 51, 4370 (2008).

- B.H. Norman, P.A. Lander, J.M. Gruber, J.S. Kroin, J.D. Cohen, L.N. Jungheim, J.S. Starling, K.L. Law, T.D. Self, L.B. Tabas, D,C. Williams, D.C. Paul, A.H. Dantzig, Bioorg & Med Chem Lett. 15, 1526 (2005).
- S. Batra, S.K. Rastogi, B. Kundu, A. Patra, A.P. Bhaduri, Tetrahed Lett. 41(31), 5971 (2000).
- 23. A. Barria, V. Derkach, T. Soderling, J Biol Chem. 272, 32727 (1997).
- Y.K. Kang, K.J. Shin, K.H. Yoo, K.J. Seo, C.Y. Hong, C.S. Lee, S.Y. Park, D.J. Kim,
   S.W. Park, Bioorg & Med Chem Lett. 10, 95 (2000).
- C.V. Vicentini, C. Romagnoli, S. Manfredini, D. Rossi, D. Mares, Pharm Biol. 49(5), 545 (2011).
- R.K. Reddy, S.P. Rao, J.G. Dev, Y. Poornachandra, G.C. Kumar, S.P. Rao, B.B. Narsaiah, Bioorg Med Chem Lett. 24(7), 1661 (2014).
- A. Padmaja, C. Rajasekhar, A. Muralikrishna, V. Padmavathi, Eur J Med Chem. 46, 5034 (2011).
- D.A. Patrick, S.A. Bakunov, S.M. Bakunova, E.V. Kumar, R.J. Lombardy, S.K. Jones, A.S. Bridges, O. Zhirnov, J.E. Hall, T. Wenzler, R. Brun, R.R. Tidwell, J Med Chem. 50(10), 2468 (2007).
- 29. B. Loh, L. Vozzolo, B.J. Mok, C.C. Lee, R.J Fitzmaurice, S. Caddick, A. Fassati, Chem Biol Drug Des. **75**(**5**), 461 (2010).
- J. Mao, H. Yuan, Y. Wang, B. Wan, M. Pieroni, Q. Huang, R.B. van Breemen, A.P. Kozikowski, S.G. Franzblau, J Med Chem. 52(22), 6966 (2009).
- 31. Y. Karabasanagouda, A.V. Adhikari, M. Girisha, Indian J Chem. 48B, 430 (2009).
- B.L. Deng, M.D. Cullen, Z. Zhou, T.L Hartman, R.W. Buckheit Jr., C. Pannecouque, E. Declescq, P.E. Fanwick, M. Cushman, Bioorg Med Chem. 14, 2366 (2006).
- 33. H. Kiyani, F. Ghorbani, Heterocyc Lett. **3**(**3**), 359 (2013).
- 34. K. Ablajan, H. Xiamuxi, Synth. Commun. 42, 1128 (2012).
- 35. Q. Liu, R-T. Wu, J Chem Res. 598 (2011).
- 36. Q. Liu, Y-N. Zhang, Bull Korean Chem Soc. **32(10)**, 3559 (2011)
- Z. Ying-Qun, M.A. Jing-Jun, W.L.I. Chun, Z. Jing-Ci, Z. Dong-Nuan, L. Xiao-Huan,
   L. Jie, Chin. J Org Chem. 28, 141 (2008).
- 38. K. Ablajan, H. Xiamuxi, Chin Chem Lett. 22, 151 (2011).

- 39. M. Mirzazadeh, G.H. Mahdavinia, E-J Chem. 9(1), 425 (2012).
- 40. F. Saikh, J. Das, S. Ghosh, Tetrahedr Lett. **54**, 4679 (2013).
- 41. H. Kiyani, F. Ghorbani, Org Chem Indian J. **9(9)**, 97 (2013).
- 42. H. Kiyani, F. Ghorbani, Open J Org Chem. 1(1).
- 43. Q. Liu, X. Hou, Phosph Sulf & Silicon. **187**, 448 (2012).
- 44. C. Qingfang, X. Xingyou, W. Qifa, L. Lisha, L. Wangjun, L. Qiao, Y. Xujie, Chin J Org Chem. 8, 1267 (2009).
- 45. H. Kiyani, F. Ghorbani, Res Chem Intermed. 8, 45 (2013).
- 46. S. Maddila, R. Pagadala, S.B. Jonnalagadda, Lett Org Chem. 10(10), 693 (2013).
- 47. S. Maddila, S. Rana, R. Pagadala, S.B. Jonnalagadda, Res Chem Intermed. (DOI 10.1007/s11164-014-1890-4 Inpress-2014).
- 48. R. Pagadala, S. Maddila, S.B. Jonnalagadda, Catal Commun. 45, 148 (2014).
- R. Pagadala, S. Maddila, V. Moodley, W.E. van Zyl, S.B. Jonnalagadda, Tetrahed Lett.
   55, 4006 (2014).
- 50. S. Maddila, V,D.B.C. Dasireddy, S.B. Jonnalagadda, Appl Catal B: Environ. **138-139**, 149 (2013).
- 51. E.C. Chetty, S. Maddila, C. Southway, S.B. Jonnalagadda, Ind Eng Chem Res. **51**, 2864 (2012).

# 2.7. Supplementary materials data

## 2.7.1. General details

All chemicals and reagents required for the reaction were of analytical grade and were used without any further purification. Bruker AMX 400 MHz NMR spectrometer was used to record the <sup>1</sup>H NMR and <sup>13</sup>C NMR (400 MHz) spectral values. The CDCl<sub>3</sub>/DMSO–d<sub>6</sub> solution was utilized for this while TMS served as the internal standard. TMS was further used as an internal standard for reporting the all chemical shifts in  $\delta$  (ppm). The FT-IR spectrum for the samples was established using a Perkin Elmer Perkin Elmer Precisely 100 FT-IR spectrometer at the 400-4000 cm<sup>-1</sup> area. High-resolution mass data were obtained using a Bruker micro TOF-Q II ESI instrument operating at ambient temperature.



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **4a** 



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **4a** 



FT-IR spectra of compound 4a



HRMS spectra of compound 4a





<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **4b** 



FT-IR spectra of compound 4b



HRMS spectra of compound 4b



 $^1\text{H}$  NMR spectra of compound 4c



 $^{13}C$  NMR spectra of compound 4c



FT-IR spectra of compound 4c



HRMS spectra of compound 4c



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound 4d



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **4d** 



FT-IR spectra of compound 4d



HRMS spectra of compound 4d



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound 4e



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **4e**


FT-IR spectra of compound 4e



HRMS spectra of compound 4e



 $^{1}$ H NMR spectra of compound **4f** 



 $^{13}$ C NMR spectra of compound **4f** 



FT-IR spectra of compound 4f



HRMS spectra of compound 4f



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound 4g



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **4g** 



FT-IR spectra of compound 4g



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **4h** 



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **4h** 



FT-IR spectra of compound 4h



HRMS spectra of compound 4h



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **4i** 



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound 4i



FT-IR spectra of compound 4i



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **4**j



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **4**j



FT-IR spectra of compound 4j



HRMS spectra of compound 4j



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **4**k



FT-IR spectra of compound  $\mathbf{4k}$ 



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **4**l



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **4** 



FT-IR spectra of compound 41



HRMS spectra of compound 41



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **4m** 









# **CHAPTER-3**

# Mn DOPED ZrO<sub>2</sub> AS A GREEN, EFFICIENT AND REUSABLE HETEROGENEOUS CATALYST FOR THE MULTICOMPONENT SYNTHESIS OF PYRANO[2,3-D]-PYRIMIDINE DERIVATIVES

## Surya Narayana Maddila, Suresh Maddila, Werner E. van Zyl\* and Sreekantha B. Jonnalagadda\*

School of Chemistry and Physics, University of Kwa-Zulu Natal, Westville Campus, Private Bag X 54001, Durban, 4000, South Africa.

Corresponding Author:	*Prof. Sreekanth B. Jonnalagadda		
	School of Chemistry & Physics,		
	University of KwaZulu-Natal,		
	Durban 4000, South Africa.		
	Tel.: +27 31 2607325; Fax: +27 31 2603091		
	E-mail address: ionnalagaddas@ukzn.ac.za		



This chapter is published in the journal of RSC Advances and has been structured according to

the journal's format.

# Mn DOPED ZrO<sub>2</sub> AS A GREEN, EFFICIENT AND REUSABLE HETEROGENEOUS CATALYST FOR THE MULTICOMPONENT SYNTHESIS OF PYRANO[2,3-D]-PYRIMIDINE DERIVATIVES

## Surya Narayana Maddila, Suresh Maddila, Werner E. van Zyl\* and Sreekantha B. Jonnalagadda\*

School of Chemistry and Physics, University of Kwa-Zulu Natal, Westville Campus, Private Bag X 54001, Durban, 4000, South Africa.

<b>Corresponding Author:</b>	*Prof. Sreekanth B. Jonnalagadda		
	School of Chemistry & Physics,		
	University of KwaZulu-Natal,		
	Durban 4000, South Africa.		
	Tel.: +27 31 2607325, Fax: +27 31 2603091		
	E-mail address: jonnalagaddas@ukzn.ac.za		

## Abstract

A simple and an efficient method has been developed for the one-pot multicomponent synthesis of pyrano[2,3-d]-pyrimidine derivatives. This was achieved through the condensation reaction between dimethylbarbituric acid, aromatic aldehyde and malononitrile in the presence of a Mn/ZrO2 heterogeneous catalyst with ethanol/water mixture as solvent over only 1 hour. Further advantages to this synthesis methodology include excellent yields, mild reaction conditions, atom economy, environment friendly, reusable catalyst and no need for chromatographic separations.

**Keywords:** Green chemistry; Heterogeneous catalyst; pyranes; pyrimidines; Mn/ZrO<sub>2</sub>; One-Pot synthesis.

## 3.1. Introduction

Multicomponent reactions (MCRs) have emerged as an exciting field of research where three or more reactants are all added together in a single-step to afford pure products in high yield. MCRs are mostly used in organic synthesis, biological discovery, combinatorial library and agrochemical synthesis.<sup>1-4</sup> The simple protocols, inexpensive reactants and green principles involved make MCRs and attractive field of study.4 Well planned MCRs afford higher chemical yields than multiple-step syntheses, resulting in conservation of energy and manpower and are often complete in relatively short reaction times<sup>5</sup> making it an environmentally benign and elegant process.<sup>1,6,7</sup>

The use of heterogeneous catalysts with recyclability and reusability potential add value to the one-pot reactions involving MCRs.<sup>8</sup> The use of heterogeneous catalysts has gained prominence in the field of heterocyclic synthesis because of simple work-up, cost effectiveness, mild reaction conditions, atom economy, good activity, easy recyclability and scope to modify the surface properties.<sup>9,10</sup> Heterogeneous materials are used as green reaction media due to their distinct chemical and physical properties such as non-volatility, thermal stability, non-inflammability, controlled miscibility<sup>10</sup> and playing a vital role as catalysts in the MCRs. Metal oxides are good contenders in this regard as they have a proven track record as catalysts and supports. Thermal calcination of such materials at 773 K, lead to the formation of acidic/basic mixed metallic oxides with moderate surface-area and can act as catalysts for various condensation reactions.

Zirconia (ZrO<sub>2</sub>) is an interesting support material where a particular zirconia phase (cubic, tetragonal etc.) can be stabilized down to room temperature by the amount of dopant added and this can promote the activity of the supported metal catalysts.  $ZrO_2$  has good redox and chemical stability and is an acid–based bi-functional catalyst, which is stable in alkaline or acidic solutions.<sup>11</sup> ZrO<sub>2</sub> in combination with metals (cermets) have been used in organic synthesis<sup>12</sup> and manganese has previously been used as dopant in zirconia. The crystalline structure of  $ZrO_2$  is one of the key factors affecting the structure-activity relationships of Mn-based catalysts.<sup>13</sup> The Mn/ZrO<sub>2</sub> solid material possesses both Bronsted and Lewis acids centers.

Pyranes and pyrimidine derivatives are an important class of heterocyclic compounds that feature in a number of pharmaceutical drugs and natural products of medicinal interest. This class of compounds exhibit a range of sought after features including antimicrobial,<sup>14</sup>

antioxidant,<sup>15</sup> anti-tumor,<sup>16</sup> antimalarial,<sup>17</sup> antimetabolite,<sup>17</sup> antileishmanial,<sup>18</sup> antiviral,<sup>19</sup> antihypertensive,<sup>20</sup> anti-convulsant,<sup>21</sup> and anti-inflammatory activities.<sup>22</sup> The computational chemistry of many of pyrimidine derivatives has also been documented.<sup>23</sup>

Literature search shows several described methods for synthesis of various pyrano[2,3employed [Ch-OSO<sub>3</sub>H]<sub>3</sub>W<sub>12</sub>PO<sub>40</sub>,<sup>24</sup> *d*]pyrimidine derivatives. Such protocols diammoniunhydrogenphosphate<sup>25</sup> microwave irradiation,<sup>26,27</sup> DABCO,<sup>28</sup> electrolysis,<sup>29,30</sup> y-Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>@HAp-Si(CH<sub>2</sub>)<sub>3</sub>SO<sub>3</sub>H,<sup>31</sup> L-proline,<sup>32</sup> NaHCO<sub>3</sub><sup>33</sup> and urea<sup>34</sup> etc. as catalysts. In general terms, many of these approaches face few or more of the limitations such as using toxic reagents, strong acidic or basic conditions, costly reagents and catalysts, strict reaction conditions, tedious steps, and low product yields or long reaction times, which limit their use in practical applications. Thus, researchers are compelled to find new and improved approaches for environmental friendly synthesis of these heterocyclic molecules with impressive yields. The best of our knowledge there are no reports on the multicomponent facile one-pot synthesis of pyrano[2,3-d]pyrimidine derivatives and with EtOH/water mixture as solvent system. In this manuscript we report the synthesis of pyrano [2,3-d]-pyrimidine derivatives by using Mn/ZrO<sub>2</sub> as a catalyst in the presence of equal ratio of EtOH:water for the first time. We report a novel protocol for the synthesis of those derivatives using an inexpensive and robust catalyst which accomplishes the reactions in short reaction times.

## **3.2.** Results and discussions

Reactions were carried out during preliminary investigations to screen for various catalysts and under catalyst-free conditions and varying solvents. Reactions with 1,3-dimethylbarbituric acid (1 mmol), substituted aldehyde (1 mmol) and malononitrile (1.1 mmol) and water or ethanol as solvent and no catalyst showed no reaction at RT even after 12 h under reflux conditions, (Table 1, entries 1-4). To obtain the most efficient catalytic conditions, the title reaction was investigated in the presence of different catalyst materials such as alumina, silica, MnCl<sub>2</sub>, and ZnCl<sub>2</sub> and in the presence of EtOH and water (50:50 v/v). The obtained results are summarized in (Table 1, entries 5-8) and indicate that the reaction did not occur in the presence of alumina or silica, and the yield obtained was very low with MnCl<sub>2</sub> or ZnCl<sub>2</sub>. Further, we tested the scope of reaction in the presence of ionic liquids such as L-proline, (Bmim)BF<sub>4</sub> and (Bmim)OH, but yields were low (Table 1, entry 9-11).

The reactions were also investigated using 30 mg of CuO, MnO<sub>2</sub>, ZrO<sub>2</sub>, as catalysts under room temperature conditions in 1:1 ethanol/water mixture. The CuO, MnO<sub>2</sub> and ZrO<sub>2</sub> gave yields of 42%, 53% and 48%, respectively (Table 1 entry 12-14). The reaction was repeated under similar conditions using Mn/ZrO<sub>2</sub> which gave an excellent yield of 90% in 1 h once optimum dopant percentage had been established. The impact of Mn loading on zirconia in tuning its catalytic efficiency was further investigated. To find the ideal loading of Mn on ZrO<sub>2</sub> on catalyst activity, reactions with 1%, 2% and 5% Mn doped ZrO<sub>2</sub> were carried out under otherwise comparable conditions. The percentage of Mn loading was found to have an influence on the reaction yield as well as reaction time (Table 1, entries 15-17). Using 1% Mn/ZrO<sub>2</sub> catalyst yielded 76% product in 3 h under EtOH/water mixture solvent conditions (Table 1, entry 15). A 2.5% Mn loading was found optimal with 90 % yield in 1 h (Table 1, entry 16). A further increase of metal (5%) loading led to a slight decreased yield (88%) (Table 1, entry 17).

In an effort to find the optimal reaction conditions, the reaction was carried out using various amounts of catalyst at RT. It was found that 30 mg catalyst gave a maximum yield of 90% in 1 h. Using more than 30 mg of catalyst for the reaction had no significant improvement on the yield or the reaction time. However, the decrease in amount of the catalyst to 20 and 10 mg, decreased the product yield to 89%, 87%, 73% and 67%, respectively (Table 1, entries 18-21).

An interrogation of the experimental results and the effect of various polar and non-polar solvents on the three component reaction clearly indicate that the EtOH/water solvent system plays a vital role in facilitating the reaction (Table 1), comparatively less polar solvents like CH<sub>3</sub>CN, DMF afforded poor yields (Table 1, entries 22,23). The protic polar (ethanol, water) solvents on their own failed to produce the anticipated high yield (Table 1, entry 24, 25) but interestingly, the miscible mixture of EtOH:H<sub>2</sub>O (50:50 v/v) gave a high 90% yield. This effect can be explained by a simple acid-base bi-functional catalysis mechanism facilitated by the strong hydrogen bond interaction at the organic–aqueous ethanol interface which stabilizes the reaction intermediate. A highly-polar solvent which dissipates heat faster possibly provide optimum conditions for the formation of intermediates, and their conversion to final products on the catalyst surface.

Using the optimised reaction conditions, the applicability of the protocol was evaluated for the synthesis of other pyrano[2,3-d]pyrimidine derivatives with various aromatic aldehydes.

The Mn/ZrO<sub>2</sub> heterogeneous catalyst proved to be an ideal material to catalyse the facile one-pot synthesis of pyrano[2,3-d]-pyrimidine derivatives with good to excellent yields. All the reaction products with other details are depicted in Table 2. Interestingly, the substrates used and reaction yields obtained suggest that irrespective of electron-withdrawing and electron donating groups in ortho, meta and para positions of the aromatic ring, using Mn/ZrO<sub>2</sub> as catalyst, all the substrates gave good to excellent yields of desired pyrano[2,3-d]-pyrimidine derivatives (Table 2). The plausible reaction pathway is shown in Mechanism 1. All the resultant products were characterized and molecular structures were confirmed by FTIR, <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR and <sup>15</sup>N NMR (GHSQC) spectral analysis (Electronic Supplementary Information).

Entry	Catalyst	Solvent	Condition	Time (h)	Yield (%) <sup>b</sup>
1	No catalyst	$H_2O$	R.T	24	
2	No catalyst	EtOH	R.T	24	
3	No catalyst	$H_2O$	Reflux	12	Trace
4	No catalyst	EtOH	Reflux	12	Trace
5	$Al_2O_3$	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	R.T	10	
6	$SiO_2$	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	R.T	10	
7	$MnCl_2$	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	R.T	5	28
8	$ZnCl_2$	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	R.T	8	18
9	L-proline	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	Reflux	3	48
10	(Bmim)BF <sub>4</sub>	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	Reflux	4	44
11	Bmim)OH	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	Reflux	3.5	51
12	CuO (30 mg)	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	R.T	6	42
13	MnO (30 mg)	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	R.T	3.5	53
14	ZrO <sub>2</sub> (30 mg)	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	R.T	4	48
15	1% Mn/ZrO <sub>2</sub> (30 mg)	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	R.T	3	76
16	2.5% Mn/ZrO <sub>2</sub> (30 mg)	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	R.T	1	95
17	5% Mn/ZrO <sub>2</sub> (30 mg)	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	R.T	1	93
18	$Mn/ZrO_2$ (40 mg)	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	R.T	1	94
19	$Mn/ZrO_2$ (50 mg)	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	R.T	1.5	92
20	$Mn/ZrO_2$ (20 mg)	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	R.T	2	73
21	$Mn/ZrO_2$ (10 mg)	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	R.T	2	67
22	$Mn/ZrO_2$ (40 mg)	CH <sub>3</sub> CN	R.T	3.5	46
23	$Mn/ZrO_2$ (40 mg)	DMF	R.T	4	35
24	$Mn/ZrO_2$ (30 mg)	EtOH	R.T	3	74
25	$Mn/ZrO_2$ (30 mg)	$H_2O$	R.T	3.5	69

**Table 1:** Optimization condition for the synthesis of pyrano[2,3-d]-pyrimidines by Mn/ZrO<sub>2</sub> catalyst<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>All products were characterised by IR, <sup>1</sup>HNMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR and <sup>15</sup>N NMR (GHSQC) spectral analysis.

<sup>b</sup>Isolated yields; -- No reaction

Entry	R	Product	Yield (%)	Mp °C	Lit Mp °C
1	4-MeO-Ph	4a	91	225-226	225-227 [29]
2	2,3-(MeO) <sub>2</sub> -Ph	4b	92	216-218	
3	2,5-(MeO) <sub>2</sub> -Ph	4c	90	231-233	
4	2-Br-Ph	4d	92	202-203	
5	4-Br-Ph	4e	90	210-211	
6	2-Cl-Ph	4f	89	235-237	237-238 [29]
7	3-NO <sub>2</sub> -Ph	4g	91	221-223	
8	3-OH-Ph	4h	89	196-198	
9	Ph	4i	90	219-220	219-222 [29]
10	2-F-Ph	4j	91	237-238	
11	3-F-Ph	4k	89	214-215	

Table 2: Synthesis of pyrano[2,3-d]-pyrimidines derivatives catalyzed by Mn/ZrO<sub>2</sub> catalyst

<sup>a</sup>Reaction conditions: dimethylbarbituric acid (1.0 mmol), aromatic aldehyde (1.0 mmol) and malononitrile (1.0 mmol) and EtOH:water (1:1 v/v, 10 mL), RT.

<sup>b</sup>All synthesized compounds are identified and their structures were conformed with IR, <sup>1</sup>HNMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectral data and melting points as compared with literature values.

-- New compounds/no literature available.



**Mechanism:** Plausible reaction mechanism for the formation of pyrano[2,3-d]-pyrimidine derivatives

#### **3.2.1. BET surface and ICP analysis**

Figure 1 illustrates the N<sub>2</sub> adsorption–desorption isotherms and pore size distribution curves for the Mn doped ZrO<sub>2</sub>. The catalyst displays the characteristic hysteresis loop of a Type IV isotherm (IUPAC) lying in the  $p/p_o$  range of 0.6-0.95 typical for mesoporous materials. The pore size distribution and specific area was calculated from the Barrett-Joyner-Halenda (BJH adsorption) and Brunauer-Emmett-Teller methods respectively. The BET surface area of Mn/ZrO<sub>2</sub> was confirmed to be 188.47 m<sup>2</sup>/g with an average pore size and volume of 11.9 nm and 0.567 cm<sup>3</sup>/g respectively. The metal wt % obtained from ICP is in correlation with the nominal weight loading.



Figure 1: BET surface of Mn/ZrO<sub>2</sub> catalyst

### 3.2.2. Powder X-ray diffractogram (XRD) analysis

The XRD patterns of the calcined 2% Mn on ZrO<sub>2</sub> catalyst are demonstrated in Figure 2. The high intensity of the peaks suggested that all the prepared catalysts are polycrystalline in nature. The *d*-spacing's at 2 theta angles of 25.3, 34.9, 38.9, and 55.3 for Mn<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> respectively. This is in good agreement with the ICDD PDF No. 65-7467. From the XRD diffractograms it is evidenced that Mn<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> is the major phase in all the catalysts. There is a formation of additional phase i.e Mn<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> is observed. The d-spacing's at a 2 theta angles of 32.5, 54.6 and 63.1 for Mn<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> which is correspond to the ICDD PDF No. 39-1218 for Mn<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> phase. The ZrO<sub>2</sub> showed the sharp peaks corresponding to tetragonal ZrO<sub>2</sub> (ICDD PDF No. 88-1007,  $2\theta = 25.7$ , 38.2, 49.8, and 55.7.



Figure. 2. Powder X-ray diffractogram spectra of Mn/ZrO<sub>2</sub> catalyst

**3.2.3.** Infrared-spectra (FT-IR) Figure 3 displays FT-IR spectra of mesoporous Mn on  $ZrO_2$  catalyst exhibited characteristic absorption band at 3368.6 cm<sup>-1</sup>, 1655.4 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 1368.3 cm<sup>-1</sup> corresponding to the vibration of hydroxyl group, which involve the O-H vibrating mode of traces of adsorbed water. Absorption band at 749.8 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 492.3 cm<sup>-1</sup> was due to stretching peaks of Mn-O-Mn and Mn-O vibrations, respectively in accord with literature values.<sup>35</sup> A strong absorption band was observed at 1136.3 cm<sup>-1</sup> for the asymmetric stretching of Zr–O group, supporting the formation of ZrO<sub>2</sub> groups on their surfaces. No organic groups were found to be surface adsorbed based on IR results.



Figure 3. FT-IR image of Mn/ZrO<sub>2</sub> catalyst

## 3.2.4. SEM & TEM analysis

The SEM image of the prepared catalyst is shown in Figure 4. The catalyst was crystalline in nature but with a coarse surface morphology. The manganese oxide particles were observed as hexagonal-shaped particles which were dispersed on the surface of the zirconia. The manganese oxide particles are shown in a red colour circles in Figure 4. These observations are also in agreement with literature.<sup>36</sup> The TEM images showed that the zirconia particles are irregular and oval-shaped. The red circles in Figure 5 shows the manganese oxide particles which might be agglomerated on the surface of zirconia.



Figure 4. SEM image of Mn/ZrO<sub>2</sub> catalyst



Figure 5. TEM image of Mn/ZrO<sub>2</sub> catalyst

#### **3.2.5.** Reusability of Mn/ZrO<sub>2</sub>

To test reusability, a recycling experiment was employed using a model reaction. Thus, after completion of reaction, the catalyst was recovered by filtration, washed with ethanol and dried under vacuum. The recovered catalyst was re-used for six times with a slight loss in catalytic activity (Figure 6). The minor loss perceived in the catalytic activity after 6th run could be due to poisoning by organic impurities.



Figure 6. Recyclability of Mn/ZrO<sub>2</sub> catalyst

## **3.3.** Experimental section

## **3.3.1.** Catalyst preparation

Mn doped  $ZrO_2$  of various wt.% was prepared by a wet impregnation technique as described in our earlier reports.<sup>37,38</sup> 5.0 g of zirconium oxide powder (Alfa Aesar Chemical) was suspended in 250 mL of double distilled water and mixed with the desired masses of MnCl<sub>2</sub> (Manganese (II) chloride tetrahydrate, Aldrich) based on the weight percentages of interest. The mixture was stirred for 4 h using a magnetic stirrer at room temperature (RT) and then heated to 90 °C for 4 h. The precipitate was dried in an air oven at 110-120 °C for 12 h, followed by calcination at 450 °C for 5 h to afford the 1%, 2.5% & 5% w/w of the Mn/ZrO<sub>2</sub> catalysts.

#### 3.3.2. General procedure for the synthesis of pyrano[2,3-d]-pyrimidines

A solution containing dimethylbarbituric acid (1 mmol), substituted aldehyde (1 mmol), malononitrile (1.1 mmol) and Mn/ZrO<sub>2</sub> (30 mg) in mixture of EtOH:H<sub>2</sub>O (1:1 v/v, 10 mL) was continuously stirred for 1.0 h at RT using a magnetic stirrer (Scheme 1). The progress and

completion of the reaction was monitored by TLC. The reaction mixture was then filtered, and the filtrate was subsequently evaporated under reduced pressure to obtain the crude product which was recrystallized with ethanol to afford pure product (4a-k). The recovered catalyst was subjected to washing with ethanol, dried and re-used for up to six cycles.



Scheme 1: Synthesis of pyrano[2,3-d]-pyrimidine derivatives

**7-Amino-5-(4-methoxyphenyl)-1,3-dimethyl-2,4-dioxo-2,3,4,5-tetrahydro-1H-pyrano[2,3-d]-pyrimidine-6-carbonitrile (4a)**: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 3.07$  (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.36 (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.72 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.31 (s, 1H, CH), 6.83 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.14 (d, J = 8.04 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.29 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>):  $\delta$  27.64, 29.74, 35.81, 55.02, 58.55, 89.09, 113.64, 119.17, 128.18, 136.81, 149.95, 150.87, 157.88, 158.38, 160.45; <sup>15</sup>N NMR (40.55 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  7.29 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3368, 3307, 3181, 2965, 2188, 1682, 1680, 1605, 1508; HRMS of [C<sub>17</sub>H<sub>16</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O<sub>4</sub> – H] (m/z): 339.2011; Calcd.: 339.2021.

## 7-Amino-5-(2,3-dimethoxyphenyl)-1,3-dimethyl-2,4-dioxo-2,3,4,5-tetrahydro-1H-

**pyrano**[2,3-d]-pyrimidine-6-carbonitrile (4b): <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  = 3.06 (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.36 (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.75 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.78 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.61 (s, 1H, CH), 6.71 (d, *J* = 7.04 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.87 (d, *J* = 8.00, 1H, ArH), 6.94 (t, *J* = 7.96, 1H, ArH), 7.22 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>):  $\delta$  27.59, 29.07, 31.06, 55.49, 58.15, 59.90, 83.77, 111.29, 119.07, 120.70, 123.60, 136.99, 146.32, 149.94, 151.28, 152.24, 157.85, 160.37; <sup>15</sup>N NMR (40.55 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  7.22 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3317, 2937, 2188, 1681, 1645, 1474; HRMS of [C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>18</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O<sub>5</sub> + Na] (m/z): 393.1166; Calcd.: 393.1175..

## 7-Amino-5-(2,5-dimethoxyphenyl)-1,3-dimethyl-2,4-dioxo-2,3,4,5-tetrahydro-1H-

pyrano[2,3-d]-pyrimidine-6-carbonitrile (4c): <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  = 3.07 (s, 3H,

NCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.38 (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.65 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.69 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.58 (s, 1H, CH), 6.64 (d, J = 3.02 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.74 (dd, J = 8.9, 3 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.89 (d, J = 8.9 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.15 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>):  $\delta$  27.59, 29.00, 31.32, 55.22, 56.34, 57.63, 88.05, 111.51, 112.76, 115.37, 119.02, 130.99, 150.00, 150.23, 151.52, 153.15, 158.15, 160.34; <sup>15</sup>N NMR (40.55 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  7.15 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3302, 3175, 2934, 2194, 1715, 1683, 1634, 1599, 1487; HRMS of [C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>18</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O<sub>5</sub> – H] (m/z): 369.0389; Calcd.: 371.0395.

7-Amino-5-(2-bromophenyl)-1,3-dimethyl-2,4-dioxo-2,3,4,5-tetrahydro-1H-pyrano[2,3-d]pyrimidine-6-carbonitrile (4d): <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 3.05$  (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.36 (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.86 (s, 1H, CH), 7.11-7.15 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.28 (d, J = 4.2 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.33 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.53 (d, J = 8.00 Hz, 1H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>):  $\delta$  27.58, 29.12, 35.80, 57.36, 88.23, 118.42, 122.77, 128.07, 128.64, 130.25, 132.45, 149.97, 151.47, 157.64, 160.28; <sup>15</sup>N NMR (40.55 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  7.33 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3310, 2930, 2913, 1684, 1637, 1470; HRMS of [C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>13</sub>BrN<sub>4</sub>O<sub>3</sub> – H] (m/z): 387.0103; Calcd.: 387.0093..

**7-Amino-5-(4-bromophenyl)-1,3-dimethyl-2,4-dioxo-2,3,4,5-tetrahydro-1H-pyrano[2,3-d]pyrimidine-6-carbonitrile (4e):** <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 3.07$  (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.34 (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.32 (s, 1H, CH), 7.21 (d, J = 8.00 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.35 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.47 (d, J = 8.00 Hz, 2H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>):  $\delta$  27.62, 29.09, 36.04, 58.03, 88.22, 118.85, 119.80, 129.67, 131.07, 143.54, 149.95, 151.15, 157.57, 160.43; <sup>15</sup>N NMR (40.55 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  7.35 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3426, 3299, 2930, 2189, 1683, 1633, 1487.

**7-Amino-5-(2-chlorophenyl)-1,3-dimethyl-2,4-dioxo-2,3,4,5-tetrahydro-1H-pyrano[2,3-d]pyrimidine-6-carbonitrile (4f):** <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 3.06$  (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.36 (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.86 (s, 1H, CH), 7.23-7.36 (m, 6H, ArH, NH<sub>2</sub>); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>):  $\delta$  27.59, 29.11, 33.52, 57.18, 87.97, 118.52, 127.46, 128.37, 129.24, 132.17, 141.08, 149.97, 151.50, 157.76, 160.28; <sup>15</sup>N NMR (40.55 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  7.30 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3382, 3310, 3193, 2959, 2193, 1703, 1684, 1638, 1474; HRMS of [C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>13</sub>ClN<sub>4</sub>O<sub>3</sub> – H] (m/z): 343.0992; Calcd.: 343.1008.

**7-Amino-5-(3-nitrophenyl)-1,3-dimethyl-2,4-dioxo-2,3,4,5-tetrahydro-1H-pyrano[2,3-d]-pyrimidine-6-carbonitrile (4g):** <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  = 3.01 (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.34 (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 5.12 (s, 1H, CH), 7.43 (d, *J* = 8.00 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.48 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.51 (s, 1H, ArH), 7.64 (t, *J* = 8.00, 1H, ArH), 7.83 (d, *J* = 8.00 Hz, 1H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>):  $\delta$  27.57, 29.11, 30.77, 56.62, 88.33, 118.40, 123.63, 128.02, 130.73, 133.42, 138.38, 149.05,

121

149.87, 151.82, 158.31, 160.50; <sup>15</sup>N NMR (40.55 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  7.48 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3373, 3306, 3184, 2957, 2196, 1706, 1683, 1632, 1522, 1490; HRMS of [C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>13</sub>N<sub>5</sub>O<sub>5</sub> – H] (m/z): 354.0844; Calcd.: 354.0838.

**7-Amino-5-(3-hydroxyphenyl)-1,3-dimethyl-2,4-dioxo-2,3,4,5-tetrahydro-1H-pyrano[2,3-d]pyrimidine-6-carbonitrile (4h):** <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 3.09$  (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.35 (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.21 (s, 1H, CH), 6.58-6.66 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.06 (t, J = 8.00 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.29 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 8.42 (s, 1H, OH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>):  $\delta$  27.65, 29.05, 36.35, 58.62, 88.98, 113.76, 114.15, 117.92, 119.05, 129.19, 145.48, 149.94, 150.96, 157.22, 160.43, 165.86; <sup>15</sup>N NMR (40.55 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  7.29 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3370, 3303, 3199, 2965, 2197, 1783, 1636, 1598, 1484; HRMS of [C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>14</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O<sub>4</sub> – H] (m/z): 325.0894; Calcd.: 325.0900.

**7-Amino-1,3-dimethyl-2,4-dioxo-5-phenyl-2,3,4,5-tetrahydro-1H-pyrano**[**2,3-d**]-**pyrimidine-6-carbonitrile (4i):** <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 3.07$  (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.35 (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.31 (s, 1H, CH), 7.18-7.28 (m, 5H, ArH), 7.30 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>):  $\delta$  27.63, 29.07, 36.47, 58.63, 88.78, 119.01, 126.73, 127.28, 129.49, 130.44, 144.08, 149.97, 151.09, 157.63, 160.45; <sup>15</sup>N NMR (40.55 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  7.30 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3380, 3307, 3193, 2866, 2196, 1703, 1682, 1639, 1607, 1493; HRMS of [C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>14</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O<sub>3</sub> – H] (m/z): 309.0984; Calcd.: 309.0988.

7-Amino-5-(2-fluorophenyl)-1,3-dimethyl-2,4-dioxo-2,3,4,5-tetrahydro-1H-pyrano[2,3-d]pyrimidine-6-carbonitrile (4j): <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  = 3.06 (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.35 (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.61 (s, 1H, CH), 7.11 (t, *J* = 7.68 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.24-7.27 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.35 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>):  $\delta$  27.60, 29.07, 30.42, 57.16, 87.59, 115.36, 118.74, 124.43, 128.70, 128.78, 129.69, 149.95, 151.43, 157.93, 158.78, 160.75; <sup>15</sup>N NMR (40.55 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  7.35 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3384, 3311, 3194, 2962, 2195, 1683, 1637, 1509, 1488; HRMS of [C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>13</sub>FN<sub>4</sub>O<sub>3</sub> – H] (m/z): 327.0889; Calcd.: 327.0893.

**7-Amino-5-(3-fluorophenyl)-1,3-dimethyl-2,4-dioxo-2,3,4,5-tetrahydro-1H-pyrano[2,3-d]pyrimidine-6-carbonitrile (4k):** <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  = 3.07 (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.34 (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.36 (s, 1H, CH), 7.02-7.10 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.32-7.34 (m, 3H, ArH, NH<sub>2</sub>); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>):  $\delta$  27.62, 29.08, 36.20, 58.10, 88.11, 113.89, 114.50, 118.85, 123.45, 130.05, 147.01, 147.07, 149.99, 151.29, 157.62, 160.51; <sup>15</sup>N NMR (40.55 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  7.32 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3382, 3305, 3192, 2194, 1711, 1683, 1635, 1613, 1490.

## **3.4.** Conclusions

In conclusion, we report an environmentally benign and an efficient one-pot multicomponent green synthesis of pyrano-[2,3-d]-pyrimidine derivatives using Mn/ZrO<sub>2</sub> as catalyst in green solvent media and with good atom efficiency. This simple and recyclable heterogeneous catalyst, Mn/ZrO<sub>2</sub> shows high catalytic activity for multicomponent reactions. The current method deals several advantages such as short reaction time, cost-effectiveness, purity of products, excellent yields, use of small amount of inexpensive catalyst and environmentally benign green solvent.

## 3.5. Acknowledgements

Authors are grateful to the National Research Foundation of South Africa for financial support and University of KwaZulu-Natal for the research facilities.

## **3.6.** References

- 1 A. Sanchez, L. Quijano, M. Melguizo and M. Nogeras, *Monatsh. Chem.*, 1989, **120**, 1119.
- 2. C. Kalinski, M. Umkehrer, L. Weber, J. Kolb, C. Burdack and G. Ross, *Mol. Divers.*, 2010, **14**, 513-522.
- 3 B.B. Toure and D.G. Hall, *Chem. Rev.*, 2009, **109**, 4439-4486.
- 4 C.C. Razvan, E. Ruijter and R.V.A. Orru, *Green Chem.*, 2014, **16**, 2958-2975.
- 5 Y. Huang, A. Yazbak and A. Domling, In Green Techniques for Organic Synthesis and Medicinal Chemistry, John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, Chichester, UK., 2012, 497-522.
- 6 A. Domling, W. Wang and K. Wang, *Chem. Rev.*, 2012, **112**, 3083–3135.
- 7 J.M. Quintela, C. Peinador and M.J. Moreira. *Tetrahedron.*, 1995, **51**(20), 5901-5912.
- 8 M.J. Climent, A. Corma and S. Iborra. *RSC Adv.*, 2012, **2**, 16-58.
- 9 S. Marc-Olivier and L. Chao-Jun, *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 2012, **41**, 1415-1427.
- 10 J.H. Clark. Acc. Chem. Res., 2002, 35, 791-797.
- 11. K. Tanabe and W.F. Holderich, Appl. Catal. A: Gen., 1999, 181, 399-434.
- 12 R. Pagadala, D.R. Kommidi, S. Rana, S. Maddila, B. Moodley, N.A. Koorbanally and S.B. Jonnalagadda, RSC Advan., DOI: 10.1039/C4RA13552K (In Press).
- 13 M.D. Rhodes, K.A. Pokrovski and A.T. Bell, J. Catal., 2005, 233, 210-220.
- 14 A.H. Bedair, H.A. Emam, N.A. El-Hady, K.A.R. Ahmed and A.M. El-Agrody, *Il Farmaco.*, 2001, **56**, 965–973.

- B.C. Venkatesh, A. Muralikrishna and A. Padmaja, *Arch. Pharm. Chem. Life Sci.*, 2012, 345, 745–752.
- 16 E.M. Grivsky, S. Lee, C.W. Sigel, D.S. Duch and C.A. Nichol, J. Med. Chem., 1980,
  23, 327–329.
- 17 J. Davoll, J. Clarke and E.F. Elslager, J. Med. Chem., 1972, 15, 837–839.
- 18 A. Agarwal, R. Ashutosh, N. Goyal, P.M.S. Chauhan and S. Gupta. J. Bioorg. Med. Chem., 2005, 24(13), 6678–6684.
- 19 A.H. Shamroukh, M.A. Zaki, E.M.H. Morsy, F.M. Abdel- Motti and F.M.E. Abdel-Megeid. Arch. Pharm. Chem. Life Sci., 2007, 340, 236–243.
- 20 L.R. Bennett, C.J. Blankely, R.W. Fleming, R.D. Smith and D.K. Tessonam, J. Med. Chem., 1981, 24, 382-288.
- K.N. Mohana, B.N.P. Klumar and L. Mallesha, *Drug Invent.Today.*, 2013, 5, 216-222.
- 22 M.S. Mohamed, R.Kamel and S.S. Fatahala, *Eur. J. Med. Chem.*, 2010, **45**, 2994-3004.
- 23 A.M. Fargualy, N.S. Habib, K.A. Ismail, A.M.M. Hassan and M.T.M. Sarg, *Eur. J. Med. Chem.*, 2013, 66, 276-295.
- 24 S.P. Satasia, P.N. Kalaria, J.R. Avalani and D.K. Raval, *Tetrahedron.*,2014, **70**, 5763-5767.
- S. Balalaie, S. Abdolmohammadi, H.R. Bijanzadeh and A.M. Amani, *Mol. Diver.*, 2008, 12, 85–91.
- Y. Gao, S. Tu, T. Li, X. Zhang, S. Zhu, F. Fang and D. Shi, *Syn. Commun.*, 2004, 34(7), 1295–1299.
- 27 I. Devi, B.S.D. Kumar and P.J. Bhuyan, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2003, 44, 8307–8310.
- 28 R. Baharfar and R. Azimi, *Syn. Commun.*, 2014, **44**, 89–100.
- 29 M.N. Elinson, A.I. Ilovaisky, V.M. Merkulov, T.A. Zaimovskay and G.I. Nikishin, *Mendeleev Commun.*, 2011, **21**, 122–124.
- 30 F. Seeliger, S.T.A. Berger, G.Y. Remennikov, K. Polborn, and H. Mayr, J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 9170-9180
- 31 L. Jalili-Baleh, N. Mohammadi, M. Khoobi, L. Maimani, A. Foroumadi and A. Shafiee, *Helvet. Chimi. Acta.*, 2013, 96, 1601-1609.
- 32 D.S. Raghuvanshi and K.N. Singh. J. Heterocycl. Chem., 2010, 47, 1323-1327.
- 33 Y. He, H. Guo and J. Tian. J. Chem. Res., 2011, 528–530.

- G. Brahmachari and B. Banerjee, *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.*, 2014, **2**, 411–422.
- 35 X.J. Yang, Y. Makia, Z.H. Liu, K. Sakane and K. Ooi, *Chem. Mater.*, 2004, **16**, 5581-5589.
- 36 Q. Zhao, W.Y. Shih, H-L. Chang and W-H. Shih. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, 2010, **49**, 1725–1731.
- S. Maddila, V.D.B.C. Dasireddy and S.B. Jonnalagadda, *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.*, 2014, 150-151, 305-314.
- 38 S. Maddila, V.D.B.C. Dasireddy and S.B. Jonnalagadda, Appl. Catal. B: Environ., 2013, 138-139, 149-160.

## 3.7. Supplementary materials data

#### 3.7.1. Materials, methods and instruments

All chemicals and reagents required for the reaction were of analytical grade and were used without any further purification. Bruker AMX NMR spectrometer was used to record the <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR and <sup>15</sup>N NMR spectral values. The DMSO–d<sub>6</sub> solution was utilized for this while TMS served as the internal standard. TMS was further used as an internal standard for reporting the all chemical shifts in  $\delta$  (ppm). The FT-IR spectrum for the samples was established using a Perkin Elmer Perkin Elmer Precisely 100 FT-IR spectrometer at the 400-4000 cm<sup>-1</sup> area. Purity of all the reaction products was confirmed by TLC using aluminum plates coated with silica gel (Merck Kieselgel 60 F254).

### **3.7.2.** Characterization of catalysts

Micromeritics Tristar-II porosity and surface area analyzer was used estimation of pore size, pore volume and surface area of the catalysts. BJH adsorption-desorption curves were obtained at -196 °C, to assess the particulate properties of the catalyst. All the catalyst materials were degassed by passing nitrogen overnight at 200 °C. Bruker D8 advance instrument with a Cu K radiation source by  $\lambda = 1.5406$  was used for the X-ray diffraction data for the catalyst. Jeol JEM-1010 electron microscope and JEOL JSM-6100 microscope were used for TEM and SEM analysis respectively. In TEM analysis for particles distribution, size of 40-60 particles were averaged and with standard deviation. An emission current (100  $\mu$ A) by a Tungsten (W) filament with 12 kV accelerator voltage was employed for EDX-analysis of the SEM images. Elemental composition of the catalyst materials was established by using Inductively Coupled Plasma Optical Emission Spectrometer (Optima 5300 DV).



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound 4a


<sup>15</sup>N NMR (GHSQC) spectra of compound 4a



FT-IR spectra of compound 4a



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound 4b



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound 4b



<sup>15</sup>N NMR (GHSQC) spectra of compound 4b



FT-IR spectra of compound 4b



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound 4c









FT-IR spectra of compound 4c



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound 4d



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound 4d



<sup>15</sup>N NMR (GHSQC) spectra of compound 4d



FT-IR spectra of compound 4d



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound 4e



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound 4e



<sup>15</sup>N NMR (GHSQC) spectra of compound 4e



FT-IR spectra of compound 4e



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound 4f



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound 4f



<sup>15</sup>N NMR (GHSQC) spectra of compound 4f



FT-IR spectra of compound 4f



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound 4g







FT-IR spectra of compound 4g



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound 4h



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound 4h



FT-IR spectra of compound 4h



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound 4i



# <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound 4i



<sup>15</sup>N NMR (GHSQC) spectra of compound 4i



FT-IR spectra of compound 4i



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound 4j



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound 4j



<sup>15</sup>N NMR (GHSQC) spectra of compound 4j



FT-IR spectra of compound 4j



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound 4k







FT-IR spectra of compound 4k

# **CHAPTER-4**

# Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyzed cascade for C–C and C–O bond activation: Green one-pot synthesis of 2-amino-3-cyano-4*H*-pyrans

Surya Narayana Maddila, Suresh Maddila, Werner E. van Zyl and Sreekanth B Jonnalagadda \*

School of Chemistry and Physics, University of Kwa-Zulu Natal, Westville Campus, Private Bag X 54001, Durban, 4000, South Africa.

<b>Corresponding Author:</b>	*Prof. Sreekanth B. Jonnalagadda
	School of Chemistry & Physics,
	University of KwaZulu-Natal,
	Durban 4000, South Africa.
	Tel.: +27 31 2607325, Fax: +27 31 2603091
	E-mail address: jonnalagaddas@ukzn.ac.za



DOI: 10.1002/open.201500159

Open Access ChemistryOPEN

# Ceria–Vanadia/Silica-Catalyzed Cascade for C–C and C–O Bond Activation: Green One-Pot Synthesis of 2-Amino-3cyano-4*H*-pyrans

Surya Narayana Maddila, Suresh Maddila, Werner E. van Zyl, and Sreekantha B. Jonnalagadda\*<sup>(a)</sup>

This chapter is published in the journal of ChemistryOpen and has been structured according to

the journal's format.

# Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyzed cascade for C–C and C–O bond activation: Green one-pot synthesis of 2-amino-3-cyano-4*H*-pyrans

Surya Narayana Maddila, Suresh Maddila, Werner E. van Zyl and Sreekanth B Jonnalagadda\*

 \*School of Chemistry & Physics, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Westville Campus, Chiltern Hills, Durban-4000, South Africa
 \*Corresponding Author: Prof. Sreekanth B. Jonnalagadda

School of Chemistry & Physics,
University of KwaZulu-Natal,
Durban 4000, South Africa.
Tel.: +27 31 2607325,
Fax: +27 31 2603091
E-mail address: jonnalagaddas@ukzn.ac.za

# Abstract

An efficient green protocol for the synthesis of the 2-amino-3-cyano-4*H*-pyran derivatives employing a multicomponent one-pot condensation reaction of 5,5dimethylcyclohexane-1,3-dione, aromatic aldehyde and malononitrile was designed using a Ce- $V/SiO_2$  heterogeneous catalyst in the of the eco-compatible solvent (ethanol). The catalyst was synthesised and fully characterized by PXRD, TEM, SEM and BET surface area analysis. The reported procedure offers a number of advantages including reduced reaction times, mild conditions, high yields, operational simplicity, and environmentally benign and simple work-up procedures. Furthermore, the catalyst is economical, fully recyclable and reusable for over 5 runs while preserving its high activity.

Keywords: Green protocol, 4H-pyrans, Multicomponent synthesis, Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub>, Recyclable

## 4.1. Introduction

Multicomponent reactions (MCRs) are exciting new synthetic protocols geared toward heterocyclic scaffolds as building blocks of biological and medicinal importance [1,2]. MCR have many advantages over conventional linear-type syntheses by virtue of their convergence, productivity, facile execution, and high yields [3]. Moreover, MCRs conform green principles such as one-pot conversions and atom efficiency, in addition to other conditions opted for synthesis of heterocyclics [4]. These single-step processes have distinctive suppleness in generating molecular diversity combined with minimization of time, cost efficiency plus moderate reaction conditions.

In the recent past, heterogeneous mixed metal oxide catalysts started to receive greater attention. Such systems are successfully utilised in the augmentation of heterocyclic synthesis and green reaction protocols [5]. Heterogeneous catalytic processes based on metal oxide catalysts are simpler, highly efficient and eco-friendly with greater selectivity [6]. Heterogeneous catalysts possess added advantages such as thermal stability, shape selectivity, acidic or basic nature, non-toxic crystalline solid and easy handling [6]. Easy salvage and reusability are additional benefits. Hence, considering current legislation and industry needs, heterogeneous catalysts is a notable option for one-pot synthesis involving multicomponent reactions.

Silica (SiO<sub>2</sub>) is an efficient and cheap support material, which can readily promote the activity of the supported metal catalysts. SiO<sub>2</sub> has good acid-base properties, has a non-toxic nature and high chemical thermal stability [7]. It has high surface area and carries a vast concentration of active sites. SiO<sub>2</sub> by itself or in combination with metals (composites) have been used in organic synthesis [8]. This acid–based bi-functional catalyst has emerged as an attractive option as support material for the activation and stabilization of ceria and vanadia. The crystalline structure of SiO<sub>2</sub> has been reported as a key factor in explaining the structure-activity relationships of mixed oxides of Ce and V catalysts as the Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> solid material possesses both Bronsted and Lewis acid centers [9].

Due to variety of therapeutic, pharmacological, biological and agricultural applications for heterocyclics in the fields of organic, pharmaceutical, medicinal and combinatorial chemistry, heterocyclic compounds as catalysts have gained importance [10,11]. The pyrans and benzopyrans received significant attention in heterocyclic synthesis [12], as they possess an oxygen heteroatom and exhibit diverse biological properties such as anti-bacterial and antifungal

[13], anticancer [14], anti-inflammatory [15], antirheumatic [16], anti-HIV [17], and anti-Alzheimer activities [18] and is also used for treatment of disorder in the central nervous system [19]. Applications of pyran containing compounds as ligands in coordination chemistry, herbicidal, and insecticidal in pesticide chemistry are also well-documented. Thus, the synthesis of substituted pyran derivatives has been the topic of many research investigations and several approaches have been pursued using various catalysts, including HMTAB [20],  $H_6P_2W_{12}O_{62}$ . $H_2O$  [21],  $RE(PFO)_3$  [22], phenylboronic acid [23], PPA-SiO<sub>2</sub> [24], per-6-amino- $\beta$ -cyclodextrin [25], L-proline [26], DMAP [27], Bmim[BF<sub>4</sub>] [28], MNP@P[imEt][Br] [29], TBAF [30] amongst others. However, many of these procedures have one or more drawbacks such as moderate yields, requirement of expensive reagents, toxic organic solvents, stoichiometric catalysts, extreme reaction conditions, lengthy procedures or long reaction times,. Moreover, in many cases, the catalysts used are not recyclable. Therefore, the development of an effective and facile procedure with high generality for the synthesis of 4*H*-pyrans would be timely and of considerable interest.

In continuing our research in developing new methodologies for synthesis of heterocycles [31,32] we here communicate an efficient method for the synthesis of 2-amino-3-cyano-4*H*-pyran derivatives (4a-k) in high yields in the presence of a Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> heterogeneous and reusable catalyst under green conditions.

## 4.2. Experimental procedure

#### 4.2.1 Catalyst preparation

Ce-V loaded silica mixed oxide (Ce-V) with a Ce:V molar ratio of 1:1 was synthesised by the wet impregnation method [33,34]. Cerium nitrate, Ce(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub>.6H<sub>2</sub>O, (Aldrich-99%) and vanadyl sulfate, VOSO<sub>4</sub>.xH<sub>2</sub>O, (Aldrich-97%) were dissolved in 50 mL distilled water and this was followed by 2.0 g of silica (SiO<sub>2</sub>, Aldrich) added to the mixture. The reaction mixture was continuously stirred for 4 h at room temperature (RT) and the mixture was further dried in an oven at 110 °C overnight and then calcined in air flow at 500 °C for 4 h to obtain the various 1, 2 and 4 wt % of mixed oxides of Ce and V loaded silica catalysts.

#### 4.2.2 General procedure for the synthesis of 2-amino-3-cyano-4H-pyran derivatives

A mixture of 5,5-dimethylcyclohexane-1,3-dione **1** (1 mmol), aromatic aldehyde **2** (1 mmol), malononitrile **3** (1.1 mmol) were dissolved in EtOH (10 mL) at RT. The 2% Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst (30 mg) was added to the reaction mixture and continuously stirred for 1 h. The

completion of the reaction mixture was monitored by thin-layer chromatography (TLC) analysis (**Scheme 1**). After completion of the reaction, the solid heterogeneous catalyst was filtered. The attained catalyst was washed with acetone and dried under reduced pressure in 70-80 °C for 2 h and kept aside for use in the next reaction. The filtrate was concentrated to obtain the crude product and purified by recrystallization in ethanol to afford compounds.



Scheme. 1: Synthesis of 2-amino-3-cyano-4H-pyran derivatives

# 4.3. Results and discussion

To establish the optimum reaction conditions, to maximize the yield and reduce reaction times, the reaction was investigated under varied conditions of catalysts and solvents. The initial experiment was conducted with 5,5-dimethylcyclohexane-1,3-dione **1** (1 mmol), benzaldehyde **2a** (1 mmol) and malononitrile **3** (1.2 mmol) in aqueous media, without any catalyst at RT, and no reaction was observed. Even after 24 h under reflux conditions, the reaction showed no product (Table 1, entries 1 and 2). The same reaction was repeated with ethanol as solvent, but no product was obtained even after 12 h (Table 1, entry 3). Interestingly, a trace amount of the predicted product was observed, when MgO, Mn/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> or V/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> were used as catalysts in the ethanol media (Table 1, entry 4-6), but no reaction was apparent in presence of strongly basic catalysts, such as piperidine or K<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> and ethanol as solvent (Table 1, entries 7 & 8). The acidic catalysts PTSA, SiO<sub>2</sub> and ZnCl<sub>2</sub> were attempted, but found to be less effective as reactions gave only 21–34% yield of the expected product (Table 1, entries 9-11). The scope of reaction in the presence of the L-proline and also ionic liquids such as (Bmim)BF<sub>4</sub> and (Bmim)OH was also explored, but yields were low (Table 1, entries 12-14). With CeO<sub>2</sub>/SiO<sub>2</sub> and V<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>/SiO<sub>2</sub> as a

catalyst in ethanol, yields of 55% and 58% were obtained (Table 1, entries 15, 16). This could be due to the high surface area of  $V_2O_5$  on silica than Ce on silica which increases the availability of vanadium active sites for the reaction. Further, we examined HClO<sub>4</sub>/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst to afford less yield 45%. Then, we investigated the range of Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> which is a bi-functional acid/base catalyst with ethanol as solvent. The reaction was repeated under similar conditions using Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> which gave an excellent yield of 95% in 1 h once optimum dopant percentage had been established. The impact of cerium, vanadia loading on silica in tuning its catalytic efficiency was further investigated. To find the ideal loading of Ce-V on SiO<sub>2</sub> on catalyst activity, reactions with 1%, 2% and 4% Ce-V doped SiO<sub>2</sub> were carried out under otherwise comparable conditions. The percentage of Ce-V loading was found to have an influence on the reaction yield as well as reaction time (Table 1, entries 18-20). Using 1% Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst yielded 79% product in 2.5 h under EtOH solvent conditions (Table 1, entry 18). A 2% Ce-V loading was found optimal with 95 % yield in 1 h (Table 1, entry 19). A further increase of metals (4%) loading led to a slight decreased yield (89%) (Table 1, entry 20). We were pleasantly surprised to discover the MCR was successful in only 1 h and at RT. The expected substituted pyrans (4a) were produced selectively and in good yield (95%) (Table 1, entry 19). Although it took about 1 h for the reaction for completion, the Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalysed reaction was found to start almost immediately. Reaction products were identified and confirmed by spectral and other analytical data. Excellent selectivity and yield could be achieved due the nature of the chosen catalyst with high surface area, which has presumably enhanced the accessibility of the substrate to the anchored acidic and basic groups.

The surface properties of the  $SiO_2$  can be modified by loading cations of various properties. An optimal distribution of the acidic and basic sites due to loading of Ce-V on  $SiO_2$ possibly contributed to its enhanced catalytic efficiency, which is evident from the high yield, selectivity and speed of the reaction achieved in the title reaction. In the proposed MCR, we speculate that the Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst display greater efficiency compared to the other catalysts investigated due to a synergetic effect between ceria and vanadia.

Taking advantage of proven performance of 2% Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> as catalyst for the MCR, we then focused on further improving the reaction efficiency. We screened for changes in the variation of catalyst Ce-V loading on silica support. The results are summarised (Table 2, entries 1-3) which indicate that an increase in loading of Ce-V on SiO<sub>2</sub> from 10 mg to 30 mg, resulted in

an increased yield from 71% to 95%. A further increase in loading of catalyst had only a marginal effect on product yield (Table 2, entries 4 & 5).

Entry	Catalyst	Solvent	Condition	Time (h)	Yield (%) <sup>b</sup>
1	No catalyst	$H_2O$	RT	24	
2	No catalyst	$H_2O$	Reflux	24	
3	No catalyst	EtOH	Reflux	12	
4	MgO (50 mg)	EtOH	Reflux	10	Trace
5	Mn/Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> (50 mg)	EtOH	Reflux	12	Trace
6	V/Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> (50 mg)	EtOH	Reflux	12	Trace
7	Piperidine	EtOH	Reflux	12	
8	$K_2CO_3$	EtOH	Reflux	12	
9	PTSA	EtOH	Reflux	7	21
10	$SiO_2$	EtOH	Reflux	8	27
11	ZnCl <sub>2</sub>	EtOH	Reflux	5	34
12	L-proline	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	Reflux	4.5	38
13	(Bmim)BF <sub>4</sub>	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	Reflux	4	32
14	(Bmim)OH	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	Reflux	4	29
15	CeO <sub>2</sub> /SiO <sub>2</sub>	EtOH	RT	2	55
16	V <sub>2</sub> O <sub>5</sub> /SiO <sub>2</sub>	EtOH	RT	2	58
17	HClO <sub>4</sub> /SiO <sub>2</sub>	EtOH	RT	2.5	45
18	1% Ce-V/SiO <sub>2</sub> (30 mg)	EtOH	RT	2.5	79
19	2% Ce-V/SiO <sub>2</sub> (30 mg)	EtOH	RT	1	95
20	4% Ce-V/SiO <sub>2</sub> (30 mg)	EtOH	RT	1	89
21	2% Ce-V/SiO <sub>2</sub> (30 mg)	MeOH	RT	2	89
22	2% Ce-V/SiO <sub>2</sub> (30 mg)	CH <sub>3</sub> COCN	RT	2.5	78
23	2% Ce-V/SiO <sub>2</sub> (30 mg)	DMF	RT	2.5	86
24	2% Ce-V/SiO <sub>2</sub> (30 mg)	THF	RT	3	69
25	2% Ce-V/SiO <sub>2</sub> (30 mg)	Toluene	RT	4	65

**Table 1**: Optimization condition for the synthesis of 2-amino-3-cyano-4*H*-pyran derivatives by Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>All products were characterised by IR, <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR, <sup>15</sup>N NMR and HR-MS spectral analysis.

<sup>b</sup>Isolated yields.

-- No reaction

Secondly, because solvents play an important role in design of MCRs, we also studied the influence of solvent in the title reaction. Efficiency of diverse solvents including methanol, acetonitrile, DMF, tetrahydrofuran, and toluene were compared under otherwise identical reaction conditions. We found that reaction proceeded smoothly in protonic solvents. Among all

the screened solvents, EtOH was found to be superior solvent for this multicomponent reaction. It is noteworthy to mention that from the results of optimization (Table 1, entries 21-25), the reaction temperature and polarity of the solvent appear to be important for this multicomponent reaction to achieve clean products in good to excellent yields. Polar protic solvents enhance the rate of reaction, whereas for the non-polar solvents the rate of the reaction was sluggish.

#### Table 2:

Entry	Catalyst (mg)	Time (h)	Yield (%)
1	$Ce-V/SiO_2$ (10 mg)	2.5	86
2	Ce-V/SiO <sub>2</sub> (20 mg)	2.0	89
3	Ce-V/SiO <sub>2</sub> (30 mg)	1	95
4	Ce-V/SiO <sub>2</sub> (40 mg)	1	95
5	Ce-V/SiO <sub>2</sub> (50 mg)	1.5	94

Optimization of the amount of 2% Ce-V loading on SiO<sub>2</sub> as catalyst in the reaction

#### Table 3:

Synthesis of 2-amino-3-cyano-4H-pyran derivatives catalyzed by Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst

Entry	R	Product	Yield (%)	Mp °C	Lit Mp °C
1	3-OMe	4a	92	210-212	
2	4-OMe	4b	93	201-202	201-202 [30]
3	2-Br	4c	89	197-198	
4	4-Br	4d	92	204-206	
5	3-Cl	4e	94	210-211	
6	2,3-(OMe) <sub>2</sub>	4f	90	215-217	
7	2,4-(OMe) <sub>2</sub>	4g	92	220-221	
8	3,4-(OMe) <sub>2</sub>	4h	90	208-209	
9	2,4,6-(OMe) <sub>3</sub>	4i	91	232-234	
10	Н	4j	95	232-234	234-235 [30]
11	2-Furyl	4k	93	224-226	
12	$2-NO_2$	41	87	231-232	

<sup>a</sup>Reaction conditions: 5,5-dimethylcyclohexane-1,3-dione (1 mmol), aromatic aldehyde (1 mmol), malononitrile (1.1 mmol) and EtOH (10 mL), RT.

<sup>b</sup>All synthesized compounds are identified and their structures were conformed with IR, <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR, <sup>15</sup>N NMR and HR-MS spectral data and melting points as compared with literature values.

-- New compounds/no literature available.

The wider scope of this MCR was further explored with other reagents. Chosing the optimised conditions for the synthesis of **4a**, i.e. 30 mg of Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> at RT and ethanol as solvent (**Scheme 1**), we investigated the reactions with varied structurally different aldehydes (**2a-I**) for the MCR. To our delight, most of the reactions afforded the desired 2-amino-3-cyano-4*H*-pyran derivatives with excellent selectivity (**4a-I**) and yields (87–95%), and with no byproducts. The results are summarised in Table 3. Interestingly, the MCRs with substrates bearing both electron donating or electron-withdrawing groups on the aromatic ring performed well and gave corresponding target molecules in excellent yields. Structures of all the products (**4a-I**) were established and confirmd on the basis of their spectral data, <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR, <sup>15</sup>N NMR (GHSQC), FTIR and HRMS. The details of the product characterization are presented in the ESI.

#### 4.3.1. X-Ray diffraction (XRD)

Figure 1 shows the XRD patterns of the Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> powder catalyst calcined at 450 °C. The CeO<sub>2</sub> diffraction peaks at  $2\theta = 29.6^{\circ}$ ,  $31.7^{\circ}$ ,  $36.5^{\circ}$ ,  $49.1^{\circ}$  and  $67.2^{\circ}$  compare well with the standard database file (JCPDS34-0394). The mixed oxide shows the Ce-VO<sub>4</sub> phase in accord with the standard database file JCPDS12-757, with sharp diffraction peaks at  $2\theta = 22.2^{\circ}$ ,  $26.2^{\circ}$ ,  $32.2^{\circ}$ ,  $42^{\circ}$ ,  $54.6^{\circ}$  and  $71.8^{\circ}$ . As can be seen from the figure, the vanadium oxide sample showed sharp diffraction peaks at  $2\theta = 17.3^{\circ}$ ,  $29.1^{\circ}$ ,  $38.1^{\circ}$  and  $49^{\circ}$  (JCPDS41-1426). There are no other peaks, except V<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>, CeO<sub>2</sub>, and CeVO<sub>4</sub> in XRD patterns for the Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> sample, implying bulk purity.



Figure 1. XRD spectra of Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst

#### 4.3.2. SEM, TEM and ICP-OES analysis

The SEM micrograph (Figure 2a) displays agglomeration of metal oxide particles which is caused by the calcination of the Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst and these aggregates are in the size range from 0.81–2.00  $\mu$ m. EDS semi-quantitative analysis of this catalyst showed that Ce and V are homogenously distributed in the catalyst (Figure 2b), and the metal ratio (Ce:V:Si) is also in agreement with the ICP elemental analysis. The catalyst morphologies as indicated by the SEM image clearly point out the homogeneity in shapes for the sample and high crystallinity. ICP-OES analysis showed that the cerium to vanadium metal ratio is equal. TEM micrograph (Figure 3) showed that calcined catalyst has a cubic-like structure, which is characteristic of typical vanadate. These cubic planar structures are in the size of 21 ± 3 nm. The selected area diffractions showed that catalyst is polycrystalline in nature, which is further supported by the XRD diffractogram.



Figure 2a. SEM image of Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst



Figure 2b. SEM-EDX image of Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst



Figure 3. TEM spectra of Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst

#### 4.3.3. BET surface area

The nitrogen adsorption–desorption isotherms for the Ce-V/silica supported catalyst are shown in Figure 4. All the prepared catalysts have a similar pattern in adsorption–desorption isotherms and display the characteristic hysteresis loop of a type-IV isotherm (IUPAC) lying in the p/p° range of 0.7–0.85, demonstrating mesoporous character and indicates a small pore size and good homogeneity of the catalyst. A quite narrow and monomodal pore size distribution was obtained for the Ce-V doped on silica. This further indicated that the average pore size has increased with increasing the loading amount of silica. For the 2 wt% Ce-V loaded catalyst the parameters are specific surface area (17.1 m<sup>2</sup>/g), pore size (0.0139 cm<sup>3</sup>/g) and total pore volume (74 Å<sup>3</sup>). The low surface area of the prepared catalysts with compared to the bare silica support was probably due to the good dispersion of Ce-V on the surface of silica.



Figure 4. N<sub>2</sub> adsorption & desorption spectra and pore size distribution of Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst

#### 4.3.4. Reusability of the catalyst

The reusability of any heterogeneous catalyst is one of the important parameters for potential commercial adaptation. The reusability of the catalyst was assessed in the synthesis of 2-amino-3-cyano-4*H*-pyran derivatives (**Figure 5**). Gratifyingly, the heterogeneous Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> could be recovered effectively from the reaction mixture by simple filtration and by washing the catalyst twice with acetone and dried at 70-80 °C under reduced pressure for 2 h to make it ready for a later run. There is no loss of Ce-V loading on silica was observed which is confimed by ICP-OES analysis. The catalyst was tested for six runs. It was observed that recovered catalyst can be recycled in subsequent runs with minimal loss of its activity only after five runs which might be due to the agglomeration of Ce-V.



Figure 5. Recyclability of Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst

## 4.4. Conclusion

In conclusion, we report an environmentally benign and an efficient one-pot multicomponent green synthesis of 2-amino-3-cyano-4*H*-pyran derivatives using Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> as catalyst in green solvent media and with good atom efficiency. This simple and recyclable heterogeneous catalyst, Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> shows high catalytic activity for multicomponent reactions. The current method deals several advantages such as short reaction time, excellent yields, purity of products, cost-effectiveness, use of small amount of inexpensive catalyst and environmentally benign green solvent.

# 4.5. Acknowledgements

Authors are grateful to the National Research Foundation (South Africa) for financial support and University of KwaZulu-Natal for the research facilities.

## 4.6. References

- [1] A. Nefzi, J.M. Ostresh, R.A. Houghten, Chem. Rev. 97 (1997) 449–472.
- M.N. Elinson, A.S. Dorofeev, F.M. Miloserdov, A.I. Ilovaisky, S.K. Feducovich, P.A. Belyakov, G.I. Nikishin, Adv. Synth. Catal. 350 (2008) 591–601.
- [3] J. Zhu, H. Bienayme. Multicomponent reactions. Wiley, Weinheim (2005).
- [4] L. Weber, Curr. Med. Chem. 9 (2002) 2085–2093.
- [5] M.A.P. Martins, C.P. Frizzo, D.N. Moreira, N. Dayse, L. Buriol, P. Machado, Chem. Rev. 109 (2009) 4140–4182.
- [6] A. Dastan, A. Kulkarni, B. Torok, Green Chem. 14 (2012) 17–37.
- [7] R.J. Davis, J. Catal. 216 (2003) 396–405.
- [8] D. Tejedor, D. Gonzalez-Cruz, F. Garcia-Tellado, J. Marrero-Tellado, M.L. Rodriguez, J.
   Am. Chem. Soc. 126 (2004) 8390–8391.
- [9] S. Maddila, V.D.B.C. Dasireddy, S.B. Jonnalagadda, Appl. Catal. B: Environ. 150-151 (2014) 305-314.
- [10] S. Hatakeyama, N. Ochi, H. Numata, S.J. Takano, Chem. Commun. 1988, 1202–1204.
- [11] A. Shaabani, R. Ghadari, A. Sarvary, A.H. Rezayan, J. Org. Chem. 74 (2009) 4372–4374.
- [12] A. Goel, V.J. Ram, Tetrahedron 65 (2009) 7865–7913.
- [13] F.A. Eid, A.H.F.A. El-Wahab, A.M.E.H.A. Gameel, M.A.M. Khafagy, Acta. Pharm. 54 (2004) 13–26.
- [14] P.K. Paliwal, S.R. Jetti, S. Jain, Med. Chem. Res. 22 (2013) 2984–2990.
- [15] D.O. Moon, K.C. Kim, C.Y. Jin, M.H. Han, C. Park, K.J. Lee, Y.M. Park, Y.H. Choi, G.Y. Kim, Int. Immunopharmacol. 7 (2007) 222–229.
- [16] C.W. Smith, J.M. Bailey, M.E.J. Billingham, S. Chandrasekhar, C.P. Dell, A.K. Harvey,
- C.A. Hicks, A.E. Kingston, G.N. Wishart, Bioorg. Med. Chem. 5 (1995) 2783-2788.
- [17] M. Rueping, E. Sugiono, E. Merino, Chem. Eur. J. 14 (2008) 6329–6332.
- [18] T.A. Bayer, S. Schafer, H. Breyhan, O. Wirths, C. Treiber, G. Multhaup, Clin. Neuropathol. 25 (2006) 163-171.

- [19] G. Pinna, G. Loriga, P. Lazzari, S. Ruiu, M. Falzoi, S. Frau, A. Pau, G. Murineddu, B. Asproni, G.A. Pinna, Eur. J. Med. Chem. 82 (2014) 281-292.
- [20] T.S. Jin, A.Q. Wang, X. Wang, J.S. Zhang, T.S. Li, Synlett. (2004) 871–873.
- [21] M.M. Heravi, B.A. Jani, F. Derikvand, F.F. Bamoharram, H.A. Oskooie, Cat. Commun. 10 (2008) 272-275.
- [22] L.M. Wang, J.H. Shao, H. Tian, Y-H. Wang, B. Liu, J. Fluorine Chem. 127 (2006) 97–100.
- [23] S. Nemouchi, R. Boulcina, B. Carboni, A. Debache, C. R. Chim. 15 (2012) 394-396.
- [24] A. Davoodnia, S. Allameh, S. Fazil, N. Tavakoli-Hoseini, Chem. Pap. 65(5) (2011) 714-717.
- [25] I.A. Azath, P. Puthiaraj, K. Pitchumani, ACS Sust. Chem. Eng. 1 (2013) 174–179.
- [26] N.M.H. Elnagdi, N.S. Al-Hokbany, Molecules 17 (2012) 4300–4312.
- [27] A.T. Khan, M. Lal, S. Ali, M.Md. Khan, Tet. Lett. 52 (2011) 5327–5332.
- [28] Y. Peng, G. Song, F. Huang, Monatsh. Chem. 136 (2005) 727-731.
- [29] P. Ali, H.H. Seyed, A.A. Seyyed, H.T. Seyedeh, C. R. Chimie 16 (2013) 906–911.
- [30] S. Gao, C.H. Tsai, C. Tseng, C-F. Yao, Tetrahedron 64 (2008) 9143–9149.
- [31] R. Pagadala, S. Maddila, V.D.B.C. Dasireddy, S.B. Jonnalagadda, Catal. Commun. 45 (2014) 148-152.
- [32] S. Maddila, S. Rana, R. Pagadala, S. Kankala, S.N. Maddila, S.B. Jonnalagadda, Catal. Commun. 61 (2015) 26-30.
- [33] E.C. Chetty, S. Maddila, C. Southway, S.B. Jonnalagadda, Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 51 (2012) 2864-2873.
- [34] S. Maddila, V.D.B.C. Dasireddy, E.O. Oseghe, S.B. Jonnalagadda, Appl. Catal. B: Environ. 142-143 (2013) 129-141.

# 4.7. Supplementary materials data

## 4.7.1. Materials, methods and instruments

All chemicals and reagents required for the reaction were of analytical grade and were used without any further purification. Bruker AMX 400 MHz NMR spectrometer was used to record the <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR and <sup>15</sup>N NMR spectral values. High-resolution mass data were obtained using a Bruker micro TOF-Q II ESI instrument operating at ambient temperature. The DMSO–d<sub>6</sub> solution was utilized for this while TMS served as the internal standard. TMS was further used as an internal standard for reporting the all chemical shifts in  $\delta$  (ppm). The FT-IR spectrum for the samples was established using a Perkin Elmer Perkin Elmer Precisely 100 FT-IR spectrometer at the 400-4000 cm<sup>-1</sup> area. Purity of all the reaction products was confirmed by TLC using aluminum plates coated with silica gel (Merck Kieselgel 60 F254).

#### **4.7.2.** Characterization of catalysts

Bruker D8 advance instrument with a Cu K radiation source by  $\lambda = 1.5406$  was used for the X-ray diffraction data for the catalyst. Jeol JEM-1010 electron microscope and JEOL JSM-6100 microscope were used for TEM and SEM analysis respectively. In TEM analysis for particles distribution, size of 40-60 particles were averaged and with standard deviation. An emission current (100  $\mu$ A) by a Tungsten (W) filament with 12 kV accelerator voltage was employed for EDX-analysis of the SEM images. Elemental composition of the catalyst materials was established by using Inductively Coupled Plasma Optical Emission Spectrometer (Optima 5300 DV). Micromeritics Tristar-II porosity and surface area analyzer was used estimation of pore size, pore volume and surface area of the catalysts. BJH adsorption-desorption curves were obtained at -196 °C, to assess the particulate properties of the catalyst. All the catalyst materials were degassed by passing nitrogen overnight at 200 °C.
# 4.7.3. Physical data of compounds

## 2-Amino-4-(3-methoxyphenyl)-7,7-dimethyl-5-oxo-5,6,7,8-tetrahydro-4H-chromene-3-

**carbonitrile (4a):** White solid: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 0.96$  (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.03 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.05 (d, J = 16.02 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.24 (d, J = 16.02 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.44 (d, J = 17.16 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.54 (d, J = 17.16 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 3.74 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.47 (s, 1H, CH), 6.80 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 6.85 (d, J = 7.04 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.93-6.99 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.15 (t, J = 7.64, 1H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl3):  $\delta$  26.51, 28.57, 30.29, 31.73, 50.00, 55.76, 57.34, 111.44, 111.85, 119.80, 120.29, 127.77, 128.51, 132.11, 156.79, 158.95, 163.06, 195.55; IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3469, 3323, 3183, 2933, 2198, 1682, 1367, 1244; HRMS of [C<sub>19</sub>H<sub>20</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> – H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 323.1397; Calcd.: 323.1396.

#### 2-Amino-4-(4-methoxyphenyl)-7,7-dimethyl-5-oxo-5,6,7,8-tetrahydro-4H-chromene-3-

**carbonitrile (4b):** White solid: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 0.94$  (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.02 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.08 (d, J = 16.04 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.28 (d, J = 17.52 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.43 (d, J = 16.24 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.54 (d, J = 17.52 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 3.70 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.11 (s, 1H, CH), 6.83 (d, J = 8.24 Hz, 2H, ArH), 6.93 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.04 (d, J = 8.04, 1H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl3):  $\delta$  26.72, 28.36, 31.73, 34.71, 49.97, 54.95, 58.54, 112.95, 113.63, 119.76, 128.17, 133.34, 136.80, 157.87, 158.37, 160.44, 162.11, 195.65; IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3368, 3307, 3181, 2965, 2188, 1650, 1367, 1241; HRMS of [C<sub>19</sub>H<sub>19</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> – H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 323.1057; Calcd.: 323.1059.

# 2-Amino-4-(2-bromophenyl)-7,7-dimethyl-5-oxo-5,6,7,8-tetrahydro-4H-chromene-3-

**carbonitrile (4c):** White solid: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 0.98$  (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.04 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.07 (d, J = 16.00 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.24 (d, J = 16.04 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.46 (d, J = 16.24 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.57 (d, J = 17.52 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 4.70 (s, 1H, CH), 7.01 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.11-7.13 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.32 (t, J = 7.89 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.52 (d, J = 7.16, 1H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl3):  $\delta$  26.93, 28.31, 31.73, 34.94, 49.91, 57.04, 112.05, 119.09, 122.65, 128.04, 128.43, 132.59, 143.32, 158.55, 163.03, 195.52; IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3375, 3322, 3192, 2967, 2189, 1651, 1366, 1212; HRMS of [C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>16</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>Br – 2H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 371.0389; Calcd.: 371.0395.

2-Amino-4-(4-bromophenyl)-7,7-dimethyl-5-oxo-5,6,7,8-tetrahydro-4*H*-chromene-3carbonitrile (4d): White solid: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 0.94$  (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.02 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.09 (d, J = 16.00 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.24 (d, J = 16.00 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.42 (d, J = 16.24 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.53 (d, J = 17.02 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 4.17 (s, 1H, CH), 7.04 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.10 (d, J = 7.64 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.46 (d, J = 7.45, 2H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl3):  $\delta$  26.82, 28.26, 31.75, 35.15, 49.90, 57.67, 112.21, 119.51, 119.57, 129.47, 131.17, 144.13, 158.44, 162.62, 195.68; IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3376, 3320, 3187, 2963, 2133, 1652, 1367, 1251.

### 2-Amino-4-(3-chlorophenyl)-7,7-dimethyl-5-oxo-5,6,7,8-tetrahydro-4H-chromene-3-

**carbonitrile (4e):** White solid: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 0.97$  (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.03 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.07 (d, J = 16.04 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.24 (d, J = 16.04 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.46 (d, J = 16.99 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.52 (d, J = 17.36 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 4.68 (s, 1H, CH), 7.01 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.15-7.19 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.21 (t, J = 7.78, 1H, ArH), 7.27 (d, J = 7.47, 1H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl3):  $\delta$  26.83, 28.36, 31.72, 32.81, 49.89, 56.78, 111.73, 119.21, 127.40, 128.18, 129.41, 129.91, 132.04, 141.51, 158.63, 163.13, 195.55; IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3375, 3322, 3189, 2961, 2190, 1652, 1366, 1250; HRMS of [C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>16</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>Cl – H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 327.0894; Calcd.: 327.0900.

**2-Amino-4-(2,3-dimethoxyphenyl)-7,7-dimethyl-5-oxo-5,6,7,8-tetrahydro-4***H***-chromene-3-carbonitrile (4f):** White solid: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 0.97$  (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.03 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.06 (d, J = 16.00 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.22 (d, J = 16.04 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.44 (d, J = 16.24 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.54 (d, J = 17.52 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 3.78 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.81 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.53 (s, 1H, CH), 6.57 (d, J = 7.64 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.83 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 6.85 (d, J = 6.81 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.94 (t, J = 7.92, 1H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl3):  $\delta$  26.81, 28.35, 29.35, 31.77, 50.01, 55.48, 57.93, 59.97, 110.97, 112.58, 119.79, 120.10, 123.63, 146.01, 152.16, 158.66, 162.77, 195.65; IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3382, 3305, 3192, 2958, 2194, 1683, 1387, 1232.

**2-Amino-4-(2,4-dimethoxyphenyl)-7,7-dimethyl-5-oxo-5,6,7,8-tetrahydro-4***H***-chromene-3-carbonitrile (4g):** White solid: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 0.97$  (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.03 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.06 (d, J = 16.08 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.24 (d, J = 16.08 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.46 (d, J = 17.70 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.52 (d, J = 17.70 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 3.64 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.69 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.43 (s, 1H, CH), 6.50 (d, J = 7.01 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.71 (d, J = 7.05 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.81 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 6.87 (d, J = 8.92 Hz, 1H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl3):  $\delta$  26.42, 28.60, 30.26, 31.71, 49.97, 55.15, 56.23, 57.28, 111.53, 111.73, 112.62, 114.77, 119.73, 133.41, 151.01, 153.04, 158.92,

163.16, 195.60; IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3384, 3311, 3194, 2962, 2195, 1683, 1389, 1234; HRMS of  $[C_{20}H_{21}N_2O_4 - H]^+$  (m/z): 353.0844; Calcd.: 353.0838.

**2-Amino-4-(3,4-dimethoxyphenyl)-7,7-dimethyl-5-oxo-5,6,7,8-tetrahydro-4***H***-chromene-3carbonitrile (<b>4h**): White solid: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 0.96$  (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.03 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.05 (d, J = 16.32 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.25 (d, J = 18.25 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.44 (d, J = 17.21 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.54 (d, J = 17.21 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 3.69 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.74 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.47 (s, 1H, CH), 6.62-6.67 (m, 2H, ArH), 6.85 (d, J = 8.20 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.92 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl3):  $\delta$  26.58, 28.46, 31.70, 34.99, 49.96, 55.40, 55.45, 58.52, 110.97, 111.75, 112.77, 119.07, 119.76, 137.27, 147.50, 148.42, 158.34, 159.57, 162.31, 195.72; IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3384, 3327, 3193, 2934, 2193, 1652, 1363, 1238; HRMS of [C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>21</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> – H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 353.1511; Calcd.: 353.1501.

**2-Amino-4-(2,4,6-trimethoxyphenyl)-7,7-dimethyl-5-oxo-5,6,7,8-tetrahydro-4***H***-chromene-3-carbonitrile (4i):** White solid: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 0.89$  (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.02 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.95 (d, J = 16.04 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.21 (d, J = 16.02 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.23 (d, J = 16.08 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.29 (d, J = 16.32 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 3.72 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.88 (s, 6H, 2OCH<sub>3</sub>) 4.75 (s, 1H, CH), 6.60 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.97 (s, 2H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl3):  $\delta$  24.00, 25.86, 28.88, 31.58, 50.21, 55.00, 55.71, 56.12, 91.12, 91.25, 111.66, 111.99, 113.83, 116.36, 150.79, 159.48, 161.37, 162.82, 167.37, 195.42; IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3477, 3323, 3173, 2939, 2212, 1651, 1584, 1366, 1226; HRMS of [C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>23</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> – 2H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 383.0103; Calcd.: 383.0093.

**2-Amino-4-phenyl-7,7-dimethyl-5-oxo-5,6,7,8-tetrahydro-4***H***-chromene-3-carbonitrile** (**4j**): White solid: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 0.95$  (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.03 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.10 (d, *J* = 16.02 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.25 (d, *J* = 16.02 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.49 (d, *J* = 17.18 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.53 (d, *J* = 17.18 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 4.18 (s, 1H, CH), 6.99 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.13-7.19 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.28 (t, *J* = 7.64, 2H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl3):  $\delta$  26.77, 28.37, 31.76, 35.55, 49.95, 58.30, 112.72, 119.68, 126.53, 127.11, 128.29, 144.70, 158.46, 162.45, 195.60; IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3393, 3322, 3291, 2961, 2199, 1657, 1369, 1248; HRMS of [C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>17</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> - H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 293.1302; Calcd.: 293.1290. **2-Amino-4-(furan-2-yl)-7,7-dimethyl-5-oxo-5,6,7,8-tetrahydro-4***H***-chromene-3-carbonitrile** (**4k**): White solid: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 0.98$  (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.04 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.16 (d, *J* = 16.04 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.28 (d, *J* = 16.04 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.44 (d, *J* = 16.00 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.53 (d, *J* = 16.00 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 4.32 (s, 1H, CH), 6.04 (d, *J* = 6.82 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.31 (t, *J* = 7.10 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.06 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.47 (d, *J* = 7.32 Hz, 1H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl3):  $\delta$  26.52, 28.38, 28.95, 31.77, 49.86, 55.76, 105.02, 110.32, 110.40, 119.51, 141.71, 155.69, 159.27, 163.22, 195.38; IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3390, 3324, 3213, 2874, 2195, 1655, 1361, 1247; HRMS of [C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>15</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> - H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 283.1079; Calcd.: 283.1083.

#### 2-Amino-4-(2-nitrophenyl)-7,7-dimethyl-5-oxo-5,6,7,8-tetrahydro-4H-chromene-3-

**carbonitrile (41):** White solid: <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 0.87$  (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.00 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.01 (d, J = 16.02 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.19 (d, J = 16.02 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.45 (d, J = 16.32 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.53 (d, J = 16.32 Hz, 1H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 4.91 (s, 1H, CH), 7.18 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.35 (d, J = 7.27 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.42 (t, J = 7.25 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.65 (t, J = 7.78, 1H, ArH), 7.80 (d, J = 7.05 Hz, 1H, ArH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl3):  $\delta$  26.65, 28.25, 29.90, 31.80, 49.55, 56.32, 112.28, 119.03, 123.68, 127.82, 130.24, 133.32, 138.93, 148.93, 159.15, 162.68, 195.77; IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 3393, 3327, 3214, 2964, 2195, 1659, 1364, 1251; HRMS of [C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>16</sub>N<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> – H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 338.1141; Calcd.: 338.1141.





<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound 4a







HRMS spectra of compound 4a



FTIR spectra of compound 4a



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **4b** 



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **4b** 





HRMS spectra of compound 4b



FTIR spectra of compound 4b



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound 4c



 $^{13}\text{C}$  NMR spectra of compound 4c





HRMS spectra of compound 4c



FTIR spectra of compound 4c



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **4d** 





FTIR spectra of compound 4d





<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **4e** 





HRMS spectra of compound 4e



FTIR spectra of compound 4e



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **4f** 



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **4f** 



102.5

FTIR spectra of compound 4f





<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **4g** 





HRMS spectra of compound 4g



FTIR spectra of compound 4g



 $^{13}\text{C}$  NMR spectra of compound **4h** 









FTIR spectra of compound 4h



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **4i** 



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **4i** 



Elemental Composition Rep	port					Page 1
Single Mass Analysis Tolerance = 5.0 PPM / DBE: min = -1.5, max = 100.0 Element prediction: Off Number of isotope peaks used for i-FIT = 3						
Monoisotopic Mass, Even Electron lons 40 formula(e) evaluated with 1 results within limits (up to 20 closest results for each mass) Elements Used: C: 20-25 H: 20-25 N: 0-5 O: 0-5						
U-6 53 (1.754) Cm (1:61) TOF MS ES-						
100383.0103						1.556+006
378.0537 381.3712 3	388.0124 384.9924	90.0109	392.0140 395	5.3883397.2257,397	7.9927 403.0008 40	5.0092 m/z
378.0 380.0 382.0 384.	.0 386.0 388.0	390.0 392	2.0 394.0	396.0 398.0	400.0 402.0 404.0	406.0
Minimum: Maximum:	5.0 5.0	-1.5 100.0				
Mass Calc. Mass r	mDa PPM	DBE	i-FIT	i-FIT (Norm)	Formula	
383.0123 383.0103 1	1.0 2.6	12.5	657.5	0.0	C21 H23 N2 O5	

HRMS spectra of compound 4i



FTIR spectra of compound 4i



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **4**j



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **4**j



HRMS spectra of compound 4j



FTIR spectra of compound 4j



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **4**k



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **4**k





HRMS spectra of compound 4k



FTIR spectra of compound 4k



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **4**l






HRMS spectra of compound 41



FTIR spectra of compound 41

# **CHAPTER-5**

# Ru-Hydroxyapatite: An Efficient And Reusable Catalyst For The Multicomponent Synthesis of Pyranopyrazoles Under Facile Green Conditions

Surya Narayana Maddila, Sreekantha B Jonnalagadda<sup>\*</sup>, Suresh Maddila, and Werner E. van-Zyl School of Chemistry and Physics, University of Kwa-Zulu Natal, Westville Campus, Private Bag X 54001, Durban, 4000, South Africa.

<b>Corresponding Author:</b>	*Prof. Sreekanth B. Jonnalagadda	
	School of Chemistry & Physics,	
	University of KwaZulu-Natal,	
	Durban 4000, South Africa.	
	Tel.: +27 31 2607325, Fax: +27 31 2603091	
	E-mail address: jonnalagaddas@ukzn.ac.za	



This chapter is published in the **Current Organic Synthesis** and has been structured according to the journal's format

# Ru-Hydroxyapatite: An Efficient And Reusable Catalyst For The Multicomponent Synthesis of Pyranopyrazoles Under Facile Green Conditions

Surya Narayana Maddila, Sreekantha B Jonnalagadda<sup>\*</sup>, Suresh Maddila, and Werner E. van-Zyl School of Chemistry and Physics, University of Kwa-Zulu Natal, Westville Campus, Private Bag X 54001, Durban, 4000, South Africa

<b>Corresponding Author:</b>	*Prof. Sreekanth B. Jonnalagadda
	School of Chemistry & Physics,
	University of KwaZulu-Natal,
	Durban 4000, South Africa.
	Tel.: +27 31 2607325, Fax: +27 31 2603091
	E-mail address: jonnalagaddas@ukzn.ac.za

**Abstract:** An efficient, green and facile protocol for synthesis of pyranopyrazole derivatives through the reaction of aromatic aldehydes, malononitrile, hydrazine hydrate and ethyl acetoacetate is developed using Ru loaded hydroxyapatite (Ru-CaHAp) as catalyst. The eco-friendly one-pot reactions in ethanol-water mixture are fast ( $\approx$ 15 min) and occur at room temperature. Catalyst was fully characterized by various techniques. The chemical structures of the synthesized compounds were identified and confirmed by <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>15</sup>N NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR, FT-IR and HR-MS spectral data. The noteworthy advantages offered by this method are environmentally-friendly simple procedure, mild conditions, short reaction times, recyclable catalyst and good to excellent (89 to 98%) yields of products.

**Keywords:** Green Synthesis, Multicomponent Reaction, One-pot reaction, Ru-CaHAp catalyst, Recyclable, Pyranopyrazole.

# 5.1. Introduction

Multicomponent reactions (MCRs), with three or more reactants combined in a singlestep process to afford a single product in high yields have become increasingly popular in the recent years [1,2]. MCRs have fascinated researchers due to the governing green principles [3], and are ideally suited for combinatorial synthesis and for discovery of new drugs and agrochemicals [4-6]. The MCRs have become extremely significant synthetic methods, as they are efficient means for designing of organic compounds without isolation of intermediates or modification the reaction conditions. The other advantages of these reactions include high bondforming efficiency, cost effectiveness, energy saving and simple workup procedures [6,7]. However, further improvement and discovery of new MCRs is still the need of the time.

In the recent past, the interest in exploring the scope of heterogeneous catalysts in organic synthesis has enhanced remarkably [8-10]. Compared to conventional synthetic methods, the use of heterogeneous catalysts has numerous advantages including reusability, benign and cost effectiveness [11]. Relative to conventional linear syntheses, these eco-friendly protocols have other benefits, such as varied surface characteristics, long catalytic life, thermal stability and atom economy [9-11].

Furthermore, these catalysts can be conveniently be handled and making the experimental procedure simple and more green.

Hydroxyapatites (HAps) are known for high chemical stability and good affinity for organic compounds [12]. HAps materials have both acidic and basic sites in crystal lattice and are anticipated to perform the both acidic and basic nature catalyst [13]. Normal HAps possess calcium ions surrounded by phosphate anions parallel to the hexagonal axis. They have been used as biomaterials, adsorbents, and ion exchangers [14]. Recently, scope of hydroxyapatites as macro ligands for catalytically active centers has also been disclosed [15]. The catalytic properties of HAps have been explored for the dehydration and dehydrogenation of alcohols [16], fertilizer production [17], water purification [18], and medical treatment like in targeted and controlled drug delivery systems [19]. In this communication, we report the preparation and characterization of new hydroxyapatites like compounds and modified hydroxyapatites loaded with transition metals and their performance as catalysts for the synthesis of heterocyclic molecules and carbon–carbon bond-forming reactions.

Pyranopyrazoles are an important class of heterocyclic compounds, which are essential components of many biologically active compounds and are interesting templates for use in medicinal chemistry. Many of these compounds exhibit antimicrobial, antitumour and antiinflammatory activity [20-22]. Pyranopyrazoles have also been used as ingredients in pharmaceutical preparations and as biodegradable agrochemicals [23]. Literature survey shows that many catalyzed methods have been reported for synthesis of various pyranopyrazole derivatives. To mention a few, such protocols employed TEA [24], [ChCl][ZnCl2]2 [25], I2 [26], [DBU][Ac] [27], [(CH2)4SO3HMIM][HSO4] [28], Nano TiO2 [29], NaOH/microwave [30], Amberlyst A21 [31], Cinchona alkaloid [32], silicotungstic acid [33], imidazole [34], [Dsim]AlCl4 [35], L-Proline [36], Per-6-ABCD [37], piperidine [38], TEABr [39] and FeNi3/SiO2/HPGMNP [40]. With exception of few, many of the catalysts are relatively toxic and non-recyclable. Bulk of the reactions give low product yields and need costly reagents, strong acidic/basic and strict reaction conditions, plus tedious handling processes and long reaction times. Thus, improved reaction protocols with short reaction times overcoming those limitations are much sought after.

Earlier, we have reported few efficient protocols with excellent yields, for synthesis of derivatives of pyridines using Mg-V/CO3, pyrazoles using CuO/ZrO2 and pyrimidines using Mn/ZrO2 as recyclable catalysts [8,9,41]. In continuation of our quest for development of efficacious and environmentally friendly procedures for important organic transformations, we explored the catalytic efficiency of Ru-HAps towards the synthesis of pyranopyrazole derivatives in one-pot reaction under green conditions.

# **5.2.** Experimental section

#### 5.2.1. Catalyst characterization

Micromeritics Tristar-II porosity and surface area analyzer was used to determine the surface area, pore size and pore volume of the catalyst material. The catalyst sample was degassed overnight using N2 flow at 200 °C. The BJH adsorption-desorption curves were generated at -196 °C and were used to assess the catalyst's particulate properties. Employing a Bruker D8 Advance instrument (Cu K radiation source with a wave length of 1.5406 Å), the X-ray diffraction data related the structural phases of the catalyst were acquired. Using a Jeol JEM-1010 electron microscope and JEOL JSM-6100 microscope, the TEM and SEM analysis data was recorded. iTEM software was used analyze the TEM data and images. Employing the X-ray

analyzer (energy-dispersive), EDX-analysis on the SEM images was conducted. To confirm the elemental composition catalyst materials Inductively Coupled Plasma Optical Emission Spectrometer (ICP-OES) (Optima 5300 DV) was used.

#### **5.2.2.** Preparation of catalyst

For the synthesis of Ca-hydroxyapatite (HAp) the co-precipitation approach was used [2-4] and a solution of diammonium hydrogen orthophosphate, (NH4)2HPO4 (5.6 g), (1.00 mol) (Merck, 98.5 %) was adjusted to pH 11.0 using a dilute ammonia solution and then diluted to 250 mL with double distilled water. Similarly, a calcium nitrate tetrahydrate, Ca(NO3)2.4H2O (23.7 g), (0.167 mol) (Merck, 99 %) solution was prepared and the pH adjusted to 11.0 and this solution was then diluted to 250 mL using double distilled water. The (NH4)2HPO4 solution was added drop-wise to the Ca(NO3)2.4H2O solution with constant and vigorous stirring at room temperature over a period of 1 h. The pH of the mixture was maintained at 11 throughout, using diluted ammonia. The resultant precipitate was heated to and maintained at 85 °C for 1.5 h and then allowed to cool to room temperature. Thereafter, the precipitate was filtered under vacuum and washed repeatedly until the filtrate was neutral, thus having ensured the removal of excess diluted ammonia. The HAp was then dried in an oven overnight at 120 °C and it was calcined at 500 °C for 6 hours. Supported catalysts were synthesized by adding the HAp to a solution of ruthenium (III) chloride hydrate (RuCl3.XH2O (Aldrich99.98 %)) to afford the weight percentage of 1.0 wt%, 2.5 wt% and 5.0 wt% of RuO2. The catalyst materials were dried overnight at 120 °C. The powdered form of the catalyst material was calcined at 500 °C for 6 h. The 2.5 wt% and 5.0 wt% Ru on CaHAps were prepared following similar procedure.

# 5.2.3. General procedure for the synthesis of pyranopyrazole derivatives:

The equimolar amounts of chosen aldehyde, taking the example of 2-methoxy benzaldehyde (0.516 g, 3.789 mmol), malononitrile (0.250 g, 3.789 mmol) and ethyl acetoacetate (0.493 g, 3.789 mmol) were mixed with hydrazine hydrate (0.284 g, 5.683 mmol) and dissolved in ethanol and water solvent (1:1, 10 ml) at room temperature (RT). Ru-HAp (50 mg) was added to the mixture as catalyst. The reaction mixture was stirred continuously for 15 minutes at RT, (Scheme 1) using a magnetic stirrer. The progress of the reaction was monitored by TLC. The reaction mixture was then filtered, and the filtrate was subsequently extracted with ethyl acetate and evaporated under reduced pressure to obtain the crude product. The crude product was further purified using EtOAc followed by hexane (4:6) to afford pure products. The recovered

catalyst was washed with dichloromethane, dried, and reused where necessary. The quantities of specific aldehydes and other reagents used and corresponding yields for each derivative are described in the physical data below:



Scheme 1. Synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazoles derivatives

# 6-Amino-4-(2,3-dimethoxyphenyl)-3-methyl-2,4-dihydro--pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-5-

**carbonitrile (5a):** 2,3-dimethoxybenzaldehyde (0.629 g, 3.785 mmol), malononitrile (0.250 g, 3.785 mmol); ethyl acetoacetate (0.492 g, 3.785 mmol); hydrazine hydrate (0.284 g, 5.677 mmol), and RuHAp (50 mg). Yield: 1.086 g (92%); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 1.76$  (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.64 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.79 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.82 (s, 1H, CH), 6.59 (dd, J = 7.5 Hz, 1.28 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.80 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 6.89 (d, J = 6.8 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.99 (t, J = 8.0 Hz, 1H, ArH), 11.99 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 9.42 (C10), 30.32 (C4), 55.48 (C8'), 56.66 (C5), 60.22 (C7'), 97.75 (C11), 111.06 (C1'), 120.72 (C5'), 120.97 (C4'), 123.98 (C6'), 135.09 (C9), 137.29 (C8), 146.19 (C3), 152.15 (C3'), 154.95 (C2'), 161.12 (C6); FT-IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 1395, 1475, 1519, 1638, 2186, 3113, 3375; HRMS 2972, of [C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>16</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O<sub>3</sub> – H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 311.1139; Calcd.: 311.1144.

# 6-Amino-4-(3,4-dimethoxyphenyl)-3-methyl-2,4-dihydro-pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-5-

**carbonitrile (5b):** 3,4-dimethoxybenzaldehyde (0.629 g, 3.785 mmol), malononitrile (0.250 g, 3.785 mmol), ethyl acetoacetate (0.492 g, 3.785 mmol), hydrazine hydrate (0.284 g, 5.677 mmol), and Ru-HAp (50 mg); Yield: 1.062 g (90%); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  = 1.82 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.69 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.72 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.54 (s, 1H, CH), 6.69 (dd, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2.0 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.75 (d, *J* = 2.0 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.80 (s, 1H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 6.88 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 1H, ArH), 12.1 (s, 1H, NH). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 9.79 (C10), 35.79 (C4), 55.41 (C5), 57.42, 97.67 (C11), 111.19 (C5'), 111.72 (C2'), 119.46 (C1'), 120.81 (C6'), 135.63 (C9), 136.86 (C8), 147.53 (C3), 148.51 (C4'), 154.68 (C3'), 160.72 (C6); FT-IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 1217, 1325, 1451, 1490, 1589, 1660, 2184, 3132; HRMS of [C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>16</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O<sub>3</sub> – H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 311.0734; Calcd.: 311.0737.

**6-Amino-4-(2-methoxyphenyl)-3-methyl-2,4-dihydropyrano** -[**2,3-c**]**pyrazole-5-carbonitrile** (**5c**): 2-methoxybenzaldehyde (0.516 g, 3.789 mmol), malononitrile (0.250 g, 3.789 mmol), ethyl acetoacetate (0.493 g, 3.789 mmol), hydrazine hydrate (0.284 g, 5.683 mmol) and Ru-HAp (50 mg); Yield: 1.047 g (98%); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 1.78$  (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.77 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.96 (s, 1H, CH), 6.78 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 6.89 (t, *J* = 14.7 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.98 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.17–7.21 (m, 1H, ArH), 12.00 (s, 1H, NH). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 9.45 (C10), 29.11 (C4), 55.53 (C5), 56.34 (C7'), 97.87 (C11), 111.26 (C1'), 120.77 (C3'), 120.85 (C5'), 127.88 (C4'), 128.57 (C6'), 132.06 (C9), 135.03 (C3), 155.02 (C8), 156.31 (C2'), 161.43 (C6); FT-IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 1241, 1463, 1486, 1595, 1655, 2194, 2837, 3154, 3338, 3374; HRMS of [C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>14</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O<sub>2</sub> – H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 281.1040; Calcd.: 281.1039.

**6-Amino-4-(2-bromophenyl)-3-methyl-2,4-dihydropyrano--[2,3-c]pyrazole-5-carbonitrile** (**5d**): 2-bromobenzaldehyde (0.700 g, 3.783 mmol), malononitrile (0.249 g, 3.783 mmol), ethyl acetoacetate (0.492 g, 3.783 mmol), hydrazine hydrate (0.284 g, 5.674 mmol), and Ru-HAp (50 mg); Yield: 0.716 g (92%); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 1.76$  (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 5.06 (s, 1H, CH), 6.94 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.15–7.19 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.32–7.36 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.58 (dd, *J* = 8.06 Hz, 0.84 Hz, 1H, ArH), 12.12 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 9.62 (C10), 35.84 (C4), 55.96 (C5), 96.99 (C11), 120.25 (C8), 122.38 (C2'), 127.72 (C5'), 128.36 (C4'),128.87 (C6'), 130.67 (C3'), 131.93 (C9), 135.38 (C3), 154.86 (C1'), 161.26 (C6); FT-IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 1162, 1407, 1488, 1609, 1653, 2190, 2640, 3153, 3390; HRMS of  $[C_{14}H_{11}BrN_4O - 2H]^+$  (m/z): 328.0434; Calcd.: 328.0441.

**6-Amino-4-(2-chlorophenyl)-3-methyl-2,4-dihydropyrano--[2,3-c]pyrazole-5-carbonitrile** (**5e**): 2-chlorobenzaldehyde (0.532 g, 3.784 mmol), malononitrile (0.250 g, 3.784 mmol), and ethyl acetoacetate (0.492 g, 3.784 mmol), hydrazine hydrate (0.284 g, 5.676 mmol) and RuHAp (50 mg); Yield: 0.809 g (94%); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 1.76$  (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 5.06 (s, 1H, CH), 6.93 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.18 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.24–7.31 (m, 2H, ArH ), 7.41 (dd, J = 7.8 Hz, 1.5 Hz, 1H, ArH), 12.12 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 9.49 (C10), 28.56 (C4), 55.72 (C5), 96.82 (C11), 120.36 (C8), 127.72 (C2'), 128.56 (C4'/C5'), 129.45 (C6'), 130.67 (C3'), 131.93 (C9), 135.35 (C3), 154.90 (C1'), 161.26 (C6); FT-IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 1047, 1408, 1609, 1653, 2189, 3390; HRMS of [C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>11</sub>N<sub>4</sub>OCl – H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 285.0540; Calcd.: 285.0543. **6-Amino-4-(2-fluorophenyl)-3-methyl-2,4-dihydropyrano--[2,3-c]pyrazole-5-carbonitrile** 

(5f): 2-fluorobenzaldehyde (0.470 g, 3.786 mmol), malononitrile (0.250 g, 3.786 mmol), ethyl

acetoacetate (0.492 g, 3.786 mmol), hydrazine hydrate (0.284 g, 5.679 mmol) and RuHAp (50 mg); Yield: 0.766 g(89%); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  = 1.80 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 4.86 (s, 1H, CH), 6.91 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.14–7.18 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.25–7.29 (m, 1H, ArH), 12.10 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 9.36 (C10), 30.02 (C4), 55.52 (C5), 96.59 (C11), 115.49 (d, *J* = 23.11 Hz, C3'), 120.55 (C8), 124.68 (C1'), 128.82 (d, *J* = 9.3 Hz, C4'), 129.78 (d, *J* = 4.65 Hz, C5'), 130.72 (d, *J* = 12.22 Hz, C6'), 135.32 (C9), 154.87 (C6), 159.98 (d, *J* = 258.4 Hz, C2'); FT-IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 1209, 1256, 1406, 1484, 1595, 1651, 2189, 3164, 3385; HRMS of [C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>11</sub>N<sub>4</sub>OF – H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 269.0835; Calcd.: 269.0839.

**6-Amino-4-(3-hydroxyphenyl)-3-methyl-2,4-dihydropyrano-[2,3-c]pyrazole-5-carbonitrile** (**5g**): 3-hydoxy benzaldehyde (0.462 g, 3.783 mmol), malononitrile (0.249 g, 3.783 mmol), ethyl acetoacetate (0.492 g, 3.783 mmol), hydrazine hydrate (0.284 g, 5.674 mmol) and RuHAp (50 mg); Yield: 0.905 g (90%); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 1.81$  (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 4.48 (s, 1H, CH), 6.53 (s, 1H, ArH), 6.59–6.62 (m 2H, ArH), 6.83 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.09 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 1H, ArH), 9.29 (s, 1H, OH), 12.07 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 9.73 (C10), 36.14 (C4), 57.26 (C5), 97.66 (C11), 113.80 (C4'), 114.10 (C2'), 118.15 (C6'), 120.77 (C5'), 129.23 (C1'), 135.53 (C9), 145.93 (C3), 154.73 (C8), 157.39 (C3'), 160.80 (C6); FT-IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 1283, 1348, 1485, 1591, 1647, 2177, 3163, 3360; HRMS of [C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>12</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O<sub>2</sub> – H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 267.0878; Calcd.: 267.0882.

#### 6-Amino-4-(4-bromophenyl)-3-methyl-2,4-dihydropyrano-[2,3-c]pyrazole-5-carbonitrile

(**5h**): 4-Bromobenzaldehyde (0.700 g, 3.783 mmol), malononitrile (0.249 g, 3.783 mmol), ethyl acetoacetate (0.492 g, 3.783 mmol), hydrazine hydrate (0.284 g, 5.674 mmol), and Ru-HAp (50 mg); Yield: 1.147 g (93%); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 1.79$  (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 4.61 (s, 1H, CH), 6.91 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.13 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.50 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 2H, ArH), 12.12 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 9.70 (C10), 35.60 (C4), 56.68 (C5), 97.09 (C11), 119.72 (C9), 120.59 (C4'), 126.90 (C8), 129.70 (C2'/C6'), 131.34 (C3'/C5'), 135.65 (C1'), 143.86 (C3), 160.88 (C6); FT-IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 1162, 1221, 1484, 1596, 1646, 2180, 3141; HRMS of [C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>11</sub>BrN<sub>4</sub>O – 2H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 328.0929; Calcd.: 328.0937.

# 6-Amino-4-(2,4-dimethoxyphenyl)-3-methyl-2,4-dihydro--pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-5-

**carbonitrile** (5i): 2,4-dimethoxybenzaldehyde (0.629 g, 3.785 mmol), malononitrile (0.250 g, 3.785 mmol), ethyl acetoacetate (0.492 g, 3.785 mmol), hydrazine hydrate (0.284 g, 5.677 mmol), and Ru-HAp (50 mg); Yield: 1.062 g (90%); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  = 1.78 (s,

3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.53 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.66 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 5.01 (s, 1H, CH), 6.13–6.21 (m, 2H, ArH), 6.29 (s, 1H, ArH), 6.53 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>). 11.73 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 9.13 (C10), 24.56 (C4), 55.03 (C7<sup>'</sup>/C8<sup>'</sup>), 55.43 (C5), 91.09 (C3<sup>'</sup>), 97.88 (C11), 111.73 (C5<sup>'</sup>), 121.43 (C6<sup>'</sup>), 133.86 (C9), 155.76 (C4<sup>'</sup>), 159.54 (C2<sup>'</sup>), 161.94 (C6); FT-IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 1407, 1489, 1589, 1653, 2184, 3172; HRMS of  $[C_{16}H_{16}N_4O_3 - H]^+$  (m/z): 311.0984; Calcd.: 311.0988.

# 6-Amino-4-(2,4,6-trimethoxyphenyl)-3-methyl-2,4-dihydro-pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-5-

**carbonitrile (5j):** 2,4,6-trimethoxybenzaldehyde (0.743 g, 3.786 mmol), malononitrile (0.250 g, 3.786 mmol), ethyl acetoacetate (0.492 g, 3.786 mmol), hydrazine hydrate (0.284 g, 5.679 mmol), and Ru-HAp (50 mg); Yield: 1.147 g (89%); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  = 1.79 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.73 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.81 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.83 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 5.12 (s, 1H, CH), 6.29 (s, 2H, ArH), 6.69 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 12.29 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 9.66 (C10), 25.39 (C4), 51.50 (C4'), 55.01 (C2'), 55.42 (C6'), 55.63 (C5), 91.07 (C11), 112.27 (C3'/C5'), 130.57 (C9), 154.34 (C6'), (159.53 (C2'), 160.50 (C4'), 161.22 (C6),; FT-IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 1227, 1397, 1454, 1645, 2189, 2943, 3202, 3322; HRMS of [C<sub>17</sub>H<sub>18</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O<sub>4</sub> – H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 341.0992; Calcd.: 341.1008.

#### 6-Amino-4-(2,5-dimethoxyphenyl)-3-methyl-2,4-dihydro--pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-5-

**carbonitrile** (**5**k): 2,5-dimethoxy-benzaldehyde (0.629 g, 3.785 mmol), malononitrile (0.250 g, 3.785 mmol), ethyl acetoacetate (0.492 g, 3.785 mmol), hydrazine hydrate (0.284 g, 5.677 mmol) and RuHAp (50 mg); Yield: 1.039 g (88%); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  = 1.81 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.76 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.83 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.95 (s, 1H, CH), 6.89 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.09 (d, *J* = 1.2 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.49 (s, 1H, ArH ), 12.09 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 9.61 (C10), 51.62 (C4), 55.44 (C8'), 119.45 (C1'), 56.28 (C7'), 103.92 (C11), 109.77 (C5), 112.84 (C3'), 113.61 (C4'), 122.00 (C6'), 133.56 (C9), 151.04 (C3), 152.64 (C8), 153.11 (C2'), 156.47 (C5'), 160.74 (C6); FT-IR (KBr, cm<sup>-1</sup>): 1221,1331, 1492, 1653, 2202, 2939, 3194, 3375; HRMS of [C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>16</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O<sub>3</sub> – H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 311.0848; Calcd.: 311.0844.

# 5.3. Results and discussion

#### 5.3.1. BET surface area (BET) and elemental (ICP) analysis

The texture of the prepared catalyst was determined by physisorption analysis. The  $N_2$  physisorption isotherms for the Ru supported on CaHAp catalyst showed a characteristic hysteresis loop of type-IV adsorption isotherm demonstrating the mesoporous nature of the catalyst (**Figure 1**). The pore size data for the samples, exhibited values in the mesoporous

region (3 nm < pore size < 50 nm) and the p/po ratio of the isotherms was in the range 0.81-0.96. The 1% catalyst showed a surface area of 46 m<sup>2</sup> g<sup>-1</sup> with a pore volume of 0.217 cc g<sup>-1</sup>. The ICP analysis results showed the presence of anticipated amount of 1% Ru in the catalyst (0.98 mol %).



Figure 1. N<sub>2</sub> adsorption & desorption spectra of 1% Ru-CaHAp catalyst

# 5.3.2. TEM analysis

The TEM micrograph reveals more structural information of the catalyst. Figure 2 illustrates a distinctive TEM image of Ru supported on HAp, from which it can be seen that the Ru nanoparticles revealed rod-like shapes and particle dimension ranged between 220 and 250 nm. No drastic change was noticed in the morphology of the used catalyst.



Figure 2. TEM micrograph of Ru-CaHAp catalyst

# 5.3.3. SEM analysis

**Figure 3** shows an illustrative SEM surface morphology micrograph of the sample Ru on HAp. Significant large cubic sheet irregular shapes were perceived from the low magnification SEM image of Ru-HAp. This micrograph reveals that the aggregative state of the HAp important particles are with Ru. The SEM–EDX micrographs confirm the uniform distribution of ruthenium on the hydroxyapatite surface. The SEM-EDX agreed with the data from ICP elemental analysis. Furthermore, the morphology of the catalyst as per the SEM images noticeably point to the crystallinity and homogeneity of the sample.



Figure 3. SEM micrograph of Ru-CaHAp catalyst

## 5.3.4. Powder X-ray diffractogram (XRD) analysis

The powdered XRD patterns of calcined Ru supported on CaHAp are shown in Figure. 4. The diffraction peak values  $2\theta$  of  $25.86^{\circ}$ ,  $31.91^{\circ}$ ,  $32.83^{\circ}$ ,  $32.94^{\circ}$ ,  $46.62^{\circ}$ ,  $49.34^{\circ}$ ,  $52.98^{\circ}$ , 62.82 and  $64.05^{\circ}$  were assigned to HAp. All these diffraction peaks agrees with the International Centre for Diffraction Data (JCPDS file no. 09-0390). 1% Ru supported on HAp sample showed diffraction peaks at a  $2\theta$  angles of  $28.74^{\circ}$ ,  $35.11^{\circ}$ ,  $54.35^{\circ}$  and  $69.71^{\circ}$  corresponding to the RuO2 (JCPDS # 40-1290). The peaks identified in the diffractogram shows the polycrystalline nature of the materials. The average crystallite size of this sample was obtained to be 5.9 nm using the Scherrer equation based on the highest intensity diffraction peaks of Ru-HAp.



Figure 4. XRD spectrum of Ru-CaHAp catalyst

#### 5.3.5. Optimization procedure

The model reaction involving 2-methoxybenzaldehyde (1 mmol), malononitrile (1 mmol), hydrazine hydrate (1.5 mmol) and ethyl acetoacetate (1 mmol) as reactants in equimolar ratio was investigated in detail under varied conditions, i.e. in the absence and presence of various catalysts and using different solvents and temperature conditions to optimize reaction conditions.

When the reaction was carried out without a catalyst or solvent, at RT and reflux conditions, there was no reaction, even after 12 h (Table 1, entry 1 & 2). When the reaction was attempted with the various types of basic catalysts such as NaOH,  $K_2CO_3$ , triethylamine (TEA), piperidine and Na<sub>2</sub>S in the presence of 1:1 ethanol and water as solvent, yield of product was small, even after 3 h (Table 1, entry 3-7). Reaction was performed in the presence of ionic liquids, L-proline with Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> or (Bmim)BF<sub>4</sub> and the product yield was moderate at RT conditions (Table 1, entry 8 & 9). The use of pure heterogeneous acidic catalysts such as Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, SiO<sub>2</sub>, and CeO<sub>2</sub> at RT in 1:1 EtOH/water mixture showed better yields (Table 1, entries 10-13). To screen the reactivity's of different hydroxyapatites, CaHAp, BaHAp SrHAp, reaction was repeated and after 45 min reaction time yields were moderate (65-78%) (Table 1, entry 14-16). When Ru supported on CaHAp was used as catalyst, a reaction occurred with an impressive 98% yield of pyranopyrazole derivative at RT within 15 min reaction time (Table 1, entry 17). The efficiency of this catalytic system was compared with two other Ru supported HAps under

otherwise similar conditions. The use of Ru-BaHAp and Ru-SrHAp gave relatively lower product yields (Table 1, entry 18 & 19).

In heterogeneous catalysis, the surface area of the catalyst which determines the availability of catalytic sites and direction of the reaction plays a pivotal role. To assess the impact of amount of catalyst on the synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazoles, the reaction of benzaldehyde, malononitrile hydrazine hydrate and ethyl acetoacetate was carried out with varying amounts of Ru-CaHAp, namely 10, 20, 30, 40, 50, 60, 75 and 100 mg. The 50 mg of catalyst was observed to be ample to promote the reaction with optimum efficiency and further amount of the catalyst did not improve either the yield or reaction time (Table 2). However, the decrease in amount of the catalyst used to < 50 mg, affected the product yield by reducing it to 85% (Table 2). Thus, 50 mg of Ru-CaHAp at RT with ethanol and water as solvent proved optimal for the model reaction giving 98% yield.

Entry	Catalyst <sup>b</sup>	Solvent	Condition	Time	Yield
	-			( <b>h</b> )	(%) <sup>c</sup>
1			RT	12	
2			Reflux	12	
3	NaOH	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	3.0	25
4	$K_2CO_3$	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	3.0	29
5	TEA	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	3.0	23
6	Piperidine	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	3.0	30
7	$Na_2S$	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	3.0	27
8	L-proline	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	3.5	42
9	(Bmim)BF <sub>4</sub>	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	3.5	39
10	$Fe_2O_3$	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	12	51
11	$Al_2O_3$	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	12	55
12	SiO <sub>2</sub>	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	12	53
13	$CeO_2$	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	12	59
14	СаНАр	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	0.75	78
15	ВаНАр	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	0.75	71
16	SrHAp	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	0.83	65
17	Ru-CaHAp	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	0.25	98
18	Ru-BaHAp	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	0.25	93
19	Ru-SrHAp	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	0.33	91

 Table 1: Optimization for the synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]--pyrazoles using various catalyst materials<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>All products were characterised by IR, <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR, <sup>15</sup>N NMR & HRMS spectral analysis.

Catalyst used 50 mg, <sup>c</sup> Isolated yields.

-- No reaction

Entry	Catalyst	Time	Yield
	( <b>mg</b> )	(min)	(%)
1	10 mg	25	85
2	20 mg	20	88
3	30 mg	20	91
4	40 mg	20	93
5	50 mg	15	98
6	60 mg	15	97
7	75 mg	15	98
8	100 mg	15	96

**Table 2:** Optimization of the amount of 1% Ru-CaHAp as catalyst in the reaction

A perusal of the experimental results and the effect of various polar and non-polar solvents on the four component reaction clearly indicate that ethanol and water mixture as solvent is vital for the reaction (Table 1). It was noteworthy that, under otherwise similar conditions, the Ru-CaHAp catalyzed reaction in presence of relatively non-polar solvents like 1,4-dioxane, toluene and n-hexane gave insignificant yields even after prolonged reaction times (Table 3 entries 1-3), and even with polar aprotic solvents such as DMF and CH<sub>3</sub>CN, the reaction yield was low (Table3, Entry 4 & 5). The polar protic solvents such as ethanol, methanol and water on their own failed to facilitate high yields (Table 1, entry 6-8). Interestingly, the mixture of EtOH:H<sub>2</sub>O (50:50 v/v) gave an impressive yield of 98%. A highly polar solvent which dissipates heat faster seems to provide optimum conditions for formation of intermediates, and their conversion to final products on the catalyst surface.

**Table 3:** Optimization of various solvent condition for the synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazoles

 derivatives by Ru-CaHAp catalyst

Entry	Solvent	Yield	
		(%)	
1	1,4-	09	
	Dioxane		
2	Toluene	13	
3	n-Hexane	10	
4	DMF	34	
5	CH <sub>3</sub> CN	37	
6	Ethanol	78	
7	Methanol	69	
8	$H_2O$	71	
6	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	98	

The Ru-CaHAp as catalyst proved to catalyze the facile one-pot synthesis reactions of pyranopyrazole derivatives with excellent yields. Under the chosen optimal reaction conditions, the versatility of the protocol was tested by replacing methoxybenzaldehyde with a range of aromatic aldehydes in the reaction. All the reactions using different electron-withdrawing or electron releasing substituents in ortho, meta and para positions on aryl ring of aldehydes, gave exciting results, producing derivatives of respective pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazoles with impressive yields (Table 4). All of the reaction products were characterized and structures were confirmed by FTIR, <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>15</sup>N NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR and HRMS spectral data (Electronic Supplementary Information).

Entry	Product	Yield (%)	Mp °C	Lit Mp °C
1	5a	92	214-215	
2	5b	90	191-193	192-194 [36]
3	5c	98	253-254	252-253 [40]
4	5d	92	258-260	259-261 [35]
5	5e	94	145-147	145-146 [37]
6	5f	89	259-260	
7	5g	90	260-261	
8	5h	93	178–180	178-179 [39]
9	5i	90	210-211	
10	5j	89	227-229	
11	5k	88	212-214	

Table 4: Synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazoles derivatives catalyzed by Ru-CaHAp catalyst

-- New compounds/no literature available.

#### 5.3.6. Reusability of catalyst

The reusability of the synthesized heterogeneous catalysts is a significant parameter from environmental and fiscal point of view. In heterogeneous catalysis, poisoning of the catalyst and leaching of metal are the main limitations, which impact on activity for further reuse. In order to examine the stability of the catalyst, recycling experiments were performed. After each run, catalyst was separated by filtration. The recovered material was washed with deionized water followed by ethanol, then dried and reused for the next run under the similar conditions. No significant loss was observed in the first five cycles. The catalytic activity of the Ru/Ca-HAp decreased when the recovered catalytic system was reused in the 6th and 7th cycles (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Recyclability of Ru-CaHAp catalyst

# 5.4. Conclusion

In summary, we have described a simple, efficient and green multicomponent one-pot procedure for the syntheses of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole derivatives in good to excellent yields using Ru-CaHAp as catalyst at RT. Ru-CaHAp is effective and recyclable catalyst for the MCR protocol. The advantages of the approach are excellent yields, cost-effectiveness, easy work up, environment friendly reaction conditions, short reaction times and use of green solvents and recyclable catalyst. Moreover, this procedure is appropriate for diversity oriented synthesis of potentially bioactive heterocycles.

# 5.5. Acknowledgement

The authors are thankful to the National Research Foundation (NRF) of South Africa, and University of KwaZulu-Natal, Durban, for financial support and research facilities.

## 5.6. Supplementary material

Supportive/Supplementary material intended for publication must be numbered and referred to in the manuscript but should not be a part of the submitted paper. List all Supportive/Supplementary Material and include a brief caption line for each file describing its contents.

# 5.7. References

- Posner, G.H. Multicomponent one-pot annulations forming 3 to 6 bonds. *Chem. Rev.*, 1986, 86, 831–839.
- [2] Daniel, M.D.; Thomas, J.J.M. Multi-component syntheses of heterocycles by transitionmetal catalysis. *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 2007, 36, 1095–1108.
- [3] Paul, A.; Nicolas, E. Green chemistry: principles and practice. *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 2010, *39*, 301–312.
- [4] Weber, L. The application of multi-component reactions in drug discovery. *Curr. Med. Chem.*, 2002, 9(23), 2085–2093.
- [5] Alexander, D.; Wei, W.; Kan, W. Chemistry and biology of multicomponent reactions. *Chem. Rev.*, **2012**, *112*(6), 3083–3135.
- [6] Bruce, G. Strategies for innovation in multicomponent reaction design. *Chem. Res.*, 2009, 42(3), 463–472.
- [7] Takayoshi, H.; Satoko, K.; Kohsuke, M.; Tomoo, M.; Kohki, E.; Koichiro, J.; Kiyotomi,
   K. Highly efficient CC bond-forming reactions in aqueous media catalyzed by
   monomeric vanadate species in an apatite framework. J. Org. Chem., 2006, 71(19),
   7455–7462.
- [8] Maddila, S.; Rana, S.; Pagadala, R.; Kankala, S.; Maddila, S.N.; Jonnalagadda, S.B. Synthesis of pyrazole-4-carbonitrile derivatives in aqueous media with CuO/ZrO<sub>2</sub> as recyclable catalyst. *Catal. Commun.*, **2015**, *61*, 26–30.
- [9] Maddila, S.N.; Maddila, S.; Van Zyl, W.E.; Jonnalagadda, S.B. Mn doped ZrO<sub>2</sub> as a green, efficient and reusable heterogeneous catalyst for the multicomponent synthesis of pyrano [2,3-d]-pyrimidine derivatives. *RSC Adv.*, **2015**, *5*, 37360–37366.
- [10] Rana, S.; Maddila, S.; Jonnalagadda, S.B. Synthesis and characterization of Pd(II) dispersed over diamine functionalized graphene oxide and its scope as catalyst for selective oxidation. *Catal. Sci. & Tech.*, **2015**, *5*, 3235-3241.
- [11] Pagadala, R.; Maddila, S.; Rana, S.; Jonnalagadda, S.B. Ce–Zr/SiO<sub>2</sub>: a versatile reusable heterogeneous catalyst for three-component synthesis and solvent free oxidation of benzyl alcohol *RSC Adv.*, **2014**, *4*(*13*), 6602-6607.
- [12] Sebti, S.; Solhy, A.; Tahir, R.; Smahi, A.; Boulaajaj, S.; Mayoral, J.A.; Garcia, J.I.;Fraile, J.M.; Kossir, A.; Oumimoun, H. Application of natural phosphate modified with

sodium nitrate in the synthesis of chalcones: a soft and clean method. *J. Catal.* **2003**, *213*, 1–6.

- [13] Pillai, M.K.; Singh, S.; Jonnalagadda, S.B. Solvent-free Knoevenagel condensation over iridium and platinum hydroxyapatites *Kinet. & Catal.* 2011, 52(4), 536–539.
- [14] Panda, R.N.; Hsieh, M.F.; Chung, R.J.; Chin, T.S. FTIR, XRD, SEM and solid state NMR investigations of carbonate-containing hydroxyapatite nano-particles synthesized by hydroxide-gel technique. J. Phy. & Chem. Solids., 2003, 64, 193–199.
- [15] Mori, K.; Hara, T.; Oshiba, M.; Mizugaki, T.; Ebitani, K.; Kaneda, K. Catalytic investigations of carbon–carbon bond-forming reactions by a hydroxyapatite-bound palladium complex. *New. J. Chem.*, **2005**, *29*, 1174–1182.
- [16] Opre, Z.; Grunwaldt, J.D.; Mallat, T.; Baiker, A. Selective oxidation of alcohols with oxygen on Ru–Co-hydroxyapatite: A mechanistic study. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem., 2005, 242, 224–232.
- [17] Arensds, J.; Chistoffersen, J.; Chistoffersen, M.R.; Eckert, H.; An effective and facile synthesis of hydroxyapatite powders using oxalic acid–ethylene glycol mixture. J. Cryst. Growth., 1987, 84, 515-532.
- [18] Reddy, M.P.; Venugopal, A.; Subrahmanyam, M. Hydroxyapatite-supported Ag–TiO<sub>2</sub> as Escherichia coli disinfection photocatalyst. *Water Res.*, 2007, 41, 379–386.
- [19] Piaoping, Y.; Zewei, Q.; Chunxia, L.; Xiaojiao, K. Hongzhou, L.; Jun, L. Bioactive, luminescent and mesoporous europium-doped hydroxyapatite as a drug carrier. *Biomat.*, 1998, 29, 4341–4347.
- [20] Smith, W.P.; Sollis, L.S.; Howes, D.P.; Cherry, C.P.; Starkey, D.I.; Cobley, N.K. Dihydropyrancarboxamides Related to Zanamivir: A new series of inhibitors of influenza virus sialidases I. Discovery, synthesis, biological activity, and structure–activity relationships of 4-guanidino- and 4-amino-4H-pyran-6-carboxamides. J. Med. Chem., 1998, 41, 787-797.
- [21] Bhavanarushi, S.; Kanakaiah, V.; Yakaiah, E.; Saddanapu, V.; Addlagatta, A.; Rani, J.V. Synthesis, cytotoxic, and DNA binding studies of novel fluorinated condensed pyrano pyrazoles. *Med Chem Res.*, **2013**, *22*, 2446–2454.

- [22] Santhosh, R.M.; Sravanthi, S.; Manjula, A.; Vittal, R.B.; Madhava, R.B.; Sridhar, B. Ecofriendly synthesis and biological evaluation of substituted pyrano [2,3-c] pyrazoles. *Chem. Lett.*, **2012**, 22, 5272–5278.
- [23] Junek, H.; Aigner, H. Synthesen mit Nitrilen, XXXV. Reaktionen von tetracyanathylen mit heterocyclen. *Chem. Ber.*, **1973**, *106*, 914-932
- [24] Litvinov, Y.M.; Rodinovskaya, L.A.; Shestopalov, A.M. A new convenient fourcomponent synthesis of 6-amino-2H,4H-pyrano[2,3-c ]pyrazole-5-carbonitriles and onepot synthesis of 6'-amino-5-cyano-1,2-dihydrospiro-[(3H)-indole-3,4'-(4'H)-pyrano[2,3-c ]pyrazol]-2-ones. *Rus. Chem. Bull. Inter. Edi.*, **2009**, *58*(*11*), 2362–2368.
- [25] Abdol, R.H.; Morteza, K.; Hamed, T. Fast synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazoles: strong effect of Brönsted and Lewis acidic ionic liquids. *J. Iran. Chem. Soc.*, 2015, *12*, 987–991.
- [26] Mahavir, P.; Vikas, V.; Devinder, K. Iodine-mediated efficient synthesis of pyrano [2,3-c] pyrazoles and their antimicrobial activity. *Monatsh Chem.*, 2014, *145*, 1857–1865.
- [27] Hamid, R.S.; Marziyeh, S.; Ebrahim, M. [DBU][Ac]-catalyzed mild preparation of 6amino-4-aryl-5-cyano-3-methyl-1, 4- dihydropyrano-[2,3-c]-pyrazole derivatives. *Res. Chem. Intermed.*, 2014, 40, 2721–2728.
- [28] Javad, E.; Ali, M.; Vahid, P.; Ehsan, B.; Amir, H. Highly efficient solvent-free synthesis of pyranopyrazoles by a Bronsted-acidic ionic liquid as a green and reusable catalyst. J. *Chem. Sci.*, 2012, 5, 1013–1017.
- [29] Hamid, R.S.; Kobra, A.; Mild, four-component synthesis of 6-amino-4-aryl-3-methyl-1,
   4-dihydropyrano-[2,3-c]-pyrazole-5- carbonitriles catalyzed by titanium dioxide nanosized particles *Res. Chem. Intermed.*, 2014, 40, 661–667.
- [30] Kathrotiya, H.G.; Patel, M.P.; Microwave-assisted multi-component synthesis of 3'indolyl substituted pyrano-[2,3-c] pyrazoles and their antimicrobial activity. J. Serb. Chem. Soc., 2012, 77(8), 983-991.
- [31] Manisha, B.; Pranjal, P.; Bora, G.B.; Hassan, A. Amberlyst A21 catalyzed chromatography-free method for multicomponent synthesis of dihydropyrano-[2,3-c]pyrazoles in ethanol. ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng. 2013, 1, 440–447.
- [32] Sanjib, G.; Cong-Gui, Z. Organocatalyzed enantioselective synthesis of 6-amino-5cyanodihydropyrano-[2,3-c]-pyrazoles. *Tetra. Lett.*, **2009**, *50*, 2252–2255.

- [33] Hemant, V.C.; Santosh, B.B.; Rahul, U.H.; Babasaheb, P.B. Rapid one-pot, four component synthesis of pyranopyrazoles using heteropolyacid under solvent-free condition. *Bull. Korean Chem. Soc.*, **2011**, *32*(*11*), 3963-3966.
- [34] Aisha, S.; Aatika, N.; Pasha, M.A. An efficient and simple approach for the synthesis of pyranopyrazoles using imidazole (catalytic) in aqueous medium, and the vibrational spectroscopic studies on 6-amino-4-(4'-methoxyphenyl)-5-cyano-3-methyl-1-phenyl-1,4-dihydropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole using density functional theory *Spectrochim. Acta Part A.*, **2011**, *81*, 431–440.
- [35] Ahmad, R.M.Z.; Mohammad, A.Z.; Ehsan, N.M.T.; Vahid, K.; Abdolkarim, Z. Synthesis of 6-amino-4-(4-methoxyphenyl)-5-cyano-3-methyl-1-phenyl-1,4-dihydro pyrano[2,3c]pyrazoles using disulfonic acid imidazolium chloroaluminate as a dual and heterogeneous catalyst. *New. J. Chem.*, **2013**, *37*, 4089-4094.
- [36] Hormi, M.M.; Rumum, R.; Iadeishisha, K.; Badaker, M.L.; Icydora, K.; Mantu, R.; Bekington, M. L-Proline as an efficicent catalyst for the multi-component synthesis of 6-amino-4-alkyl/aryl-3-methyl-2,4-dihydropyrano-[2,3-c]-pyrazole-5-carbonitriles in water. *Tetra. Lett.*, 2011, *52*, 3228–3231.
- [37] Kuppusamy, K.; Kasi, P. Solvent-free multicomponent synthesis of pyranopyrazoles: per-6-amino-β-cyclodextrin as a remarkable catalyst and host. *Tetra. Lett.*, **2010**, *51*, 3312– 3316.
- [38] Gnanasambandam, V.; Kandhasamy, K. Rapid four-component reactions in water: synthesis of pyranopyrazoles. *Tetra. Lett.*, 2008, 49, 5636–5638.
- [39] Kumar, G.S.; Kurumurthy, C.; Veeraswamy, B.; Sambasiva, R. P.; Shanthan, P. Rao, B. An efficient multi-component synthesis of 6-amino-3-methyl-4-aryl-2,4-dihydro pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-5-carbonitriles. *Org. Prep. & Proce. Internat.*, **2013**, *45*, 429-436.
- [40] Mohammad, A.N.; Seyed, M.S. Magnetic nanoparticle supported hyperbranched polyglycerol catalysts for synthesis of 4H-benzo[b]pyran. *Monatsh Chem.*, 2013, 144, 1551-1558.
- [41] Maddila, S.; Rana, S.; Pagadala, R.; Jonnalagadda, S.B. Mg-V/CO<sub>3</sub> Hydrotalcite: An efficient and reusable catalyst for one-pot synthesis of multisubstituted pyridines. Res.Chem.Intermed., 2015, 41, 8269-8278.

# 5.8. Supplementary material data

#### 5.8.1. Materials, methods and instruments

All chemicals and reagents required for the reaction were of analytical grade and were used without any further purification. Bruker AMX 400 MHz NMR spectrometer was used to record the <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR and <sup>15</sup>N NMR spectral values. High-resolution mass data were obtained using a Bruker micro TOF-Q II ESI instrument operating at ambient temperature. The DMSO–d<sub>6</sub> solution was utilized for this while TMS served as the internal standard. TMS was further used as an internal standard for reporting the all chemical shifts in  $\delta$  (ppm). The FT-IR spectrum for the samples was established using a Perkin Elmer Perkin Elmer Precisely 100 FT-IR spectrometer at the 400-4000 cm<sup>-1</sup> area. Purity of all the reaction products was confirmed by TLC using aluminum plates coated with silica gel (Merck Kieselgel 60 F254).



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **5a** 



<sup>15</sup>N NMR spectra of compound **5a** 



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **5a** 



HR-MS spectra of compound 5a



FT-IR spectra of compound 5a



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **5b** 



<sup>15</sup>N NMR spectra of compound **5b** 



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **5b** 



HR-MS spectra of compound 5b



FT-IR spectra of compound 5b



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **5**c



<sup>15</sup>N NMR spectra of compound **5c** 



HR-MS spectra of compound 5c



FT-IR spectra of compound 5c



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **5d** 



<sup>15</sup>N NMR spectra of compound **5d** 



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **5d** 



HR-MS spectra of compound 5d



FT-IR spectra of compound 5d



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **5e** 



 $5e^{1}N$  NMR spectra of compound 5e


<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **5e** 



HR-MS spectra of compound 5e



FT-IR spectra of compound 5e



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **5f** 



 $^{15}N$  NMR spectra of compound  $\mathbf{5f}$ 



13C NMR spectra of compound 5f



HR-MS spectra of compound 5f



FT-IR spectra of compound 5f



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **5g** 



 $^{15}N$  NMR spectra of compound 5g



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **5g** 



HR-MS spectra of compound 5g



FT-IR spectra of compound 5g



 $^{1}$ H NMR spectra of compound **5h** 



<sup>15</sup>N NMR spectra of compound **5h** 



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **5h** 

Eler	nental	Compos	sition I	Report							Page 1
Sing Tole Elen Num	gle Mas rance = nent pree iber of is	<b>s Analy</b> 5.0 PPM diction: O sotope pe	<b>sis</b> / DBI ff aks use	E: min = -1	.5, max = = 3	: 100.0					
Mone 14 fo Elem C: 10 S3 52 TOF	Disotopic ormula(e) ents Use )-15 H: 2 (1.788) ( MS ES-	Mass, Eve evaluated d: 0-10 N: Cm (1:61)	en Electro with 1 re 0-5 O	on lons esults within : 0-5 Br: 0	limits (up -1	to 20 closest r	esults for each	mass)			1.37e+005
100- - %-							328.0929	330.1087			
- - 0-	314.0 314.0	<sup>194</sup> 317.0 316.0	)782 318.0	320.9963 320.0	322.98543 322.0	325.0982 24.6943 326. 324.0 326	0962   327.0980   329. 5.0   328.0	331.0332 1400   330.0 33	332.3266 335.9	9191 337.: 336.0	2009 339.1969 338.0
Mini Maxi	.mum: .mum:			5.0	5.0	-1.5 100.0					
Mass	5	Calc. M	lass	mDa	PPM	DBE	i-FIT	i-FIT (N	orm) Formula	a	
328.	0929	328.093	7	-0.8	-2.5	12.5	649.5	0.0	С14 Н9	) N4 O	Br

HR-MS spectra of compound 5h



FT-IR spectra of compound  ${\bf 5h}$ 



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **5**i



<sup>15</sup>N NMR spectra of compound **5**i



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **5i** 



HR-MS spectra of compound 5i



FT-IR spectra of compound 5i





F2 [ppm]



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **5**j



HR-MS spectra of compound 5j



FT-IR spectra of compound 5j



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **5**k



 $^{15}N$  NMR spectra of compound  $\mathbf{5k}$ 





HR-MS spectra of compound 5k



FT-IR spectra of compound  $\mathbf{5k}$ 

## **CHAPTER-6**

# Swift and green protocol for one-pot synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3carboxylates with RuCaHAp as catalyst

Surya Narayana Maddila, Suresh Maddila, Werner E. van Zyl and Sreekanth B Jonnalagadda \*

School of Chemistry and Physics, University of Kwa-Zulu Natal, Westville Campus, Private Bag X 54001, Durban, 4000, South Africa.

Corresponding Author:	*Prof. Sreekanth B. Jonnalagadda			
	School of Chemistry & Physics,			
	University of KwaZulu-Natal,			
	Durban 4000, South Africa.			
	Tel.: +27 31 2607325, Fax: +27 31 2603091			
	E-mail address: jonnalagaddas@ukzn.ac.za			



This chapter is published in the Current Organic Chemistry and has been structured according

to the journal's format.

## Swift and green protocol for one-pot synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3carboxylates with RuCaHAp as catalyst

Surya Narayana Maddila, Suresh Maddila, Werner E. van Zyl and Sreekantha B Jonnalagadda\*

\*School of Chemistry & Physics, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Westville Campus, Chiltern Hills, Durban-4000, South Africa

\*Corresponding Author: Prof. Sreekantha B. Jonnalagadda

School of Chemistry & Physics, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Durban 4000, South Africa. Tel.: +27 31 2607325, Fax: +27 31 2603091 E-mail address: jonnalagaddas@ukzn.ac.za

## Abstract

An efficient, atom-economical, four-component one-pot reaction method was developed for pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylates using dimethylacetylenedicarboxylate, hydrazine hydrate, malononitrile and aromatic aldehydes, using a RuCaHAp catalyst. Ten new substituted pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylate derivatives (**5a-k**) were synthesized in good to excellent yields (88 to 97%), at room temperature with short reaction times ( $\approx$  30 min) using the green solvent aqueous ethanol. RuCaHAp was prepared and characterized by various techniques including SEM, TEM, P-XRD and BET spectroscopy. The proposed heterogeneous catalyst can be easily synthesized, is inexpensive and stable with good reusability (at least 6 times) showing marginal loss of activity. The suggested environmentally benign protocol offers high yields, clean reaction profiles, operational simplicity and no need for chromatographic separations.

**Keywords:** Green protocol, Multicomponent reaction, Heterogeneous catalyst; Ru hydroxyapatite, pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazoles; Recyclable.

## 6.1. Introduction

The improvement of many efficient and eco-friendly methods used extensively in synthetic and medicinal chemistry from readily available reagents is a major challenge for chemists [1,2]. Multicomponent reactions (MCRs) have opened up new opportunities in the synthesis of varied heterocyclic moieties minimizing the steps, solvents and separations involved in the process [3-5]. Furthermore, MCRs also facilitate simple processes with higher yields and provide prospects to negotiate for more environmentally benign procedures and solvents [4,5], but further improvement and demand for discovery of new MCRs is ongoing.

Heterogeneous catalysts is very useful in heterocyclic synthetic methodology because of several advantages including reusability, environmental compatibility, non-corrosiveness, and ease of separation by making processes more cost effective [6,7]. To substitute conventional methods which require toxic stoichiometric reagents, with atom-efficient green alternatives is the way forward for sustainable chemistry [8]. Heterogeneous catalysis offer many benefits in this regard such as thermal stability, long life, recyclability and high selectivity through specific surface ensemble sites within a regular arrangement [7-9].

Hydroxyapatites (HAps) possess  $M^{2+}$  sites surrounded by  $PO_4^{3-}$  tetrahedra parallel to the hexagonal axis. HAp materials have both acidic and basic sites in the crystal lattice and it is thus anticipated to perform both acidic and basic catalytic reactions [10]. The high sorption capacity for heavy metals, low water solubility, high chemical stability, good affinity, availability and low cost makes HAps a perfect candidate for support material [11] and these characteristics also have made HAps better contenders to be used as biomaterials, adsorbents and ion exchangers [12-14]. HAps have been used in removal of heavy and toxic metals from contaminated soils [15], fertilizer production [16], water purification [17], organic synthesis [18] and medical treatment as targeted and controlled drug delivery carriers [19]. In this communication, we report the preparation and characterization of modified hydroxyapatites loaded with transition metals and tested their performance as catalysts for the synthesis of heterocyclic molecules and carbon–carbon bond-forming reactions.

Heterocyclic molecules have played a very important role in the development of medicines and pesticides in recent years and have become a new trend [20]. Nitrogen-containing pyranopyrazole heterocycles are essential components of many biologically active compounds and interesting templates for use in medicinal and pharmaceutical chemistry [21,22]. Due to their

potential as anti-cancer, anti-inflammatory, antimicrobial, anti-viral, antipyretic, anti-anxiety agents, the pyranopyrazoles have drawn significant attention from various research spheres [23-27]. Pyranopyrazoles have also been used as ingredients in biodegradable agrochemicals [28,29]. Although pyranopyrazole derivatives form an important class of heterocyclics, not many processes have been reported for their synthesis [21]. Literature surveys show that only three methods have been reported for synthesis of various pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylate derivatives. Those protocols employed  $\Delta$ /reflux [30],  $\Delta$ /CH<sub>3</sub>COOH [31] and SnO<sub>2</sub> [32]. Thesemethods used acidic or basic conditions, costly reagents, tedious handling processes, strict reaction conditions and obtained the product yield (<80%) after long reaction times (1.5 to 3.0 h). Thus, an improved greener protocol with an efficient and less expensive catalyst with shorter reaction times would be welcomed.

Our studies focused on the design and improvement of practical and environmentally friendly techniques for synthesis of biologically active molecules with either antimicrobial, insecticidal, anti-inflammatory and/or antioxidant activities. Previously, we have reported efficient protocols for synthesis of 1,2,4-triazoles, triazoles, 1,3,4-thiadiazoles, benzothiazoles [20, 33-35], tetrazole linked triazole [36], fused 1,2,4-triazolo-[3,4-b][1,3,4]-thiadiazole [37], thieno[2,3-d]pyrimidine, pyrimidinesulfamoyls [38,39], pyrazole-4-carbonitriles [5], pyrano[2,3-d]-pyrimidines [6], isoxazole-5(4H)-ones [40], pyrazolo-pyranopyrimidines [41], multifunctionalized benzenes [42] and pyranoquinolines [43], all derivatives using various heterogeneous catalysts by multicomponent reactions. Here we report on the applicability of a novel recyclable heterogeneous solid catalyst Ru supported hydroxyapatites (RuCaHAps) for efficient, convenient and facile green synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylate derivatives through the one-pot reaction of dimethyl acetylenedicarboxylate, hydrazine hydrate, malononitrile and aldehyde under aqueous ethanol solvent condition and at room temperature. We are not aware of any reports on the use of any heterogeneous catalysts for this conversion.

## 6.2 Experimental section

#### 6.2.1 Preparation of the catalyst

Ca-hydroxyapatite (HAp) was synthesised using a co-precipitation method [44]. A solution of diammonium hydrogen orthophosphate,  $(NH_4)_2HPO_4$  (5.6 g), (1.00 mol) (Merck, 98.5 %) was adjusted to pH 11.0 using a dilute ammonia solution and then diluted to 250 mL with double distilled water. Similarly, a calcium nitrate tetrahydrate, Ca(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>.4H<sub>2</sub>O (23.7 g),

(0.167 mol) (Merck, 99 %) solution was prepared and the pH adjusted to 11.0 and this solution was then diluted to 250 mL using double distilled water. The  $(NH_4)_2HPO_4$  solution was added drop-wise to the Ca(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>.4H<sub>2</sub>O solution with constant and vigorous stirring at room temperature over a period of 1 h. The pH of the mixture was maintained at 11 throughout, using diluted ammonia. The resultant precipitate was heated to and maintained at 85 °C for 1.5 h and then allowed to cool to room temperature. Thereafter, the precipitate was filtered under vacuum and washed repeatedly until the pH of the filtrate was neutral, thus having ensured the removal of excess diluted ammonia. The HAp was then dried overnight in an oven at 120 °C and thereafter calcined at 500 °C for 6 hours. Supported catalysts were synthesised by adding the HAp to a solution of ruthenium(III) chloride hydrate (RuCl<sub>3</sub>.xH<sub>2</sub>O (Aldrich, 99.98 %)) to afford the weight percentage of 1.0 wt% of RuO<sub>2</sub>. The catalyst materials were dried overnight at 120 °C for 6 h.

#### 6.2.2. General procedure for the synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylates

To a mixture of dimethyl acetylenedicarboxylate (1.0 mmol), aldehydes (1.0 mmol), malononitrile (1.1 mmol) and hydrazine hydrate (1 mmol) in 1:1 water/ethanol (10 mL), Ru-CaHAp (30 mg) was added and the reaction was allowed to proceed for 30 min under stirred conditions at room temperature (RT) (**Scheme 1**). The progress of the reaction was followed by thin-layer chromatography (TLC) and the solid residue obtained at the end of the reaction was dissolved in hot ethanol and the catalyst was recovered by filtration. The filtrate was concentrated to afford the solid pure product (**5a-k**).



Scheme 1. Synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazoles-3-carboxylate derivatives

#### 6.3. Results and discussion

In our primary study to identify a suitable solvent system for the four-component one-pot reaction for the synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylate derivatives, dimethyl acetylenedicarboxylate, hydrazine hydrate, malononitrile and 2-methoxybenzaldehyde were chosen as starting materials and RuHAp as catalyst as model reaction. The model reaction was investigated under varied solvent conditions (**Table 1**). The results showed that nonpolar solvents, like acetonitrile (CH<sub>3</sub>CN), toluene and hexane, gave insignificant yields even after prolonged reaction times (Table1, entries 1-3). Reaction under solvent-free conditions was not successful (Table 1, entry 4). However, the polar solvents EtOH or water at room temperature gave good yields (Table 1, entries 5 & 6). Further, the reaction was studied in different aqueous and ethanol mixtures. When the reaction was performed in EtOH–H<sub>2</sub>O (1:3, 1:1 and 3:1 v/v) the yields were 73, 97 and 85 %, respectively (Table 1, entries 7-9). Thus EtOH–H<sub>2</sub>O (1:1 v/v) proved most suitable solvent for this condensation in terms of yield and reaction time (Table 1, entry 8).

Entry	Catalyst	Solvent	Yield (%)
1	Ru-CaHAp	CH <sub>3</sub> CN	12
2	Ru-CaHAp	Toluene	15
3	Ru-CaHAp	n-Hexane	09
4	Ru-CaHAp	No solvent	0
5	Ru-CaHAp	Ethanol	51
6	Ru-CaHAp	$H_2O$	48
7	Ru-CaHAp	EtOH–H <sub>2</sub> O (2.5:7.0)	66
8	Ru-CaHAp	EtOH–H <sub>2</sub> O (7.5:2.5)	70
9	Ru-CaHAp	EtOH-H <sub>2</sub> O (1.0:1.0	97

**Table 1:** Optimization of various solvent condition for the synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylate derivatives by Ru-CaHAp catalyst

The impact of various parameters on the yield of model reaction was further investigated. In the absence of a catalyst under room temperature even after 8 h, the reaction proceeded with trace yields (Table 2, entries 1). The same reaction was tried under reflux conditions to achieve a lesser yield of product (Table 2, entries 2). The scope of the various types of catalysts was then explored to improve the yield and reaction conditions. However, the starting materials were restricted by acidic catalysts such as SiO2, CeO<sub>2</sub>, Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and TiO<sub>2</sub> at RT in aqueous ethanolic media and gave low yields (Table 2, entries 3-6). The use of inorganic basic catalysts, NaOH and  $K_2CO_3$  in the same media exhibited slight catalytic activity, but gave only low yield of

product (Table 2, entries 7&8). When the reaction was examined using several organic basic catalysts such as TEA, pyridine and piperidine, the anticipated product improved with 45-54% yields (Table 2, entry 9-11). Thereafter, the reaction was performed in the presence of ionic liquids such as (Bmim)BF<sub>4</sub>, L-proline, but yields were moderate at RT conditions (Table 2, entry 12 & 13). Furthermore, screening the reactivities of various hydroxyapatites, CaHAp, BaHAp SrHAp as catalysts, the reaction was repeated and after 50 min reaction time, yields were moderate (62-76%) (Table 2, entry 14-16). To further improve the quality of the reaction, Ru supported on CaHAp was used as catalyst, a reaction completed with an impressive 97% yield of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylate derivative at RT and within 30 min reaction time (Table 2, entry 17). The efficiency of the catalyst system was compared with two other Ru supported HAps under similar conditions. The use of Ru-BaHAp and Ru-SrHAp gave marginally less yield (Table 2, entry 18 & 19).

Entry	Catalyst	Solvent	Condition	Time (h)	Yield (%) <sup>b</sup>
1		EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	10	11
2		EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	Reflux	8.0	17
3	$SiO_2$	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	4.0	22
4	$CeO_2$	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	3.5	39
5	$Fe_2O_3$	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	4.5	33
6	$TiO_2$	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	6.0	23
7	NaOH	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	3.0	29
8	$K_2CO_3$	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	3.5	32
9	TEA	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	3.5	45
10	Pyridine	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	4.0	51
11	Piperidine	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	5.0	54
12	(Bmim)BF <sub>4</sub>	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	3.5	50
13	L-proline	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	3.0	47
14	CaHAp	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	1.0	76
15	BaHAp	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	1.5	71
16	SrHAp	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	2.0	62
17	Ru-CaHAp	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	0.30	97
18	Ru-BaHAp	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	0.30	93
19	Ru-SrHAp	EtOH:H <sub>2</sub> O	RT	0.30	91

**Table 2:** Optimization for the synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylate by Ru-CaHAp catalyst<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> All products were characterised by IR, <sup>1</sup>HNMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR, <sup>15</sup>N NMR & HRMS spectral analysis.

<sup>b</sup> Isolated yields; -- No reaction

We next examined the amount of Ru-CaHAp needed for optimum performance of the model reaction under otherwise similar conditions. As illustrated in Table 3, the best results were achieved by use of 30 mg Ru-CaHAp and further increase in the amount of the catalyst gave no additional advantage. The yield decreased when the amount of catalyst was reduced to 10 mg (Table 3, entry 1-5), and prolonged the reaction time with impact on yield. Therefore, 30 mg of Ru CaHAp at RT with aqueous ethanol as solvent was identified as optimal condition for the model reaction giving 97% yield in 30 minutes.

Entry	Catalyst (mg)	Time (min)	Yield (%)
1	Ru-CaHAp (10 mg)	90	85
2	Ru-CaHAp (20 mg)	55	88
3	Ru-CaHAp (30 mg)	30	97
4	Ru-CaHAp (40 mg)	30	95
5	Ru-CaHAp (50 mg)	30	95

**Table 3:** Optimization of the amount of 1% Ru-CaHAp as catalyst in the reaction

Calcium hydroxyapatite exhibited better catalytic activity than strontium and barium hydroxyapatites. This may be due to the higher surface area of the ruthenium supported on calcium hydroxyapatite catalyst. This arrangement may depend on the nature of cations such as their electronegativity, ionic radius etc. These factors influence the crystal structure of hydroxyapatite and thus lead to difference in the surface properties of the material.

According to our results, the possible mechanism to account for the reaction was proposed (**Scheme 2**). The reaction mechanism shows the tandem sequence of base-catalyzed reactions proposed to explain formation of the pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylate. In the first step, 2-arylidenemalononitrile (**3**) is formed by a fast Knoevenagel condensation of malononitrile (1) with arylaldehyde (2) catalyzed by the RuCa-HAp. The second step involves formation of 1H-pyrazol-3-carboxylate (**6**) by reaction of hydrazine hydrate (5) with ethyl acetoacetate (4). In the third step, a Michael addition of **3** to 7 in the presence of the mild basic catalyst produces the intermediate. Intramolecular cyclization and subsequently tautomerization afford the desired pyranopyrazolecarboxylate.



Scheme 2. Proposed Reaction Mechanism

Employing the above optimised reaction conditions the versatility of the protocol was evaluated for the synthesis of other pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylate derivatives using various aromatic aldehydes. The RuHAp heterogeneous catalyst facilitated the facile one-pot synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylate derivatives with good to excellent yields. All the reaction products with corresponding details are shown in Table 4. Interestingly, the substrates used and reaction yields obtained shows that the reaction using several electron-withdrawing and electron donating substrates in ortho-, meta- and para- positions of the aromatic ring have also contributed positively to obtain the desired pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole- -3-carboxylate derivatives (Table 4). Structures of all the products (**5a-k**) were established and confirmed on the basis of their spectral data, <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR, <sup>15</sup>N NMR (GHSQC), FTIR and HRMS. Some of the details of the product characterization are presented in the Electronic Supporting Information (ESI-II).

Entry	R	Product	Yield (%)	Mp °C	Lit Mp °C
1	2-OMe	5a	97	249-251	
2	4-OMe	5b	92	236-237	
3	4-Br	5c	88	246-247	247-248
4	2-Cl	5d	93	258-260	
5	2,3-(OMe) <sub>2</sub>	5e	90	224-225	
6	2,5-(OMe) <sub>2</sub>	5f	88	255-256	
7	3,4-(OMe) <sub>2</sub>	5g	95	241-243	
8	2,4,6-(OMe)	5h	91	238-240	
9	2-F	5i	90	251-252	
10	3-OH	5j	89	217-218	
11	4-Cl	5k	94	213-215	

**Table 4:** Synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylate derivatives catalyzed by Ru-CaHAp catalyst

-- New compounds/no literature available.

#### 6-Amino-5-cyano-4-(2-methoxyphenyl)-2,4-dihydropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylate

(5a): <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>):  $\delta$  3.58 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.69 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 5.01 (s, 1H, CH), 6.83 (d, *J* = 7.36 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.86 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 6.92 - 6.95 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.17 (t, *J* = 7.32 Hz, 1H, ArH), 13.57 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 31.83, 51.56, 55.59, 56.63, 104.11, 111.50, 120.24, 120.34, 127.92, 129.00, 132.32, 156.67, 158.51, 160.69; <sup>15</sup>N NMR (40.55 MHz, DMSO-d6)  $\delta$  6.86 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); FT-IR: 3386, 3321, 3202, 2196, 1715, 1652, 1467, 1247; HRMS of [C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>14</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O<sub>4</sub> – H] (m/z): 325.0929; Calcd: 325.0937.

**6-Amino-5-cyano-4-(4-methoxyphenyl)-2,4-dihydropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylate** (**5b**): <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>): δ 3.65 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.70 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.68 (s, 1H, CH), 6.83 (d, *J* = 8.52 Hz, 2H, ArH), 6.99 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.03 (t, *J* = 8.88 Hz, 2H, ArH), 13.69 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 36.19, 51.71, 54.92, 11.53, 128.34, 129.93, 137.03, 157.85, 160.02, 160.44; <sup>15</sup>N NMR (40.55 MHz, DMSO-d6): δ 6.99 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); FT-IR: 3461, 3331, 3164, 2201, 1722, 1632, 1486, 1390, 1228.

**6-Amino-5-cyano-4-(4-bromoxyphenyl)-2,4-dihydropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylate** (**5c**)<sup>:1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>): δ 3.64 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.75 (s, 1H, CH), 7.08 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.47 (d, *J* = 8.28 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.72 (d, *J* = 8.36 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.82 (d, *J* = 8.48 Hz, 1H, ArH), 13.77 (s, 1H, NH). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 32.23, 51.62, 55.44, 56.28, 103.35, 109.77, 115.35, 119.45, 122.00, 133.56, 151.11, 156.47, 160.74; <sup>15</sup>N NMR (40.55 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>): δ 7.08 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); FT-IR: 3293, 3155, 2196, 1739, 1637, 1449, 1397, 1227; HRMS of [C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>11</sub>BrN<sub>4</sub>O<sub>3</sub> – H] (m/z): 372.9942; Calcd: 372.9936.

#### 6-Amino-5-cyano-4-(2-chloroxyphenyl)-2,4-dihydropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylate

(**5d**): <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>): 3.57 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 5.26 (s, 1H, CH), 7.05 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.21 – 7.25 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.37 – 7.39 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.56 – 7.59 (m, 2H, ArH), 13.76 (s, 1H, NH). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 32.71, 51.62, 55.48, 56.86, 104.21, 114.45, 120.53, 121.24, 123.23, 128.45, 137.25, 146.39, 152.25, 155.82, 158.46, 160.52; <sup>15</sup>N NMR (40.55 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>): δ 7.05 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); FT-IR: 3422, 3291, 3177, 2199 1722, 1602, 1489, 1316, 1186; HRMS of  $[C_{15}H_{11}CIN_4O_3 - H]$  (m/z): 329.0434; Calcd: 329.0441.

## 6-Amino-5-cyano-4-(2,3-dimethoxyphenyl)-2,4-dihydropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-

**carboxylate** (5e): <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>):  $\delta$  3.55 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.61 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.77 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.91 (s, 1H, CH), 6.60 (d, *J* = 7.08 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.68 (d, *J* = 7.08 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.93 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 6.95 (d, *J* = 8 Hz, 1H, ArH), 13.58 (s, 1H, NH). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 32.71, 51.59, 55.48, 56.86, 59.70, 104.21, 114.45, 120.53, 121.24, 123.23, 128.45, 137.25, 146.39, 152.25, 158.46; <sup>15</sup>N NMR (40.55 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>):  $\delta$  6.93 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); FT-IR: 3426, 3289, 3154, 2186, 1732, 1606, 1479, 1396, 1266; HRMS of [C<sub>17</sub>H<sub>16</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O<sub>5</sub> – H] (m/z): 355.1042; Calcd: 355.1042.

## 6-Amino-5-cyano-4-(2,5-dimethoxyphenyl)-2,4-dihydropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-

**carboxylate** (**5f**): <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>):  $\delta$  3.64 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.76 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.83 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.95 (s, 1H, CH), 6.89 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.09 (d, *J* = 1.2 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.49 (s, 1H, ArH), 13.54 (s, 1H, NH). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 51.62, 55.44, 56.28, 56.46, 109.7, 111.81, 115.35, 119.45, 120.38, 122.00, 133.56, 151.04, 153.33, 158.49, 160.74; <sup>15</sup>N NMR (40.55 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>):  $\delta$  6.89 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); FT-IR: 3531, 3375, 3194, 2939, 2202, 1713, 1600, 1492, 1221.

## 6-Amino-5-cyano-4-(3,4-dimethoxyphenyl)-2,4-dihydropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-

**carboxylate** (**5g**): <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>):  $\delta$  3.62 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.69 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.72 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.54 (s, 1H, CH), 6.69 (d, *J* = 1.96 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.75 (d, *J* = 1.96 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.80 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 6.90 (d, *J* = 8.28 Hz, 1H, ArH), 13.58 (s, 1H, NH). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 35.79, 51.59, 55.41, 57.42, 59.70, 97.67, 111.19, 111.72, 119.46, 120.81, 135.63, 136.86, 147.53, 148.51, 154.68, 160.72; <sup>15</sup>N NMR (40.55 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>):  $\delta$  6.80 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); FT-IR: 3294, 3003, 2930, 2222, 1730, 1579, 1507, 1420, 1269.

## 6-Amino-5-cyano-4-(2,4,6-trimethoxyphenyl)-2,4-dihydropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-

**carboxylate (5h):** <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>):  $\delta$  3.59 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.73 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.81 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.83 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 5.27 (s, 1H, CH), 6.29 (s, 2H, ArH), 6.69 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 13.29 (s, 1H, NH). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 25.39, 51.50, 55.01, 55.42, 55.63, 91.07, 112.27, 154.35, 159.53, 160.57, 161.22; <sup>15</sup>N NMR (40.55 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>):  $\delta$  6.69 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); FT-IR: 3430, 3322, 3202, 2189, 1713, 1596, 1397, 1227; HRMS of [C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>18</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O<sub>6</sub> – H] (m/z): 385.1161; Calcd: 385.1148.

**6-Amino-5-cyano-4-(2-fluorophenyl)-2,4-dihydropyrano**[**2,3-c**]**pyrazole-3-carboxylate** (**5i**): <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>): δ 3.61 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 5.01 (s, 1H, CH), 7.06 (s, 2H, NH2), 7.10 – 7.12 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.24 (t, J = 1.96 Hz, 1H, ArH), 13.76 (s, 1H, NH). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 31.13, 51.58, 56.08, 102.95, 124.32, 128.75, 129.99, 158.28; <sup>15</sup>N NMR (40.55 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>): δ 7.06 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); FT-IR: 3321, 3379, 3201, 2202, 1720, 1655, 1442, 1224; HRMS of [C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>11</sub>FN<sub>4</sub>O<sub>3</sub> – H] (m/z): 313.0734; Calcd: 313.0737.

**6-Amino-5-cyano-4-(3-hydroxyphenyl)-2,4-dihydropyrano**[**2,3-c**]**pyrazole-3-carboxylate** (**5j**): <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>): 3.61 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.63 (s, 1H, CH), 6.53 (s, 1H, ArH), 6.59 – 6.62 (m, 2H, ArH), 6.83 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.10 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 1H, ArH), 9.31 (s,1H, OH), 13.24 (s, 1H, NH). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 36.14, 57.26, 97.66, 113.80, 114.10, 118.15, 120.77, 129.23, 135.53, 145.93, 154.39, 157.39, 160.80; <sup>15</sup>N NMR (40.55 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>): δ 6.83 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); FT-IR: 3422, 3178, 2188, 1712, 1633, 1490, 1397, 1207; HRMS of [C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>12</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O<sub>4</sub> – H] (m/z): 311.0984; Calcd: 311.0988.

**6-Amino-5-cyano-4-(4-chloroxyphenyl)-2,4-dihydropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylate** (**5k**): <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>): 3.66 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.78 (s, 1H, CH), 7.06 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.15 (d, *J* = 5.68 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.34 (d, *J* = 5.52 Hz, 2H, ArH), 13.78 (s, 1H, NH). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>): 36.89, 52.23, 57.88, 104.11, 120.57, 128.69, 129.77, 144.32, 155.78, 158.78, 160.67; <sup>15</sup>N NMR (40.55 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>): δ 7.06 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>); FT-IR: 3433, 3161, 2197, 1741, 1635, 1482, 1386, 1228.

## 6.3.1. Powder X-ray diffraction

**Figure 1** displays powder X-ray diffraction patterns of calcined Ru loaded CaHAp. The catalyst diffraction peak values 20 of 25.78°, 31.91°, 32.74°, 33.97°, 39.82°, 46.66°, 49.34° and 53.12°, were assigned to CaHAp. All these diffraction peaks agree with the international standards files (JCPDS file no. 09-0432). Ru supported on CaHAp sample showed diffraction

peaks at a 2 $\theta$  angles of 28.21°, 35.11°, 54.34° and 69.70° corresponding to the RuO<sub>2</sub> (JCPDS # 40-1290). The peaks identified in the diffractogram shows the polycrystalline nature of the materials. The average crystallite size of this sample was obtained to be 6.8 nm using the Scherrer equation based on the highest intensity diffraction peaks of Ru-CaHAp.



Figure 1. XRD spectrum of Ru-CaHAp catalyst

#### 6.3.2. SEM analysis

**Figure 2** shows an illustrative SEM surface morphology micrograph of the sample Ru on CaHAp catalyst. The morphologies of the synthesized Ru-CaHAp seem to be similar with considerable agglomeration of Hap particles. The catalyst material exhibited irregular spherical shapes and agglomeration with inter-granular micropores, as shown in image **Figure 2**. This micrograph reveals the aggregation state of the HAp particles and its uniform distribution. The micrographs of SEM–EDX confirmed the uniform distribution of ruthenium on the hydroxyapatite surface. The SEM-EDX agrees with the data from ICP elemental analysis. Furthermore, the morphology of the catalyst as per the SEM images noticeably point to the crystallinity and homogeneity of the sample.

#### 6.3.3. TEM analysis

The TEM micrograph confirms more structural information of the catalyst. **Figure 3** shows a distinctive TEM image of Ru supported on HAp, from which it can be seen that the Ru particles revealed square-like shapes and particle dimension ranging between 20 and 50 nm and hydroxyapatite appearing as rod-like particles. No drastic change was noticed in the morphology of the used catalyst.



Figure 2. SEM micrograph of Ru-CaHAp catalyst



Figure 3. TEM micrograph of Ru-CaHAp catalyst

#### 6.3.4. BET surface area (BET) and elemental (ICP) analysis

The N<sub>2</sub> adsorption–desorption isotherms of the prepared Ru loaded CaHAp material are shown in **Figure 4**. The figure shows the nitrogen adsorption isotherms and pore size distribution of RuCaHAp catalyst. As per the IUPAC classification, the sample displays type-VI isotherms and a typical H1-hysteresis loop, representing 1 the mesoporous nature of the materials. The BJH pore size distribution designates a mesoporous (pore of 3–50 nm) texture for the sample, and the isotherms p/p<sub>0</sub> range was 0.82-0.95. The Brunauer–Emmett–Teller (BET) surface area was determined at 46 m<sup>2</sup> g<sup>-1</sup> with a pore volume of 0.218 cc g<sup>-1</sup>. As anticipated, the ICP analysis results showed the presence of a nominal amount of Ru in the catalyst (0.98 mol %).



Figure 4. N<sub>2</sub> adsorption & desorption spectra of Ru-CaHAp catalysts

#### **6.3.5.** Reusability of the catalyst

The reusability of any heterogeneous catalyst is a significant factor to consider for potential commercial adaptation. After each reaction the catalyst was filtered and the recovered catalyst was washed with hot ethanol (2 x 10 mL) and was dried at 100 °C under reduced pressure for 2-3 h. The recycled catalyst was used for the subsequent runs repeating the same procedure. The reusability of the catalyst was evaluated in the synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylate derivatives (**Figure 5**). The recovered catalyst was employed in five consecutive runs, and the decrease in activity was marginal.



Figure 5. Recyclability of Ru-CaHAp catalyst

## **3.4.** Conclusion

We designed and utilized an extremely capable and green protocol using a recyclable Ru on CaHAp catalyst for the synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylate derivatives in an unprecedented multicomponent reaction. The reaction proceeded at room temperature and required short reaction times (< 30 min) in excellent yields. The catalyst material used for this process is cost effective, and easy to prepare and handle and separate with marginal decrease in activity during replicate runs.

### 6.5. References:

- [1] V. Polshettiwar, R. S. Varma, Chem. Soc. Rev. 37 (2008) 1546–1557.
- [2] M. S. Singh, S. Chowdhury, RSC Adv. 2 (2012) 4547–4592.
- [3] N. Isambert, M. D. Mar, S. Duque, J. C. Plaquevent, Y. Genisson, J. Rodriguez, T. Constantieux, Chem. Soc. Rev. 40 (2011) 1347–1357.
- [4] J. D. Sunderhaus, S. F. Martin, Chem. Eur. J. 15 (2009) 1300–1308.
- [5] S. Maddila, S. Rana, R. Pagadala, S. Kankala, S. N. Maddila, S. B. Jonnalagadda, Catal. Commun. 61 (2015) 26–30.
- [6] S. N. Maddila, S. Maddila, W. E. Van Zyl, S. B. Jonnalagadda, RSC Adv. 5(2015) 37360–37366.
- [7] A. Corma, H. Garcia, F. X. Llabres, I. Xamena, Chem. Rev. 110 (2010) 4606–4655.
- [8] R. A. Sheldon, Green Chem. 7 (2005) 267–278.
- [9] R. A. Sheldon, Chem. Soc. Rev. 41 (2012) 1437–1451.
- [10] M. K. Pillai, S. Singh, S. B. Jonnalagadda, Kinet & Catal. 52 (2011) 536–539.
- [11] S. Koutsopoulos, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 62 (2002) 600–612.
- [12] C. C. Ribeiro, I. Gibsond, M. A. Barbosa, Biomater. 27 (2006) 1749–1761.
- [13] H. M. Baker, A. M. Massadeh, H. A. Younes, Environ. Mon.. Assess. 157 (2009) 319– 330.
- [14] L. Dong, Z. Zhu, Y. Qiu, J. Zhao, Chem. Eng. J. 165 (2010) 827–834.
- [15] M. Y. Vilensky, B. Berkowitz, A. Warshawsky, Environ. Sci. Technol. 36 (2002) 1851– 1855.
- [16] J. Arensds, J. Chistoffersen, M. R. Chistoffersen, H. Eckert, J. Cryst. Growth. 84 (1987) 515–532.
- [17] M. P. Reddy, A. Venugopal, M. Subrahmanyam, Water Res. 41 (2007) 379–386.
- [18] A. Smahi, A. Solhy, H. El Badaoui, A. Amoukal, A. Tikad, M. Maizi, S. Sebti, Appl. Catal. A. 250 (2003) 151–159.
- [19] Y. Piaoping, Q. Zewei, L Chunxia, K. Xiaojiao, L. Hongzhou, L Jun, Biomat. 29 (1998) 4341–4347.
- [20] S. Maddila, R. Pagadala, S. B. Jonnalagadda, Lett. Org. Chem. 10 (2013) 693–714.
- [21] M. Li, B. X. Zhao, Med. Chem. 85 (2014) 311–340.
- [22] S. R. Mandha, S. Siliveri, M. Alla, V. R. Bommena, M. R. Bommineni, S. Balasubramanian, Biorg. & Med. Chem. Lett. 22 (2012) 5272–5278.
- [23] S. Bhavanarushi, V. Kanakaiah, E. Yakaiah, V. Saddanapu, A. Addlagatta, J. V. Rani, Med. Chem Res. 22 (2013) 2446–2454.
- [24] M. E. A. Zaki, H. A. Soliman, O. A. Hiekal, A. E. Rashad, Z. Naturforsch. 61 (2014), 1–5.
- [25] B. Y. Riad, A. O. Abdelhamid, F. A. Khalifa, Y.E. Saleh, Arch. Pharm. Res. 12 (1989) 201–206.
- [26] A. H. Shamroukh, M. E. A. Zaki, E. M. H. Morsy, F. M. Abdel-Motti, F. M. E. Abdel-Megeid, Arch. Der Pharm. 340 (2007) 236–243
- [27] S.S. Chobe, G.G. Mandawad, O.S. Yemul, B.S. Dawane, Int. J. Chem. Tech. Res. 2(2011) 938–943.
- [28] J. L. Wang, D. Liu, Z. J. Zhang, S. Shan, X. Han, S. M. Srinivasula, C. Croce, M. Alnemri, E. S. Huang, Z. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 97 (2000) 7124–7218.
- [29] K. L. Kees, J. J. Fitzgerald Jr, K. E. Steine, J. F. Mattes, B. Mihan, T. Tosi, D. Mondoro, M.L. McCaleb, J. Med. Chem. 39 (1996) 3920–3928.
- [30] A. M. Zonouz, I. Eskandari, H. R. Khavasi, Tet. Lett. 53 (2012) 5519–5522.
- [31] V. L. Gein, T. M. Zamaraeva, P. A. Slepukhin, Tet. Lett. 55 (2014) 4525–4528.
- [32] S. Paul, K. Pradhan, S. Ghosh, S.K. De, A. R. Das, Tetrahedron 70 (2014) 6088–6099.
- [33] S. Maddila, S. B. Jonnalagadda, Lett. Drug Des. & Discov. 9 (2012) 687–693.
- [34] S. Maddila, S. B. Jonnagadda, Pharm. Chem. J. 46 (2013) 1–6.
- [35] S. Maddila, S. Gorle, N Seshadri, P. Lavanya, S. B. Jonnalagadda, Arab. J. Chem. 2013 (doi.org/10.1016/j.arabjc.2013.04.003).
- [36] S. Maddila, P. Ramakanth, S. B. Jonnalagadda, J. Heterocyclic Chem. 52 (2015) 487–499.

- [37] S. Maddila, S. Gorle, S. Moganavelli, L. Palakondu, S. B. Jonnalagadda, Lett. Drug Des.
   & Discov. 10 (2013) 977–983.
- [38] S. Maddila, A. S. Kumar, S. Gorle, S. Moganavelli, L. Palakondu, S. B. Jonnalagadda, Lett. Drug Des. & Discov. 10 (2013) 186–193.
- [39] S. Maddila, S. B. Jonnalagadda, Lett. Org. Chem. 10 (2013) 374–379.
- [40] S. N. Maddila, S. Maddila, W. E. Van Zyl, S. B. Jonnalagadda, Res. Chem. Inter. (DOI 10.1007/s11164-014-1890-4).
- [41] S. Rana, S. Maddila, K. Yalagala, S.N. Maddila, S. B. Jonnalagadda. ChemistryOpen (Accepted - In Press) 2015.
- [42] R. Pagadala, S. Maddila, R. Surjyakanta, S. B. Jonnalagadda. Curr. Org. Synth. 12 (2015) 163–167.
- [43] R. Pagadala, S. Maddila, S. Rana, S. B. Jonnalagadda, RSC Adv. 4 (2014) 6602–6607.
- [44]. T. Ishikawa, H. Saito, K. Kandori, J. Chem. Soc. Faraday Trans. 88 (1992) 2937–2942.

# 6.6. Supplementary material data

#### 6.6.1. Catalyst characterization

Micromeritics Tristar-II porosity and surface area analyzer was used to determine the values of surface area, pore size and pore volume of the catalyst material. The catalyst sample was degassed overnight using N2 flow at 200 °C. The BJH adsorption-desorption curves were generated at -196 °C and were used to assess the catalyst's particulate properties. Employing a Bruker D8 Advance instrument (Cu K radiation source with a wave length of 1.5406 Å), the X-ray diffraction data related the structural phases of the catalyst were acquired. Using a Jeol JEM-1010 electron microscope and JEOL JSM-6100 microscope, the TEM and SEM analysis data was recorded. iTEM software was used analyze the TEM data and images. Employing the X-ray analyzer (energy-dispersive), EDX-analysis on the SEM images was conducted. To confirm the elemental composition catalyst materials Inductively Coupled Plasma Optical Emission Spectrometer (ICP-OES) (Optima 5300 DV) was used.

#### 6.6.2. Materials, methods and instruments

All chemicals and reagents required for the reaction were of analytical grade and were used without any further purification. Bruker AMX 400 MHz NMR spectrometer was used to record the <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR and <sup>15</sup>N NMR spectral values. High-resolution mass data were obtained using a Bruker micro TOF-Q II ESI instrument operating at ambient temperature. The DMSO–d<sub>6</sub> solution was utilized for this while TMS served as the internal standard. TMS was further used as an internal standard for reporting the all chemical shifts in  $\delta$  (ppm). The FT-IR spectrum for the samples was established using a Perkin Elmer Perkin Elmer Precisely 100 FT-IR spectrometer at the 400-4000 cm<sup>-1</sup> area. Purity of all the reaction products was confirmed by TLC using aluminum plates coated with silica gel (Merck Kieselgel 60 F254).



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectr<u>a</u> of compound **5a** 



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **5a** 









<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **5b** 



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **5b** 



<sup>15</sup>N NMR spectra of compound **5b** 



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **5**c



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **5**c



 $^{15}N$  NMR spectra of compound  $\mathbf{5c}$ 



HRMS spectra of compound 5c



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **5d** 



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **5d** 







HRMS spectra of compound 5d



 $^1\text{H}$  NMR spectra of compound 5e



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **5e** 



<sup>15</sup>N NMR spectra of compound **5e** 



HRMS spectra of compound 5e



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **5**f



 $^{13}\text{C}$  NMR spectra of compound **5f** 



<sup>15</sup>N NMR spectra of compound **5**f



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **5g** 



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **5g** 



<sup>15</sup>N NMR spectra of compound **5**g



 $^1\mathrm{H}$  NMR spectra of compound  $\mathbf{5h}$ 



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **5h** 



 $^{15}N$  NMR spectra of compound  $\mathbf{5h}$ 



HRMS spectra of compound 5h



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **5**i



<sup>15</sup>N NMR spectra of compound **5**i



HRMS spectra of compound 5i





<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **5**j



<sup>15</sup>N NMR spectra of compound **5**j



HRMS spectra of compound 5j



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **5**k

# **CHAPTER-7**

# CeO<sub>2</sub>/ZrO<sub>2</sub> as Green catalyst for the one-pot synthesis of novel pyrano[2,3-c]-pyrazoles

Suryanarayana Maddila, Suresh Maddila, Werner E. van Zyl and Sreekantha B Jonnalagadda School of Chemistry and Physics, University of Kwa-Zulu Natal, Westville Campus, Private Bag X 54001, Durban, 4000, South Africa.

 

 Res Chem Intermed DOI 10.1007/s11164-017-2878-7
 Image: CrossMark

 CeO2/ZrO2 as green catalyst for one-pot synthesis of new pyrano[2,3-c]-pyrazoles
 Image: CrossMark

 Surya Narayana Maddila<sup>1</sup> · Suresh Maddila<sup>1</sup> · Werner E. van Zyl<sup>1</sup> · Sreekantha B. Jonnalagadda<sup>1</sup>
 Image: CrossMark

 Received: 21 September 2016/Accepted: 19 January 2017
 Image: Springer Science+Business Media Dordrecht 2017

# CeO<sub>2</sub>/ZrO<sub>2</sub> as Green catalyst for the one-pot synthesis of novel pyrano[2,3-c]-pyrazoles

Suryanarayana Maddila, Suresh Maddila, Werner E. van Zyl and Sreekantha B Jonnalagadda\* \*School of Chemistry & Physics, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Westville Campus, Chiltern Hills, Durban-4000, South Africa.

\*Corresponding Author: Prof. Sreekantha B. Jonnalagadda School of Chemistry & Physics, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Durban 4000, South Africa. Tel.: +27 31 2607325, Fax: +27 31 2603091 E-mail: jonnalagaddas@ukzn.ac.za

## Abstract

The ceria doped zirconia (CeO<sub>2</sub>/ZrO<sub>2</sub>) catalysed synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]-pyrazoles via the four-component reaction of malononitrile, hydrazine hydrate, ethyl acetoacetate and substituted aldehydes is described. The catalytic material, CeO<sub>2</sub>/ZrO<sub>2</sub> was prepared and characterized by different techniques including P-XRD, SEM, TEM and BET analysis. Twelve novel pyrano[2,3-c]-pyrazole derivatives (5a-l) were synthesized giving good to excellent yields (89 to 98%) and their structures were established and confirmed by different spectroscopic methods (<sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR, <sup>15</sup>N NMR and HRMS). The environmental benefits of the process includes excellent yield, short reaction time, simple work-up, elimination of toxic solvents and avoidance of chromatographic separations. The CeO<sub>2</sub>/ZrO<sub>2</sub> catalyst follows a facile synthesis procedure, is inexpensive and has good reusability (at least 6 times).

Keywords: Multicomponent reaction; Green Synthesis; Pyrazoles; One-pot reaction; CeO2

## 7.1. Introduction

Multicomponent Reactions (MCRs) are assimilation reactions, in which three or more starting materials react with each other simultaneously to form wanted product [1]. This approach is identified as a potent method in drug discovery due to the generation of essential target compounds [1-3]. MCR approaches have numerous significant benefits over the classic stepwise procedures, leading to the formation of several bonds in a single step without the need for intermediate separations and purifications [4]. Thus, MCRs accomplish their goals in an efficient, fast and environmentally benign manner with substantial savings in time and costs [2,3].

The development of heterogeneous catalysts for heterocyclic compounds synthesis has grown into a key issue for researchers [5]. Heterogeneous materials as catalyst in green organic reactions contribute to both environmental and fiscal benefits. Many such materials are easy to recover and recycle, which make their use appealing [6-8]. These recyclable catalysts have numerous benefits such being amenable to separation from the reaction without any heavy workups, but also offer long life, stability, recyclability and high selectivity. This circumvents waste production, whilst giving high yield products in short reaction times through a green procedures [9].

Zirconia (ZrO<sub>2</sub>) is an eco-friendly and widely available plus low-cost material [6]. It stands out amongst other metal oxides due to its excellent stability and mechanical properties, which can promote the activity of the supported metal catalysts [9,10]. It has been commonly used for its substantial chemical and thermal stability, inertness, and high surface area [9-11]. The use of pure zirconia and its composites (with other metals) as catalysts for various organic transformations has been reported in the literature [12,13]. Cerium salts are generally used as dopants and advantages include ease of handling, low-cost, high stability and non-hazardous properties [14]. Cerium salts as dopant material are thus an appropriate choice for green organic conversions and has played a major role in green catalysis.

Heterocyclics play a vital role in drug discovery, pharmaceutical, agrochemical and computational fields. Heterocyclic compounds are the main precursors in various clinical applications and play a pivotal role in generating diverse biological activities [15,16].

Pyranopyrazoles and their derivatives are important heterocyclic compounds exhibiting remarkable biological properties acting as antibacterial, antifungal, antiviral, antitumor, anti-HIV, anti-convulsant, anti-inflammatory and antioxidants [17-23]. Many pyranopyrazoles are also used as herbicidal and insecticidal agents [24]. Literature reports on the synthesis protocols using catalysts for substituted pyranopyrazole derivatives include [ChCl][ZnCl<sub>2</sub>]<sub>2</sub> [25], Amberlyst A<sub>2</sub>1 [26], Per-6-ABCD [27], [(CH<sub>2</sub>)<sub>4</sub>SO<sub>3</sub>HMIM][HSO<sub>4</sub>] [28], [DBU][Ac] [29], silicotungstic acid [30], NaOH/microwave [30], [Dsim]AlCl<sub>4</sub> [31], L-Proline [32], TEABr [33] and FeNi<sub>3</sub>/SiO<sub>2</sub>/HPGMNP [34], to mention a few. Many of these reports have some limitations and weaknesses, such as use of severe reaction conditions, hazardous organic solvents, costly reagents and catalysts, non-reusability, long reaction times and low product yields, which confine their scope in practical applications. Hence, the development of green protocols for heterocyclic synthesis involving facile and environment-friendly methods (using green solvents in reaction and/or in workup method) would be worthy and well desired.

In our pursuit for developing efficient, environmentally benign and green approaches for synthesis of different heterocyclic compounds [35-37], we have recently reported varied synthetic methods for several biologically interesting products [38-42]. Here, we report a novel approach using highly efficient  $CeO_2/ZrO_2$  as reusable catalyst for synthesis of a series of novel pyranopyrazole derivatives by the reaction of aromatic aldehydes, malononitrile, hydrazine hydrate and ethyl acetoacetate at room temperature with ethanol as solvent.

#### 7.2. Experimental section

#### 7.2.1. Catalyst preparation

A range of supported catalysts with weight percentages Ce/ZrO<sub>2</sub> (1, 5, & 10 wt%), were synthesized using the wet-impregnation procedure [4,6]. The heterogeneous catalyst was prepared from a mixture of zirconia (ZrO<sub>2</sub>, 3 g, catalyst support, Alfa Aesar) and an appropriate amount (wt%) of cerium nitrate [Ce(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub>·6H<sub>2</sub>O (Alfa Aesar)] in distilled water (50 mL). The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature (R.T) for 10 h. The resulting slurry was filtered under vacuum and dried in an oven at 110–120 °C for 5 h and calcined in the presence of air, at 450 °C for 5 h to form (1, 5 & 10 wt%) of Ce/ZrO<sub>2</sub> catalysts.

#### 7.2.2. General procedure for the synthesis of pyranopyrazole derivatives

In a typical reaction, to equimolar ratios of aldehydes (1 mmol), malononitrile (1 mmol), hydrazine hydrate (1 mmol) and ethyl acetoacetate (1 mmol) were dissolved in ethanol (10 ml) at

R.T followed by addition of CeO<sub>2</sub>/ZrO<sub>2</sub> (50 mg) as catalyst. The reaction mixture was stirred continuously for 15 min at R.T, (Scheme 1) using a magnetic stirrer. The progress of the reaction was monitored by TLC. The reaction mixture was then filtered, and the filtrate was subsequently extracted with ethyl acetate and evaporated under reduced pressure to obtain the crude product. The crude product was then purified with ethanol to afford pure products (**5a-k**). The reaction products were identified and validated by various spectral techniques (<sup>1</sup>H-NMR, <sup>15</sup>N NMR, <sup>13</sup>C-NMR and HRMS). All the spectral instrumentation details are incorporated in the supplementary information (SI-II). Details of some of the compounds were included in the supplementary information (SI-II).

**6-Amino-4-(2,4,6-trimethoxyphenyl)-3-methyl-2,4-dihydropyrano**[**2,3-c**]**pyrazole-5-carbonitrile (5a):** <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>) δ = 1.79 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.73 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.81 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.83 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 5.12 (s, 1H, CH), 6.259 (s, 2H, ArH), 6.69 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 12.29 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl3): 9.66, 25.39, 51.50, 55.01, 55.42, 55.63, 91.07, 112.27, 154.35, 159.53, 160.57, 161.22; HRMS of [C<sub>17</sub>H<sub>18</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O<sub>3</sub> + H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 343.1141; Calcd.: 343.1141.

**6-Amino-4-(2-chlorophenyl)-3-methyl-2,4-dihydropyrano**[**2,3-c**]**pyrazole-5-carbonitrile** (**5b**): <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>) δ = 1.76 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 5.06 (s, 1H, CH), 6.91 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.05 (t, J = 8 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.25 – 7.31 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.41 (dd, J = 7.8 Hz, 1.08 Hz, 1H, ArH) 12.11 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>): 161.12, 154.95, 152.15, 146.19, 137.29, 135.09, 123.98, 120.97, 120.72, 111.06, 97.75, 60.22, 56.66, 55.48, 30.32, 9.42; HRMS of [C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>11</sub>ClN<sub>4</sub>O<sub>3</sub> + H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 287.1340; Calcd.: 287.1344.

**6-Amino-4-(2-fluorophenyl)-3-methyl-2,4-dihydropyrano**[**2,3-c**]**pyrazole-5-carbonitrile** (**5c**): <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>) δ = 1.79 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 4.86 (s, 1H, CH), 6.90 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 6.90 – 7.29 (m, 4H, ArH), 12.10 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>): 9.35, 30.02, 55.53, 96.59, 115.37, 120.53, 124.69, 128.87, 129.76, 130.76, 135.72, 154.87, 158.69, 161.28; HRMS of [C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>11</sub>FN<sub>4</sub>O<sub>3</sub> + H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 271.0623; Calcd.: 271.0626.

6-Amino-4-(4-hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl)-3-methyl-2,4-dihydropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-5carbonitrile (5d): <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  = 1.81 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.70 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.49 (s, 1H, CH), 6.55 (dd, *J* = 8.12 Hz, 1.84 Hz, 1H, ArH), , 6.71 (t, *J* = 108.8 Hz, 2H, ArH), 6.76 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 8.82 (s, 1H, OH), 12.03 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>): 9.79, 35.79, 55.41, 57.42, 97.67, 111.19, 111.72, 119.46, 120.81, 135.63, 136.86, 147.53, 148.51, 154.68, 160.72; HRMS of  $[C_{15}H_{14}N_4O_3 + H]^+$  (m/z): 299.0786; Calcd.: 299.0800.

6-Amino-4-(3-hydroxy-4-methoxyphenyl)-3-methyl-2,4-dihydropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-5carbonitrile (5e): <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>) δ = 1.80 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.72 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.42 (s, 1H, CH), 6.52 (s, 1H, ArH), 6.58 – 6.60 (m, 1H ArH), 6.76 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 6.82 (d, J = 8.2Hz, 1H, ArH), 8.88 (s, 1H, OH), 12.04 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>): 9.70, 35.63, 57.70, 97.70, 111.80, 114.45, 118.05, 120.80, 135.54, 137.08, 146.45, 154.71, 160.60; HRMS of  $[C_{15}H_{14}N_4O_3 + H]^+$  (m/z): 299.0732; Calcd.: 299.0732.

6-Amino-4-(4-ethylphenyl)-3-methyl-2,4-dihydropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-5-carbonitrile (5f): <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>) δ = 1.16 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 1.78 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.58 (dd, *J* = 15.24 Hz, 7.56 Hz, 2H, CH<sub>2</sub>), 4.54 (s, 1H, CH), 6.59 (dd, *J* = 7.52 Hz, 1.28 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.80 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 6.89 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.99 (t, *J* = 7.96 Hz, 1H, ArH), 11.99 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>): 9.73, 15.39, 27.68, 35.81, 57.33, 97.72, 120.82, 127.05, 127.31, 127.73, 128.31, 128.38, 135.50, 141.72, 141.96, 154.72, 160.78; HRMS of [C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>16</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O + H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 281.1040; Calcd.: 281.1039.

6-Amino-4-(4-fluorophenyl)-3-methyl-2,4-dihydropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-5-carbonitrile

(5g): <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  = 1.78 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 4.62 (s, 1H, CH), 6.86 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.13 – 7.19 (m, 4H, ArH), 12.10 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>): 9.67, 35.41, 57.10, 97.46, 115.01, 115.22, 129.25, 129.33, 135.59, 160.79; HRMS of [C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>11</sub>FN<sub>4</sub>O + H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 271.0835; Calcd.: 271.0839.

6-Amino-4-(4-hydroxyphenyl)-3-methyl-2,4-dihydropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-5-carbonitrile (5h): <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  = 1.78 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 4.46 (s, 1H, CH), 6.68 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H, ArH), 6.74 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 6.94 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H, ArH), 9.26 (s, 1H, OH), 12.02 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>): 9.70, 35.45, 57.81, 98.03, 115.07, 120.84, 128.38, 134.72, 135.49, 154.72, 155.97, 160.59; HRMS of [C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>12</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O<sub>2</sub> + H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 269.0835; Calcd.: 269.0839.

**6-Amino-4-(4-(dimethylamino)phenyl)-3-methyl-2,4-dihydropyrano**[**2,3-c**]**pyrazole-5-carbonitrile (5i):** <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>) δ = 1.78 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.85 (s, 6H, N(CH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>), 4.45 (s, 1H, CH), 6.65 (d, *J* = 8.56 Hz, 2H, ArH), 6.73 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 6.96 (d, *J* = 8.56 Hz, 2H, ArH), 12.02 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>): 9.74, 35.34, 57.98, 98.15, 112.28, 120.92, 127.98, 129.45, 132.01, 135.44, 149.19, 154.76, 160.52.

#### 6-Amino-4-(2,3-dimethoxyphenyl)-3-methyl-2,4-dihydropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-5-

**carbonitrile (5j):** <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 1.76$  (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.64 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.79 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.82 (s, 1H, CH), 6.59 (dd, J = 7.52 Hz, 1.28 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.80 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 6.89 (d, J = 6.8 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.99 (t, J = 7.96 Hz, 1H, ArH), 11.99 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>): 9.42, 30.32, 55.48, 56.66, 60.22, 97.75, 111.06, 120.97, 123.98, 135.09, 137.29, 146.19, 152.15, 154.95, 161.12.

### 6-Amino-4-(3,4-dimethoxyphenyl)-3-methyl-2,4-dihydropyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-5-

**carbonitrile** (**5k**): <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta = 1.82$  (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 3.69 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.72 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 4.54 (s, 1H, CH), 6.69 (dd, J = 7.52 Hz, 1.96 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.75 (d, J = 1.96 Hz, 1H, ArH), 6.80 (s, 1H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 6.88 (d, J = 8.28 Hz, 1H, ArH ), 12.07 (s, 1H, NH). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>): 9.79, 35.79, 55.41, 57.42, 97.67, 111.19, 111.72, 119.46, 120.81, 135.86, 147.53, 148.51, 154.68, 160.72; HRMS of  $[C_{16}H_{16}N_4O_3 + H]^+$  (m/z): 313.0952; Calcd.: 313.0957.

**6-Amino-3-methyl-4-phenyl-2,4-dihydropyrano**[**2,3-c**]**pyrazole-5-carbonitrile** (**5**]): <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  = 1.77 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>), 4.58 (s, 1H, CH), 6.84 (s, 2H, NH<sub>2</sub>), 7.15 – 7.23 (m, 5H, ArH), 12.09 (s, 1H, NH); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>): 9.69, 36.22, 57.22, 97.61, 126.69, 127.42, 127.65, 128.39, 135.57, 144.40, 154.73, 160.84; HRMS of [C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>14</sub>N<sub>4</sub>O + H]<sup>+</sup> (m/z): 253.0953; Calcd.: 299.0953.

## 7.3. Results and discussion

#### 7.3.1. BET surface area (BET) and elemental (ICP) analysis

The porosity of the synthesized catalyst was determined by N<sub>2</sub> adsorption and desorption analysis. The N<sub>2</sub> physisorption isotherms were determined for the 5% ceria supported on zirconia catalyst. The N<sub>2</sub> adsorption-desorption isotherms showed a characteristic hysteresis loop of a type-IV adsorption isotherm representing the mesoporous nature of the catalysts (**Figure 1**). The mesoporous structure was confirmed by the pore size values, which exhibited values located in the mesoporous region for the samples (3 nm < pore size < 50 nm) and the isotherms p/p<sup>o</sup> range is 0.76-0.94. The prepared catalyst showed a surface area of 56 m<sup>2</sup> g<sup>-1</sup> with a pore volume of 0.212 cc g<sup>-1</sup>. The ICP analysis results showed the presence of a anticipated amount of Ce in the catalyst (4.96 mol %).

#### 7.3.2. TEM analysis

The TEM micrograph provides more structural information of the catalyst. Figure 2 shows a distinctive TEM image of  $CeO_2$  supported on  $ZrO_2$ , from which it can be seen that the ceria particles were revealed as black irregular cube like shapes and particle dimension ranged between 20 and 28 nm and zirconia shown as white globular shape particles. No drastic change was noticed in the morphology of the used catalyst.



Figure 1: BET surface area of 5% CeO2/ZrO2 catalyst



Figure 2: TEM micrograph of 5% CeO2/ZrO2 catalyst

#### 7.3.3. SEM analysis

**Figure 3a** exhibits a representative SEM surface morphology micrograph of the sample  $CeO_2$  on  $ZrO_2$ . A few large cubic sheet asymmetrical silhouettes were observed from the SEM image of  $CeO_2/ZrO_2$ . It reveals that the aggregation state of the zirconia particles with ceria. The

micrographs of SEM–EDX confirmed the uniform distribution of ceria on the zirconia surface (**Figure 3b**). The SEM-EDX agreed well with the data from ICP elemental analysis. Furthermore, the morphology of the catalyst as per the SEM images noticeably point to the crystallinity and homogeneity of the sample.



Figure 3(a): SEM micrograph of 5% CeO<sub>2</sub>/ZrO<sub>2</sub> catalyst



Figure 3(b): SEM-EDX micrograph of 5% CeO<sub>2</sub>/ZrO<sub>2</sub> catalyst

#### 7.3.4. Powder X-ray diffractogram (XRD) analysis

The powdered XRD arrangements of calcined ceria doped zirconia are shown in **Figure. 4**. The diffraction peak values 20 of 28.7°, 33.2°, 47.5°, 56.3°, 59.3°, 69.8°, 76.6° and 79.4° were assigned to ceria. All these diffraction peaks agreed with the International Centre for Diffraction Data (JCPDS file No. 43-1002). 5% CeO<sub>2</sub> loaded on ZrO<sub>2</sub> sample exhibited diffraction peaks at a

20 angles of 24.7°, 28.8°, 31.8°, 34.6°, 41.4°, 50.9° and 60.5° corresponding to the  $ZrO_2$  (JCPDS file No. 01-089-9066). The peaks identified in the diffractogram confirm the polycrystalline nature of the materials. The average crystallite size of the sample was about 6.9 nm, based on the highest intensity diffraction peaks of CeO<sub>2</sub>/ZrO<sub>2</sub> by using the Scherrer equation.



#### 7.3.5. Optimization procedure

The model reaction containing benzaldehyde (1 mmol), malononitrile (1 mmol), hydrazine hydrate (1.2 mmol) and ethyl acetoacetate (1 mmol) as reactants was investigated in detail as function of varied conditions, i.e. in the absence and presence of different catalysts and using varied solvents and temperature conditions. First, the reaction was studied without a catalyst or solvent at both R.T and reflux conditions and there was no reaction, even after 10 h (Table 1, entry 1 and 2). When the reaction was carried out with the various basic catalysts such as TEA, Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, pyridine and Na<sub>2</sub>S and with ethanol as solvent, yield of product was low, even after 6 h (Table 1, entry 3-6). Next, the reaction was tried in the presence of ionic liquids, L-proline or (Bmim)BF<sub>4</sub> and the product yield was moderate at R.T conditions (Table 1, entry 7 and 8). Further, when pure oxide catalysts, such as Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, SiO<sub>2</sub> and ZrO<sub>2</sub> were employed using the same solvent and RT., the reaction revealed moderate to good yields after 1.5-3.0 h reaction time (Table 1, entries 9-11). After noticing encouraging result with ZrO<sub>2</sub>, to enhance the reaction efficiency it was used as support to dope with different metal oxides. As such, Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>/ZrO<sub>2</sub>, V/ZrO<sub>2</sub>, and Ce/ZrO<sub>2</sub> composites were prepared and screened for activity. The mixed oxide catalytic reactions afforded very good to excellent yields (84-98%) within 45 min in ethanol and

at R.T (Table 1, entry 12-14). In particular,  $CeO_2$  doped  $ZrO_2$  as catalyst, recorded an excellent yield (98%) of pyranopyrazoles in 15 min time. Assessing the impressive results,  $CeO_2$  doped  $ZrO_2$  was chosen as ideal catalyst for the further studies.

Entry	Catalyst	Temperature	Time (h)	Yield (%) <sup>b</sup>
1		RT	10	
2		Reflux	10	
3	TEA	RT	8.0	19
4	Na <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub>	RT	6.0	27
5	Pyridine	RT	7.0	23
6	$Na_2S$	RT	7.5	20
7	L-proline	RT	4.5	39
8	(Bmim)BF <sub>4</sub>	RT	5.0	48
9	$Al_2O_3$	RT	3.0	51
10	$SiO_2$	RT	2.5	59
11	$ZrO_2$	RT	1.5	70
16	5% Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> /ZrO <sub>2</sub>	RT	0.75	84
17	5% V <sub>2</sub> O <sub>5</sub> /ZrO <sub>2</sub>	RT	0.50	89
18	5% $CeO_2/ZrO_2$	RT	0.25	98

Table 1: Optimal conditions for the synthesis of model reaction by 5% CeO<sub>2</sub>/ZrO<sub>2</sub> catalyst<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> All products were characterised by <sup>1</sup>HNMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR, <sup>15</sup>N NMR & HRMS spectral analysis. <sup>b</sup> Isolated yields.

-- No reaction

**Table 2:** Optimization of the amount of 5%  $CeO_2/ZrO_2$  as catalyst in the model reaction<sup>a</sup>

Entry	Catalyst (mg)	Time (min)	Yield (%)
1	10	45	88
2	30	35	92
3	50	15	98
4	70	20	97
5	90	15	94

<sup>a</sup>Reaction conditions: ethyl acetoacetate (1 mmol), hydrazine hydrate (1 mmol), malononitrile (1.1 mmol), benzaldehyde (1 mmol), catalyst and ethanol (10 mL) solvent were stirred at room temperature.

Next, to evaluate the influence of quantity of catalyst on the synthesis of pyrano[2,3c]pyrazoles, the reaction of hydrazine hydrate, malononitrile, ethyl acetoacetate and benzaldehyde was studied using variable amounts of  $CeO_2/ZrO_2$  (10, 30, 50, 70, 90) mg. The 50 mg amount of catalyst proved opt to complete the reaction in terms of yield and reaction time. Any further amount of the catalyst did not improve either the yield or reaction time (Table 2). However, the decrease in quantity of the catalyst used to < 50 mg, affected the product yield by reducing it to 88% (Table 2). Thus, 50 mg of  $CeO_2/ZrO_2$  at R.T with ethanol as solvent was preferred as optimum reaction condition.

When the efficiency of different polar and non-polar solvents as solvent were investigated ethanol as solvent was found crucial for the reaction (Table 3). Under otherwise comparable conditions, the  $CeO_2/ZrO_2$  catalyzed reaction in presence of relatively non-polar solvents like n-hexane, 1,4-dioxane and toluene gave trivial yields even after protracted reaction times (Table 3 entries 1-3). Even with polar aprotic solvents such as CH<sub>3</sub>CN and DMF, the reaction yield was low (Table 3, Entry 4 and 5). Although, good results were obtained when polar solvents, CH<sub>3</sub>OH, C<sub>2</sub>H<sub>5</sub>OH and isopropanol were used as solvents (Table 3, entries 6-8), based on the criteria such as reaction time, green nature, cost-effective and excellent yields, ethanol proved to be superior and best solvent for the reaction.

Entry	Solvent	Yield (%)
1	n-Hexane	09
2	Toluene	13
3	1,4-Dioxane	10
4	CH <sub>3</sub> CN	34
5	DMF	37
6	Ethanol	78
7	Methanol	69
8	isopropanol	71

**Table 3:** Optimization of various solvent condition for the synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazoles derivatives by 5% CeO<sub>2</sub>/ZrO<sub>2</sub> catalyst

<sup>a</sup>Reaction conditions: ethyl acetoacetate (1 mmol), hydrazine hydrate (1 mmol), malononitrile (1.1 mmol), benzaldehyde (1 mmol), catalyst (50 mg) and solvent (10 mL) solvent were stirred at room temperature.

The CeO<sub>2</sub>/ZrO<sub>2</sub> catalyst could catalyze the facile one-pot synthesis reactions of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazoles derivatives with excellent yields. Under the optimal reaction conditions, the flexibility and applicability of the protocol was confirmed by using variety of other aromatic aldehydes instead of benzaldehyde. Convincingly, irrespective of aldehydes possessing different
electron-withdrawing or electron releasing substituents in ortho, meta and/or para positions on the aryl ring, all the reactions gave impressive results, producing respective pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole derivatives in very good to excellent yields (Table 4). All of the reaction products were characterized and structures were confirmed by <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>15</sup>N NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR and HRMS spectral data (Electronic Supplementary Information).

Entry	R	Product	Yield (%)	Mp °C	Lit Mp °C
1	2,4,6-(OMe) <sub>3</sub>	5a	92	227-228	
2	2-Cl	5e	90	145-147	145-146 [27]
3	2-F	5f	91	258-260	
4	3-OMe, 4-OH	5d	90	236-237	
5	3-OH, 4-OMe	5e	93	209-211	
6	4-Et	5f	95	241-243	
7	4-F	5g	89	171-172	
8	4-OH	5h	92	210-212	210-211 [27]
9	NN-(Me) <sub>2</sub>	5i	89	162-165	
10	2,3-(OMe) <sub>2</sub>	5j	94	215-216	
11	3,4-(OMe) <sub>2</sub>	5k	92	192-193	
12	Н	51	98	167-168	167-169 [27]

Table 4: Synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazoles catalyzed by 5% CeO<sub>2</sub>/ZrO<sub>2</sub> catalyst

-- New compounds/no literature available.

# 7.3.6. Reusability of catalyst

The reusability of the synthesized heterogeneous catalysts is an important requirement from the environmental and economic point of view. In heterogeneous catalysis, poisoning of the catalyst and leaching of metal are the main limitations, which impact on activity of catalyst for further reuse. To examine the stability of the catalyst, recycling experiments were performed. After each run, the catalyst was separated by filtration. The recovered catalyst was subjected to washing with dichloromethane, dried, and then reused for up to six cycles. No significant loss was observed in the first five cycles. The catalytic activity of the CeO<sub>2</sub>/ZrO<sub>2</sub> decreased by 4%, when the recovered catalytic system was reused in the  $6^{th}$  cycle (Figure 5).



Figure 5: Recyclability of CeO<sub>2</sub>/ZrO<sub>2</sub> catalyst

# 7.4. Conclusion

In summary, a simple, robust, efficient and green multicomponent one-pot method is designed for the syntheses of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole derivatives in good to excellent yields using CeO<sub>2</sub>/ZrO<sub>2</sub> as catalyst at RT. The catalyst proved effective and recyclable for the MCR protocol. The advantages of the approach are excellent yields, cost-effectiveness, easy work up, environment friendly reaction conditions, short reaction times, green solvent and reusable catalyst. This procedure is promising for diversity oriented synthesis of potentially bioactive heterocycles.

# 7.5. Acknowledgements

The authors are thankful to the National Research Foundation (NRF) of South Africa, and University of KwaZulu-Natal, Durban, for financial support and research facilities.

#### 7.6. References

- 1. P.P. Ghosh, G. Pal, S. Paula, A.R. Das. Green Chem. 14, 2691 (2012).
- 2. R.C. Cioc, E. Ruijter, R.V.A. Orru, Green Chem. 16, 2958 (2014).

- 3. S. Brauch, S.S. van Berkel, B. Westermann, Chem Soc Rev. 12, 4948 (2013).
- 4. S. Maddila, S. Rana, R. Pagadala, S. Kankala, S.N. Maddila, S.B. Jonnalagadda. Catal Commun. **61**, 26 (2015).
- 5. P.T. Anastas, M.M. Kirchhoff, Acc Chem Res. **35**, 686 (2002).
- S. Shabalala, S. Maddila, W.E. Van Zyl, S.B. Jonnalagadda. Catal Commun. 79, 21 (2016).
- S.N. Maddila, S. Maddila, W.E. Van Zyl, S.B. Jonnalagadda. ChemistryOpen. 5, 38 (2016).
- S.N. Maddila, S. Maddila, W.E. Van Zyl, S.B. Jonnalagadda. Res Chem Intermed. 42, 2553 (2016).
- S.N. Maddila, S. Maddila, W.E. van Zyl, S.B. Jonnalagadda. RSC Advan. 5, 37360 (2015).
- 10. Q. Zhao, J. Yao, L. Shi, X. Wang, RSC Advan. 6, 84553 (2016).
- C.E. Hori, H. Permana, K.Y.S. Ng, A. Brenner, K. More, K.M. Rahmoeller, D. Belton, Appl Catal B: Environ. 16, 105 (1998).
- 12. N. Ei-ichi, M. Jean-Luc, A. Luigi, E. Arkadij, C. Daniele, Tetrahedron Lett. **39**, 2503 (1998).
- 13. S. Pradhan, B.G. Mishra, RSC Advan. 5, 86179 (2015).
- 14. A. Trovarelli, Catal Rev. **38**, 439 (1996).
- 15. R. Dua, S. Shrivastava, S.K. Sonwane, S.K. Srivastava, Advan Biol Res. 5, 120 (2011).
- 16. S. Maddila, R. Pagadala, S.B. Jonnalagadda. Lett Org Chem. 10, 693 (2013).
- 17. H.N. Hafez, A.G. Alshammari, A.R. El-Gazzar, Acta Pharm. 65, 399 (2015).
- A.H. Shamroukh, M.E. Zaki, E.M. Morsy, F.M. Abdel-Motti, F.M. Abdel-Megeid, Arch Pharm (Weinheim). 340, 236 (2007).
- W. Fu-Qiang, Y. Hui, H. Bin, J. Yong-Kang, M. Shi-Yao, Z. Chao, L. Hong-Min, L. Feng-Wu, Tetrahedron 72, 5769 (2016).
- M. Khoobi, F. Ghanoni, H. Nadri, A. Moradi, M.P. Hamedani, F.H. Moghadam, S. Emami, M. Vosooghi, R. Zadmard, A. Foroumadi, A. Shafiee, Eur J Med Chem. 7, 296 (2015).
- 21. A.H. Mandour, E.R. El-Sawy, M.S. Ebaid, S.M. Hassan, Acta Pharm. 62, 15 (2012).

- 22. R. Shrestha, K. Sharma, Y.R. Lee, Y.J. Wee, Mol Divers. DOI: 10.1007/s11030-016-9670-2 (2016).
- A. Kumar, P. Lohan, D.K. Aneja, G.K. Gupta, D. Kaushik, O. Prakash, Eur J Med Chem.
  50, 81 (2012).
- 24. H. Junek, H. Aigner, Chem Ber. **106**, 914 (1973).
- 25. R.H. Abdol, K. Morteza, T. Hamed, J Iran Chem Soc. 12, 987 (2015).
- 26. B. Manisha, P. Pranjal, G.B. Bora, A. Hassan, ACS Sustainable Chem Eng. 1, 440 (2013).
- 27. K. Kuppusamy, P. Kasi, Tetrahedron Lett. **51**, 3312 (2010).
- 28. E. Javad, M. Ali, P. Vahid, B. Ehsan, H. Amir, J Chem Sci. 5, 1013 (2012).
- 29. R.S. Hamid, S. Marziyeh, M. Ebrahim, Res Chem Intermed. 40, 2721 (2014).
- V.C. Hemant, B.B. Santosh, U.H. Rahul, P.B. Babasaheb, Bull Korean Chem Soc. 32, 3963 (2011).
- R.M.Z. Ahmad, A.Z. Mohammad, N.M.T. Ehsan, K. Vahid, Z. Abdolkarim, New J Chem. 37, 4089 (2013).
- M.M. Hormi, R. Rumum, K. Iadeishisha, M.L. Badaker, K. Icydora, R. Mantu, M. Bekington, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 52, 3228 (2011).
- G.S. Kumar, C. Kurumurthy, B. Veeraswamy, R.P. Sambasiva, P. Shanthan, B. Rao, Org Prep & Proce Internat. 45, 429 (2013).
- 34. A.N. Mohammad, M.S. Seyed, Monatsh Chem. 144, 1551 (2013).
- 35. S. Maddila, S.B. Jonnalagadda. J. Chile Chem Soc. **57**, 1099 (2012).
- 36. S. Maddila, S. Rana, R. Pagadala, S.B. Jonnalagadda. Res Chem Intermed. **41**, 8269 (2015).
- S. Maddila, S.N. Maddila, S.B. Jonnalagadda, P. Lavanya. J. Heterocyc Chem. 53, 658 (2016).
- S. Maddila, K. Naicker, S. Gorle, S. Rana, K. Yalagala, S.N. Maddila, M. Singh, P. Singh, S.B. Jonnalagadda. Anti-Cancer Agents in Med Chem. 16, 1031 (2016).
- S. Maddila, K. Naicker, M. Momin, S. Rana, S. Gorle, S.N. Maddila, Y. Kotaiah, M. Singh, S.B Jonnalagadda. Med Chem Res. 25, 283 (2016).
- S. Maddila, M. Momin, S. Gorle, L. Palakondu, S.B Jonnalagadda. J Chile Chem Soc. 60, 2774 (2015).

- 41. S. Maddila, S. Gorle, N. Seshadri, P. Lavanya, S.B. Jonnalagadda. Arab J Chem. 9, 681 (2016).
- 42. S. Maddila, S. Gorle, M. Singh, P. Lavanya, S.B. Jonnalagadda. Lett Drug Design & Discov. **10**, 977 (2013).

# 7.7. Supplementary material data

#### 7.7.1. Catalyst instrumentation details

Employing a Bruker D8 Advance instrument (Cu K radiation source with a wave length of 1.5406 Å), the X-ray diffraction data related the structural phases of the catalyst were acquired. Using a Jeol JEM-1010 electron microscope and JEOL JSM-6100 microscope, the TEM and SEM analysis data was recorded. iTEM software was used analyze the TEM data and images. Employing the X-ray analyzer (energy-dispersive), EDX-analysis on the SEM images was conducted.

#### 7.7.2. Experimental section:

All chemicals and reagents required for the reaction were of analytical grade and were used without any further purification. Bruker AMX 400 MHz NMR spectrometer was used to record the <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR and <sup>15</sup>N NMR spectral values. High-resolution mass data were obtained using a Bruker micro TOF-Q II ESI instrument operating at ambient temperature. The DMSO–d<sub>6</sub> solution was utilized for this while TMS served as the internal standard. TMS was further used as an internal standard for reporting the all chemical shifts in  $\delta$  (ppm). Purity of all the reaction products was confirmed by TLC using aluminum plates coated with silica gel (Merck Kieselgel 60 F254).



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **5a** 



<sup>15</sup>N NMR spectra of compound **5a** 











<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **5b** 



<sup>15</sup>N NMR spectra of compound **5b** 



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **5b** 







 $^1\text{H}$  NMR spectra of compound 5c



<sup>15</sup>N NMR spectra of compound **5c** 







HR-MS spectra of compound 5c



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **5d** 



<sup>15</sup>N NMR spectra of compound **5d** 







HR-MS spectra of compound 5d



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **5e** 



<sup>15</sup>N NMR spectra of compound **5e** 











<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **5**f



<sup>15</sup>N NMR spectra of compound **5**f







HR-MS spectra of compound 5f



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **5**g



 $^{15}N$  NMR spectra of compound  $\mathbf{5g}$ 



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **5g** 



HR-MS spectra of compound 5g



 $^{1}$ H NMR spectra of compound **5h** 



<sup>15</sup>N NMR spectra of compound **5h** 



 $^{13}\text{C}$  NMR spectra of compound **5h** 



HR-MS spectra of compound 5h



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **5**i



<sup>15</sup>N NMR spectra of compound **5i** 



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **5**i



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **5**j



<sup>15</sup>N NMR spectra of compound **5**j



<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of compound **5**j



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **5**k



 $^{15}N$  NMR spectra of compound  $\mathbf{5k}$ 



 $^{13}\text{C}$  NMR spectra of compound **5**k

Elemental	Composition F	Report						Page 1
<b>Single Ma</b> Tolerance = Element pre Number of i	<b>ss Analysis</b> 5.0 PPM / DBI ediction: Off isotope peaks use	E: min = -1 d for i-FIT	.5, max = 1 = 3	00.0				
Vonoisotopic 42 formula(e Elements Us C: 15-20 H Compound 12 TOF MS ES+	c Mass, Even Electr ) evaluated with 1 re ed: : 15-20 N: 0-5 C : 45 (1.485) Cm (1:61)	on lons esults within 9: 0-5	limits (up to	20 best isoto	opic matches	for each mass)		
100			313.0952					1.93e+005
301.14 0	415 304.2980 	<u>309.2043</u> 5 310.0	315	5.0800 316.098 31 31 31 31 31 31 317.5	7 7.0997 <u>_319.534</u> 5 320.0	4 327.0933 322.5 325.0 3	329.0750 333.0634 27.5 330.0 332.5	335.0621 335.0
Minimum: Maximum:		5.0	5.0	-1.5 100.0				
Mass	Calc. Mass	mDa	PPM	DBE	i-FIT	i-FIT (Norm	) Formula	
212 0050	010 0055							

HR-MS spectra of compound  $\mathbf{5k}$ 



<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of compound **5**l



<sup>15</sup>N NMR spectra of compound **5**l



 $^{13}\text{C}$  NMR spectra of compound **5**1



HR-MS spectra of compound 51

# **CHAPTER-8**

### CONCLUSIONS

In this thesis, new heterogeneous mixed metal oxides and their modified analogues were developed; and their potential applications as catalysts for synthesis of varied heterocyclic molecules and their derivatives were evaluated. The major conclusions drawn based on the studies are presented below:

In chapter 1, a review of various mixed oxide catalysts is presented, emphasizing the significance of preparation, reusability and activity of heterogeneous catalysts and compiled the recent developments, breakthroughs, trends and unsolved problems in this area. This overview prepared ground to synthesize novel mixed oxide catalysts (typical supports used are CaHAp, SiO<sub>2</sub> and ZrO<sub>2</sub> and while oxides of Ag, Ce, Mn, Ru and V) as active components, and evaluate their catalytic performance in selected reactions. The mixed oxide materials are used as efficient catalysts for synthesis of structurally diverse heterocyclic derivatives. The improvement in surface area, morphology of metal oxides, mesoporosity, acidic and basicity etc., are the important factors, which posivitely contribute to the catalytic activity of this material. Compared to literature reported methods, the catalytic protocol developed in this work, were found to be advantageous in terms of recyclability, exclusion of toxic solvents, high yields and purity of the products. More importantly, considering the wider uses of mixed oxide catalysts in heterocyclic synthesis, the results and findings presented in the study would open new applications in "green" chemistry involving the recycling of such catalysts.

In the chapter 2, the challenging task was to prepare mesoporous silica with a highly ordered hexagonal structure and to manage the preservation of this organized structure after silver oxide incorporation. Thus, the study describes the successful synthesis of well-ordered mesoporous silica and AgO-modified silica in a simple, versatile, and reproducible process carried out by a bottom-up approach through a simple wet-impregnation method. The spectroscopic investigations on the material growth and formation mechanism revealed that the mixed oxide abilities of silver oxide with silica centers are the key factor, leading to successful well-ordered assembly process. The synthesis allowed the formation of well-organized active materials with large specific surface area and total pore volumes, as well as uniform and narrow

average pore size distribution. Interestingly, the presence of uniform mesoporous network with well-arranged circular pores with newly prepared materials, was illustrated by TEM micrographs. AgO greatly enhanced Lewis acidity of the supports, and Si-O-Ag-O species were mainly formed on the surface as illustrated with XRD and SEM-EDX analysis. The Ag doped silica material was used as an efficient catalyst for synthesis of structurally diverse 3-methyl-4-(phenyl)methylene-isoxazole-5(4H)-one derivatives derivatives. The catalytic protocol developed in this work will be advantageous in terms of preclusion of toxic solvent, cost-effectiveness, high yield (88-93%) and purity of the products. The catalyst was easily separated from the reaction medium and recycled for six cycles with only a slight decrease of activity and small leaching of siliver, when aldehydes, hydroxylamine and ethylacetoacetate were chosen as model substrates.

In chapter 3, the method for synthesis of novel class of manganese doped zirconia (Mn/ZrO<sub>2</sub>) mixed oxide materials was developed. The constrained interlayer space (~ 5 nm) and high surface area (~168.47  $m^2/g$ ) of Mn was used effectively to trap the ZrO<sub>2</sub> moieties in the adjacent space. The ZrO<sub>2</sub> moieties in the MnO<sub>2</sub> interlayer exhibit good thermal stability and resistance to condensation. Structurally diverse pyrano[2,3-d]-pyrimidines were synthesized by multicomponent one pot condensation of dimethylbarbituric acid, aromatic aldehyde and malononitrile compounds using aqueous ethanol as solvent and Mn/ZrO2 as heterogeneous catalyst. The observed catalytic activity can be explained in terms of the presence of two types of acidic sites with different acid strength distribution, from the metal oxides, manganese dioxide and zirconia. The size of ionic  $Mn^{2+}$  is small when compared to  $Zr^{2+}$  ion. By introducing extrinsic dopant Mn, the defect environment is changed, whether the Mn atom substitutes the zirconia atom or it occupies the interstitial site. It clearly indicates that impregnated MnO<sub>2</sub> had a strong influence on the acidic properties of the ZrO<sub>2</sub>, evident by increased activity, which due to the high surface area and good dispersion of MnO<sub>2</sub> on the surface of the support. Further, avoiding the use of toxic solvents, minimizing the amount of waste for each organic transformation, reasonable reaction times, easy purification, aqueous conditions, efficiency, green, inexpensive, mild, and economic availability of the heterogeneous catalyst are the other noticeable features of this method.

In chapter 4, a novel class of ceria and vanadia loaded silica mixed oxide (Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub>) material containing surface acidic-basic bifunctional groups was synthesized employing cerium nitrate, vanadyl sulfate as metal salts and silica as support. This could be attributed to the property of Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> where the high surface area presumably enhanced the accessibility of the substrate to the anchored acidic and basic groups on the catalyst surface. The optimal distribution of the acidic and basic sites on SiO<sub>2</sub> possibly contributed to its enhanced catalytic efficiency, which is evident from the high yield, selectivity and speed of the reaction achieved in the title reaction. The Ce-V/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalytic system efficiently catalyzes the synthesis of 2-amino-3-cyano-4*H*-pyrans by one pot condensation of 5,5-dimethylcyclohexane-1,3-dione, aromatic aldehyde and malononitrile. The synergistic effect between the acidic sites of the silica lattice and the basic sites of the metal is responsible for synthesis of structurally diverse pyrans in good to excellent yield under mild conditions.

For chapter 5, the study reports a new one-pot methodology for the preparation of the ruthenia doped hydroxyapatite (Ru-HAp) and its efficacy as catalyst in highly efficient synthesis of pyranopyrazoles with a single annealing step. This synthesis strategy was simple, fast and cost-effective, and offers access to Ru-HAp with better features and higher synthesis yields (87-95%) compared to other approaches. These enhanced properties including textural (larger surface area) and highly dispersed active surface sites led to improved target molecule. They are also accompanied by intrinsic Lewis basicity of HAp functions, which are capable of bonding with carbonyl oxygen of the substrates assisting in generation of ionic intermediates through activation of reactants. Therefore, these results are very promising towards opening up future opportunities for robust heterogeneous catalysts design as well as towards large-scale pyranopyrazole applications.

For the first time, Ru doped hydroxyapatite (Ru-HAp) was utilized in synthesis of pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylate derivatives on at room temperatures in this study. Chapter 6 detailed these results. The mixed oxide Ru-HAp catalyst displayed excellent catalytic activity, because of the larger surface areas associated with nano-sized particles provide more accessible active sites. The synthesized catalysts possess a large BET surface area in the range of 146-200  $m^2/g$  and a mesoporous pore size in the range of 80-110 Å. Ca series catalysts display stronger basicity (H = 10.0 -15.0). All these excellent physico-chemical properties resulted in a very high

catalytic activity of synthesized catalysts. Recycling experiments showed that the catalyst could be used without a significant yield drop for 6 cycles.

In chapter 7, the high surface area and mesoporosity of zirconia was effectively utilized for supporting ceria oxide particles and ceria loaded zirconia was developed as effective catalyst. The ZrO<sub>2</sub> supported Ce metal particles exhibited efficient condensation activity for synthesis pyrano[2,3-c]-pyrazoles under ethanol solvent and mild condition. Zirconia is more acidic than ceria, and the insertion of ceria into the zirconia lattice leads to a decrease in the acid strength of selective sites. The acidic centers of the zirconia provides adsorption sites for the compounds whereas the ceria metal is responsible for the condensation activity. Furthermore, it is noticeable that as the ceria content gets higher, the particles size increases and the surface area marginally decreases.

#### Optimization

Optimising the novel reaction conditions revealed that green solvents such as water, ethanol and aqueous ethanol are quite appropriate for the synthesis of various heterocyclic compounds like pyranopyrazoles, pyrano[2,3-c]pyrazole-3-carboxylates, 2-amino-3-cyano-4*H*-pyrans, pyrano[2,3-d]-pyrimidines and isoxazoles derivatives. A highly polar solvent, ethanol, which dissipates heat faster may provide optimum conditions for formation of intermediates, and their conversion to final products on the catalyst surface. Ethanol has proved ideal solvent for the preparation of the various heterocyclic derivatives in this study. Polar solvents such as water and ethanol gave excellent yields. This effect can be explained by a simple acid-base bi-functional catalysis mechanism facilitated by the strong hydrogen bond interaction at the organic–aqueous ethanol interface, which stabilizes the reaction intermediate.

Current studies showed that the scope of green principles for synthesis varied heterocyclic moieties and their derivatives at moderate reaction conditions using selective reusable heterogeneous catalysts with high efficiciency. All the reactions for the synthesis of these compounds were optimized in terms of solvent, catalyst amount and reaction temperatures in order to achieve the preferred product in good to excellent yields in very short reaction times. This thesis described six protocols for successful synthesis of series of novel isoxazoles, pyrano[2,3-d]-pyrimidines, 2-amino-3-cyano-4*H*-pyrans, pyranopyrazoles and pyrano[2,3-

340

c]pyrazole-3-carboxylate derivatives tetrahydropyrazolopyridine and dihydropyranopyrazole derivatives under green solvent conditions in the presence of suitable heterogeneous catalysts at room temperature in short reaction times in good to excellent yields.

# **Future work**

- Study the multicomponent reaction products for their further synthesis of fused heterocyclic compounds.
- To investigate the biological activities (anticancer, anti-oxidant and anti-microbial) of the synthesized products
- To examine the application of the new heterogeneous materials as catalysts in other fields, such as catalysed and photocatalysed degradation of organic pollutants in water systems.